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Readers Notes

This Qecasional Paper in Yukon History presents the summation of an oral history study contracted by the Inuvialult Social
Development Program with funding and logistical support provided by:

Yukon Heritage Branch
Parks Canada - Western Arctic District
Oral Traditions Program (Government of the N\W.T.)
Northern Qil and Gas Action Pln
Polar Continental Shelf Project
Frontec
and the Inuvilk Research Centre

It complements the completa collection of oral interview transcripts prepared with the support of Parks Canada - Western
Arctic District. Thesa are available through selected northern archival institutions,

~ Reproduction of any part of this document requlres the consent of the Inuvialuit Soclal Development Program, P.O. Box 2000,
Inuvik, N.W.T,, X0E OTO,

David Neufeld of Parks Carada developed the format of this document in consultation with the author and Yukon Heritage
Branch representatives, The format is intended to allow the reader to visually isolate the quoted voices of Inuvialuit from the
imposed amalytical structure without seriously compromising readability,

The volce of the author, her sdentific analysis and
other text providing the structural framework for the
document are printed in GillSans font throughout.

The Inuvialult voices are printed in Gatineau font. From the
bepinning of Chapter 3 People from Long Ago to the end of Chapter 7
Social Life the two voices are integrated. The page layout in these
chapters incorporates "mirrored” opposing pages for visual balance.
The Inuvialuit voices occupy the centre columris on each side of the
spine.

This attempt to articulate and intagrate cultural perspectives has been made to enhance the readers' enjoyment and appreciz-
tion of the content,

M. Doughas Olynyk
Historic Sites Coordinator
Yukon Heritage Branch
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Foreword

Most of the literature concerned with the Inuvialuit who lived on the
Yukon North Slope has been written by non-Inuvialuit anthropologists,
archaeologlsts and historians trying to reconstruct the history of these
people. Littla attention, howaver, has been givan to the knowledge of the
Inuvialuit. Thus, until the early 1980z, the sclentific community believed
that one of three linguistic groups of the Inuvialuit, the Siglit people, were
extingulshed at the beginning of this century due to epidemics and
assimiation with other groups. Errors of this sort could have been
avolded if there had been more cooperation between the researchers
and the Inuvialult themselves, not only as subjects of a study but as equal
particlpants. This study attampts to give full voice to the Inuvialuit to tel
their story about what life was like along the Yukon North Slope. As the
following anecdote from |immy Jacobson ilfustrates, there is much to
[earn from the Inuvialuit:

About 15 years ago, maybe 10 years, I went back to Herschel
Island with a chopper. When I went to Herschel Island with a
chopper, I went and looked at that place where I was raised, in that
sod house. I was looking for it and I found it near Kunatk's old
house. I was standing on that old sod house thinking way back what
I used to do when I was a kid and grass was real long and while I
was standing on top that sod house, one white man come.

He asked me who I was, I told him my name was Jimmy
Jacobson and he sald he was a sdentist. 5o that scientist told me
while I was standing on top there, he sald, “Jimmy, you know where
you're standing?”

1 said, “Yes.”

"Over 400 years ngo,” he said, “Esklinos have been living where
you're standing.”

I told hir, “No, it’s less than 50 years ago, because I was the
one raised on it, I used to live in that sod house.”

So I figured, well, he's not very much of a sdentlst when he says
400 yearst (90-31A:2)
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Preface

Background of the Project

Although the non-aboriginal history of the Yukon North Slope has
been well documented and studied, little attention had baen directed to
the aboriginal use and krnowledge of that vast area. A notable exception is
the work accomplished by anthropaologist Vihjalmur Stefansson from
1906 ta 1918. However, the years following his visits witnessed drastic
changes in the life and culture of the Inuvialuit These changes have not
been recorded in a systamatic manner. As a result, historlc information
has focused on events and sites of non-aborigihal relevance, such as the
whaling period and the establishment of 2 whaling community at Herschiel
Istand at the end of the kst century. This lack of information has limited
both the Yukon Heritage Branch (YHB) and Parks Canada (PC) in
identifying significant human history themes from a native perspective in
their raspactive parks on Herschel Island and in the northern Yukon.

The Herschel istand Territortal Park was established as part of the
Inuvialuit Final Agreament settlement region during the mid 1980s. The
park is operated under a management phan that was agread to by the
Yukon Governmient and by the Inuvialuit, Since the beginning of the park,
both parties have stressed the urgent need to develop an interpretation
plan for Herschel Iskand from an Inuvialuft perspective. A similar situation
was created when the lvvavik National Park was established as part of
the Inuvialuit Final Agreement Again, Parks Canada recognized that
research on Inuvialuit oral history was essential to fulfill the terms of the
Inuvialuit Final Agreement regarding local input to lvvavik National Park
management.

In 1988, the Yukon Heritags Branch inltlated what became the
Herschel Island and Yukon North Slope Inuvialuit Oral Histery Project, de-
signed as a three year project. The first year would concentrate on the
oral history of Herschel Ishand, the second on the Yukon North Slope
and the third year would synthesire all the information collected. The
present document is the product of this synthesis,

Although the project received finandal support from federal and
territorial agencies, it has been designed and administered from the start
by the Inuvialuit themselves. This situation reflects the recent empower-
ment of the Inuvkaluit on thelr own land, and a desire by both the YHB
and PC to establish a long term partnership with the Inuvialuit. For this
reason the Inuvialuit Soctal Development Program (ISDF) was chosen to
carry out the project. The lnuvialuit Social Development Program, based
in Inuvik (Northwest Territories), is a branch of the Inuvialuit Reglonal
Corporation created after the Inuvialuit Final Agreement. in 1990 ISDP
was contracted by the Yukon Heritage Branch to undertake a cultural
study that focused on the Inuvialuit oral history of Herschel Island, The
next year, ISDP complatad an [nuvialult oral history project on the
Yukon Noith Slope for Parks Canada.

After summarizing the activities that took place during both projects,
this report Integrates the data that was collected into an Inuvialuit oral
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history of Harschel Iskind and the Yukon North Slope. The chapters are
organized as follows: Chapter 1 introduces the three linguistic groups of
the Western Arctic Inuvialuit; Chapter 2 presents brief biographies of
the Inuvialuit interviewed; Chapter 3 introduces the narratives with a
focus on the indigencus populations of the Yukon North Slope; Chaptar
4 concentrates on the period that followed the coming of the white
people; Chapter 5 integrates narratives about subsistence activities;
Chapter & deals with domestic activities; and Chapter 7 presents differ-
ent aspects of |nuvialuit sockl life along the Yukon North Skope.

Objectives

The main objective of the 1990 Herschel Isfand Cultural Study was to
document Inuvialuit use and perceptions of Herschel Ishind, Results of
the study would then be uzed in the development of an interpretive plan
for the Herschel Iskand Territorial Park which would include an Inuvialuit
perspective of the iskind. The next year, ISDP undertock the Yukon
North Slape Culturol Resources Survey. The goal of that study was to
document post-contact aboriginal bind-use as recorded in historic
habitation sites, graves, resource extraction areas and place rames
located along the Yukon North Slope. This work would then be used to
identify sites of important aboriginal history in lvvavik National Park and
help Parks Canada In the development of appropriats interpretive
themes and historic resource management policies. In 1992 and 1993
data from both studies were integrated to present the major themes
emerging from interviews with the Inuvialuit.

Metheds and Products

During the summer of 1990, interviews were conducted in
Inuvialukun with Inuvialuit elders who had lived along the Yukon North
Slope. The research team was composed of tha project anthropalogist,
the Inuvialuk researcher and the project photographer. A field trip to
Herschel Island was organized with the participation of televisian crew
from the Inuvialuit Communication Society (ICS). Five Inuvialuit elders
visited historical sites along the Yukon coast and at Pauline Cove on
Herschel Island. In additicn nine Inuvialuit elders were interviewed in
Inuvik, Aklavik and Tuktoyaktuk, The next summer, interviews with 22
Inuvialuit from Aklavik, Inuvik and Tuktoyaktuk were conducted by the
project anthropologist and two Inuvialuit researchers. A helicopter
survey of the Yukon North Siope was organized with the participation of
Inuvialult elders. Twenty sites were visited and 120 Inuvialuktun place
names were documented. Ninety of these toponyms are located in the
Yukon North Slope. Information collected during the study included;
seagons of occupation, means of subsistence, structural remains, trading
activities and the Angllcan mission scheol at Shingle Point.

During the summers of 1990 and 1991, 33 Inuvialuit were inter-
viewed and 64 interviaws were transcribed into Inuviaiuktun and trans-
lated into English. A visual record of the people interviewed and the
places visited was kept for each field season. Toponyms were recorded
and historical photographs were collected. In 1992 and 1993, the fiml
editing of the English transhtions and Inuvialuktun transcriptions was also
completed and an index of the transhtions was produced.

x
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The Project Team

The major collaborators are the Inuvialuit who participated in the
study and were interviewed. In recent years there is a tendency by
anthropologists to reject the term “informants™ which s associated with
the early imparallst phases of the discipline (see Damell 1992:42), and to
use terms stich as "colkborators”, “consultants” (e.g. Pinxten et al.

1983) or “Resource Spechlist” (e.g., Hall et al. 1985, North Slope
Borough 1970, Schneider and Arundale [987). The latter term recog-
nizes the vast knowledge of aboriginal peoples concerning their cufture
and their lind. As Damnell (1992:42) has stated, “this process adknowl-
edges the integrity of the volces we record, allows them not only to
speak for themselves, but also to take credit for thelr own words,
transmitting an oral tradition in the medium of literature.” in this
document, we use the term “Inuvialuit elders” because this is how these
people are referred to In thelr own communites. Furthermore, being an
elder among the [nuvialulc (as among other Inuft cultures) confers great
respect and authority regarding personal experiences and knowledge.
However, since two of the people interviewed were not elders we also
use terms such as Inuvialult partdcipants and inuvialulit consultants,

Other ¢olaborators of this study indude: Renie Arey and Agnes
Gruben White, Inuvialuit researchers who conducted the interviews;
Rosie Archie, English mranslator of the Uummarmiut dialect; Barbra Allen,
Uummarmiut transcriber and English translator of the Uummarmiut
dialect; Baverly Amos, Siglit transcriber and English transhator of the Siglit
dialect; Agnes Gruben White, English translator of the Siglit dialect; and
Murialle Nagy, anthropologist/coordinator of the project whe edited the
English transkations and prepared the report.

Analysis of Project Operations

The mandata of the [990 Herschel Islond Cultural Study was to gather
information about the history of the Ishand as perceivad by the Inuvialuit.
While doing the first interviews with Inuvialuit elders, it became obvious
it was impossible to restrict thelr storles to discussion of only Herschel
Island. In effect, Herschel Island appears to have been only one locle,
albejt a very important one, of the many plces visited and exploited by
the [nuvialuit during their seasomal round. Thus, information relating to
some spacific sites along the Yukon North Slope was also gathered.

Two of the main observations from the 1990 Herschel iskand Cultural
Study were first that most aldars interviewad were not comfortahle with
maps, and sacond that many memories were recalled only when the
elders arrived at the sites. Boats were used during the 1990 field work,
but they proved to be an Inefficient and hazardous way to travel, particu-
larly with elders. The success of the following 1991 Yukon MNorth Slope
Cuftural Resources Survey was due In large part to the use of a helicopter.
We were able to access and visit sites by travelling less than three hours,
while 1 go to the same sites by boat would have taken a week and might
have been impossible due to a hadk of landing facilities. In order to reduce
expenses, It was necessary to restrict the number of hellcopter hours.
This meant that we were not able to cover as much territory as we had
anticipated, We decided to concentrate our helicoptar survey on camp
sitas that were occupled for more than a few days. Such sites are mostly
located along the Yukon coast. We did litte survey of inland sites, since

xi



Preface

thn imount of travel time would have Increased considerably. Further-
mora, travaling with elders menne that we could not afford te tre them
out. An averagae of four hours of flying per day was already guite ex-
haustlag for most of them.

Ta attribute the succoss of the 1391 field season to the use of a
helteoprer is only partially correct. It was really the participation of the
Inuvialuit, elders that was vital (o the suceessful completlon of such a
project. The elders were courteous and patient with all aur guestkens, It
wos a plensure o work with thein and  listen o their staries. There
wara many poweiful moments ax we survayed along the Yukon coast,
since most of the elders had not been back to these sites for 40 o 60
years. We all felr that we ware participating in a very Important project,
epecially since fow progle will have the chince to visit the Yukon Noith
Slape In the company of Inuvhlult elders,

The Inuvialuit researchers/transtators Renle Arey and Agnes Gruben
Whits were key portens in boch projecs. Because most interviews were
carrled on  inuvialuktun, It was these two people that provided direc-
ton, Furthermere, the fact that the researchers were themselves
Inuvialule meant that the peaple interviewnd had @ avdience with whom
ey eould refata sasily, Such v sotting certainly created scme bhases,
singe the peaple interviewed assumed that the interviewer had the same
culural background and was aware of the context of thelr staries,
However, the imerviewers were careful ta remind tha siders that
younger generatons of Inuvialult might lck some of tha necessary
cultural badground, and the Interviewers requestad greator procision
and elaboration an subjects that were considernd common knowledge
by the clders. Although we exphined all tha poals of the projoet before
interviewing people, the one objective that facused thelr attention was
the callection of stories in inuvialuktun for younger generatlons of
Irvuviahiie. Seme people who are fully bilihgual {InuyialukenyEngllsh)
preferred to alk In English but these were the exception,

Prior to the interviews, the anthrapologlst would distuss with dhe
truvialuk researcher which themes should be dlscussed. At the end of
the Irtgrviows, the Inuvialuk researcher would summarize the discussion.
Qnly then would extra questions be asked. At the beginning of the

Rerie Argy whh Sarah Meypeok 10d David Refadd, Harschel Islxedd, Jaly, 1991, {ISDE)
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project, the first interviews started with a serles of spedflc questions but
it soon became evident that many Inuvizluit elders did not fee) comfort-
able with that setting. The elders had their own style of telling stories,
and, as narrator, they expected not to be interrupted until they finished
their stories [see Crulkshank (1990:19) for similar comments)

Since the project was almed at collecting oral historles about the
Yukon North Slope, the major part of the interviews were narratives
about life experiences in this region. However, the recording of original
Inuvialuktun place names was also important. Although Inuvialult elders
told us about place names and their translation, only some of them told
us stoties related to the actual names. Furthermore, we did not record
many stories about specific places that people might have heard from the
“old people”, Three basi¢ reasons might exphin a ladk of such storles.
First, the people interviewed may not have lived long enough along the
Yukon North Slope to become famillar with place names and their
stories, Second, this project should have been done in the 1970s when
many eldars who had spent most of their lives along the Yukon Narth
Slope ware still alive, Fortunately, the Committee for the Original People
Entitlernent {C.Q.P.E.) has collected lnuvialult oral histories and some of
this matertal is integrated into the present report. Third,oral history is
passad on by eldars, and since many died during the big epldemics of the
early 1900s and of 1928, their knewledge might not have survived them.

It Is also possible that project methods may have favoured the
collection of certain kinds of data. In effect, the émphasis of the project
was to bring as many Inuvialuit elders as possible along the Yukon North
Skope I order to have a representative sample from people now living In
Aldavll, Inuvik and Tuktoyaktuk As a way to collect Ife histories refated
to specific sites along the Yukon coast, this was certainly a good strategy.
However, as 4 way to collect place names and their related stories, this
strategy may not have been the most appropriate. A longer time period
spent wavelling with one or a few elders might have been more success-
ful. But this means that one would have had to identify the individuals
possessing both the most knowledge and the best memories (one has to
remember that some elders had not been back to the Yukon coast for
the last 40 to 60 years). While this strategy might have ylelded greater
continuity in the recorded oral history, it would have also have had the
assochated risk of depending entirely on the recollections of a faw people.

Even In order to select the best “candidate” for potential inter-
views, it would stll be important to bring different elders to the Yukon
coast to test thelr knowledge of place namas and their related stories. In
fact, after the second field season, it was possible to see how elders
reacted when visiting sites that they had mentioned to us previously. One
of the problems was also to actually kocate places that had been men-
tioned by elders but that neither they nor the research team were able
to locate on a map, Some of these people had never been in a helicopter
before and to see the land from the sky Is quite different than to see |t
from the sea or from other points en the hnd.

Being constrained by our budget, we had to restrict each elder to
ong helicopter survey of the whole Yukon north slope in an average time
of 6 to B hours. This meant, of course, that we never spent an extendad
period of time in any one location. Furthermare, we were asking each
slder to remember as much as they could about their own [ife and about
place names and related stories after walking around a site for only 5 to
10 minutes! Obviously, this was not enough time for most of them to get

a fealing for the site and to organize all thelr thoughts about each specific
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place. If the project was to be re-designed or if there was more time and
budget available, it would now be possible to select one or two Inuvialuit
elders and take each of them on a longer trip. This would mean having
exclusive use of a helicopter for at least two weeks. The need for a
helicopter Is easily justified because of the great size of the area to be
covered, and because the health of the elders would not allow them to
walk for long periods of ime. In order to restrict the time spent In
travelling back end forth from Aklavik to the coast, which is quite tiring
for the elders, one or twa camps would need to be established.

Introduction to the Narratives

The wealth of informaticn contained in the interviews was at first
avarwhelming. In order to organize the material in a comprehensive
format, each intervievw was sumnarized and major themes emerging
from the interviews identilled. An index of key subjacts was then pro-
duced for all interviews. Fimally, excerpts from the interviews were
selected to present the different themes discussed by the Inuvialuit. Since
the main emphasis of the project was to record an aboriginal perspective
of Inuvialiit history, the narratives included in the interviews are the
primary source of data. It was thus decided not to divert the reader with
lengthy summaries of major themes discussed during the interviews. Such
a process might have distorted and trivialized the narratives by using
them as illustrations of a larger text. Instead, it was decided to incorpo-
rate the narratives into the main text. A similar treatment of narratives
can be found in Bodfish {1991). The layout of this report, with central
columns devoted to the Inuvialuit voice and the authors contextual notes
in the auter columns, is an attempt to visually present this material,

A short Introduction precedes each theme to provide a context for
the reader, Some themes are more daveleped than others depending on
the amount of information collected. Interpretations of the narmatives
are kept to a minimum so that the reader can make his/her own conclu-
sions without being influenced by other opinions besides the narrators’
voice Other oral histories dealing partially ar completely with the
Inuvialuit occupation of the Yukon North Slope (eg, Bergsland 1987,
COPE 1991, Kisautaq 1981, Nuligak 1975) were revlewed and are
incorporated here when they add maore information. The same process
was followed with publications of some non-inuvialuit people who lived
and/or travelled in the Yukon North Slope, as relations with Inuvialult
are often mentioned in these books (eg, Jenness 1991, Krech 1989,
Ostermann 1942, Stefansson 1919, 1922, 1944, 1951, 1964).

Most narratives included here are autoblographical and relate to
events experienced by tha narrators. YWhen stories of events not
experienced by the narrators are told, their form is often the one used
in poetry. in most cases, the person from wham the narrator originally
heard the story is identified. We have not divided the texs into such
categories as “mythical stories” and “life stories” as other authors have
(e.g., Minc 1986) since both were used interchangeably by the narrators.
Furthermore, the term "myth” could be misleading since they might
appear to outsiders to be fiction while they are sincerely believed by the
narrators te be true (see Vansina 1985:21-24),

In the short texts which [ntroduce the narratives, we use the word
Inuit rather than Eskimo to refer to the indigenous people of the Arctic In
general We use the term Inuviakit when referring specificalfy to the
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people of the Yukon coast and the Mackenzle Delta. We use the term
liiupiag when mentioning the people of Alaska who speak languages
belonging to the lfupiat family, When the narrator or the translator uses
tha termm Eskimo, we leave it as it is. We do the same when citing written
sources where the term Eskimo was favored.

Comments on the English Translations

We originally intended to indude the stories In this report in
Inuvialuktun and in English. Bach line of Inuvialuktun text would have
been followed by fts literal (Le. “word for word”) English translation.
Examples of this kind of format have baen prepared by Kari (1986),
Metayer (1973) and Moore and VWheelock {1990). This form of presenta-
tion would have insured that as littla as posiible was being lost through
the process of transhtion; both in terms of the narrator’s style and the
information presented (see Galley |990), However, since the English
translations of the interviews were not done literally, another set of
Iiteral English transkations would have been required. Unfortunately, time
and budget constralnts did not allow us to crry out this extra work.
Becausa of simifar constraints invelving cross-chacking correspondent
English transtations and Inuvialuktun transeriptions, only the English
translations and transeriptions are presented in this document, All the
original Inuvialuktun transeriptions are nevertheless completed and can
be consulted separately. All references to the English translations and
transcriptions are listed In the following order: the inttals of the Inuvialuk
interviewed, the year of the Interview, the tape number, the side of the
tape and the page number. So, for example, “KH90-1 A:2" indicates that
the text comes from Kathleen Hansen and can be found in the 1930
interviews, tape |, side A and page 2.

Ideally, the anthropologist should have been able to go back to the
Inuvlalult elders before submitting the English transhations included In this
report. Restrictions in our schedule did not allow such a verification
process. As a result the Inuvialuktun spelling of people and place names
remains to be verifled and approved by the Inuvialuit elders. The same Is
true for the location of many sites mentioned during the intarviews, The
data of this project ara literally the intarviews, Relevant data include not
only the content of the interviews, in terms of the information that one
might find regarding place names or specific site histories, but also the
form of the interviews. The fact that we are using English translations in
this report means that the format of the interviews has been altered. It is
very llkaly that some of the content of the interviews might simply be
lost through the process of transhation or be somewhat distorted (see
Austen 1990, Galley 1990, Niranjana 1992, Swann [992). Since
Inuvialuktun is extremely different from English, It Is inevitable that some
distortion will occur, One word in Inuvialuktun n easily be transhted as
a full sentence in English. The reason for this is that fnuviluktun uses
word bases and suffixes, and thus words “agglutinate” h one single:
word. Furthermore, the plural form is different from English and there is
no gender differentiation (see Lowe |984a, [ 984b).

Ahlhough Inuvialuktun has a “past dechrative” form and a “present
declarative” form that can, in some contexts, be used to refer to an
event that is past {Lowe 1985), the English transtations were almost
always in the present tense. It is possibla that this is 3 reflection of the
colloquial English spoken by the transhtors. One other passibility is that

Xy
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once the speaker makes [t clear that he/she is going to tlk about past.
events, then thera i no need to emphasize that the story is happening in
the past. Indeed, this would be quite similar to the notion of “break-
through into performance” introduced by Hymes (1981) where story-
telling is considered a performance. Other examples of traditional
narratives in Cree (Brightman 1989) and in Inuktitut (Metayer 1973) also
show this fack of the use of past tense.

With these considerations In mind, the fact remains that the inter-
views wara often conversations. The Interviewer was the maln audlence
and had clues regarding when events were taking plce. In contrast, the
reader of the Interviews might be an outsider not always aware of whan
the events being related took place. Thus, while editing the transhtions,
many verbs were put into past tense to make the text more fluid to an
English ear, and to chrify the tense of the events being described.

It became clear during the editing of the interviews that the usa of
the phrase “long ago” (ingilan) was somewhat misleading. It seems to set
the context for stories from the childhood of the people interviewed, as
in “long ago when | was young” but also to tell a story about the recent
past, as n “long ago with skidoos”. Another observation when editing
the English transhations concerns the verb “to remember” (itqaqtuq). It
seems, at least from the English translations, that in the mind of Inuvialuit
speakars, such action occurred at the time the avent took phce. In other
words, the Inuvialuic spezker does not now remember about the past
but was conscious when a certain event took place. This would exphin
such cornments as, “'long time ago when | could barely remember”, or
"l could remember well then", or “sometimes | would remember”, or
even "l came into my senses sucking on a bottle, | remember then". As
for the remote past not directly experienced by the narrator, it is unally
referred m as "long long time aga”, or simply as “before tha white man
came”. There are also allusions to the kind of European material goods
accessible 2t the time when the story took place, as if these form a tima
reference. Vincent (1990) has noted the same tendencias in her work on
the Montagnals in Québec where people alked about events that tock
phce “before they had flour”,

In most of the English translations, the editor has taken the liberty of
adding words to clarlfy meaning. These additions are noted with bradkets
[ ] Extra Information or comments to help the reader are placed within
parentheses (). The recent trend In the presentaton of traditional
narratives is to treat them as one would with a poem {eg., Hymes 1981,
Tedlock 1983). This tendency might be taken to an extreme where
anything sald by an informant is presented in such a form (e.g, Ridington
1988). Here the Interviews have been presented in a text form similar to
dialogue in books or drama. However, in some cases, the narrator
seemed to enter a moda different in style from the storytelling form
used to describe dally fife. VWhen this occurred, it sounded as if a differ-
ent rhythm was incorporated in the text It was decided to present these
narratives in a verse format (see Dundes 1984).

What was perceived by the editor as colloquial English spoken by
the transhtors -and very likely by the paople of Aklavik, Inuvik and
Tuktoyaktuk- was kept in its original form. For example: “them guys"
rather than “those guys", "leam me" rather than “teach me", "try and
do (or whatever verb needed)” rather than “try to do (or whatever
verb needed)”. The transhitors and wransceribers were also asked to note
when people laughed or paused while being Interviewed in order to
incorporate some of the contextual flavor of the story telling (see Basso
1990, Bauman 198%).
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|.The Inuvialuit

The traditional territory of the indigenous Inuvialuit stretched from
approximately Barter Iskind in the west to Cape Lyon In the east. Most
written sources divide pre-contact Inuvialult into five major groups. From
west to east, these were: the Qtldqtaryukmlut; the Kupugmlut; the
Kittigaryumiut; the Nuvurugmiut; and the Avvagmiut (from Stefansson
1919 and McGhee 1974). At least threa more groups should ba added:
Tuyurmiat of the Yukon coast, the |giulualumiut of Franklin Bay
(Morrison 990a), and the Immaryungmiut of Eskimo (Husky) Lakes
(GNWT 1991). Befora contacts with whalers, traders and misslonaries In
the kate 1800s, the Inuvialuit population Is estimated by have been 2000
(Frankiin 1971:86-228, Petitot 18762¢). The Inuvialuit were thus one of
the largest Inuit populations in the Arctic before drastic decimation due
to epldemics (McGhee ]974o4). According to police estimates, by 1905
the Inuvialuit population was reduced to 259 people and by 1910 to only
130 (Smith 1984:349). The present Inuvialuit population is about 3000,

The Inuvialuit belong to three distinct lingulstic groups. They are the
Uummarmiut, who live in the Mackenzie Delta in the communities of
Aldavik and Inuvik; the Siglit, who live in the coastal communities of
Tuktoyaktuk, Paulatuk and Sachs Harbour on Banks Istand; and the
Kangiryuarmiut who liva in the community of Holman on Victeria Ishand,
Estimates made in 1981, based on the assumption that most Inuvialuit
over 40 spoke their dialect fluently, put their number at 215 for Siglitun;
175 for Ummarmniutun; and 125 for Kangiryuarmlutun (Lowe 1984axvill).
The loss of mative language among the Inuvialuit was accelerated by the
presence of residendal schools In the 1930s where only English was used,
and by 1950, after one generation, most Inuvialult parents were exclu-
sively teaching English to their children (Dorals 1969:201), Thus, as of
1981, only 16.8% of the Siglit spoke Siglitun while 25.4% of the )
Uummarmiut spoke Uummarmiutun (Dorals 1990:193). One should note
however that many Inuvialuit under 50 have a passive knowledge of their
language because of the presence of Inuvialuit elders who are sdll fluent
In one of the threa Inuvialuktun dialects. Furthermere, the local schools
are now offering Inuvialuktun to the students.

Uummarmiut means “people of the evergreens and willows”, They
are the descendants of people from Alaska who moved to the Mackenzie
Delta at the end of tha last century, again in the 1920s as muskrat
trapping developed in the Mackenzie Delta (Ferguson 1961:39), and
finally in the mid-1930s and 1940s as stores closed down near the Alska/
Yukon border. Linguistic evidence indicates that the majority of these
pecple came from the Anaknivuk Pass area (Lowe [984:xv). The
Uummarmiut are also called Nunatarmiut by Siglit speakers probably in
reference ta where most of them immigrated from. Hall (1984:345)
explained that the term Nunatarmiut refers to "'people of the Nunatak
or Noatak” River, and Burdh (1988:16 |) added that Nunatarmiut Is the
Arctic Slope dialect version of Nuataarmiuc.

Afthough many Nunatarmiut moved to Canada to hunt for the
whalers who began to winter at Herschel Island in 1889, it seems that
some came earfier. In effect, Roxy (Mimurana) told Stefansson (1919:155)
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that such a migration started when he himself was a small boy, which
would mean during the 1870s. This period corresponds to the beginning
of a drastic decline in the popufation of the Northwest caribou herd in
Ataska (Burch [972). While interviewing Uummarmiut elders, some told
us that their grandparents and parents moved from inland Alaska to the
Old Crow Flats during the hst century {eg, MH9|-16B:4). Some of
these people {ived near Old Crow until the 1930s (FI91.188:3, IA%0-
35A:1, KH90-2A:7). Stefansson (1919:195) also nsisted that a karge
number of Nunatarimiut had come "overland by themselves”, In the
|atter case, it Is very likely that the Nunatarmiut did not come specifically
to hunt for the whalers but to find better hunting grounds for them-
selves,

In the mid [910s, Stefansson (1919:10) referred to the Nunatarmiut
as a tribe living near the head of the Colville River but being “nearfy
extinet”, It is more likely that people had already moved out of that area
and that he was observing the few families who had remained. However,
one should be cautlous with this term since Stefansson (1919:10}) also
wrote that it was used by white and coastal {flupiaq alike to designate
intand dwellers,

Linguistic work has also demonstrated that the Uummarmiut dalect
is slowly undergoing a transformation process as some consoOnants are
depalatized and others are assimilated by many speakers of the dialect
{Lowe |984axvi). This transformation process s primarily due to
intermarriages between members of the Uummarmiut and Siglit commu-
nities and Is wall iflustrated in the transcriptions of the Uummarmiut
interviews of the present project.

Kangiryuammiut means “people of the large bay” which is Prince
Albert Sound on Yictoria Island. The dialect they speak has strong ties
with the Inuinnaqtun dhalects spoken in Coppermine and in other
Central Aretic communities (Dorals 1990:194). In our study, no inter-
views were done In the dialect of the Kangiryuarmiut,

Untl 1981, when C.O.P.E. {Committee for QOriginal Peoples Entitle-
ment) initiated a study of the Inuvialuke dialects, the Siglit people and their
language were thought by most scholars to have baen extinguished at
the beginning of this century following a series of epidemics (e.g, Jenness
1928:3, McGhee 1974:5, 1976:177, Morrison 1988:4, Smith [984:356).
This is of eaurse not the case and our interviews certainly demonstrate
that the Siglit people are very much alive and that elders are still talking
thelr kinguage. There s, however, a debate as to the origin and the
meaning of the word Siglig or its plural form Sight. The terms appear In
Emile Petitot's Les Grands Esquimatix (Petitot 1887) and in his Franch/
Eskimo dictionary of what he aalled the “Tchiglit” dialect (Petitot 1876).
Smith (1984:357) writes that the term refers to paired labrets worned
by males but he does not mention his source. Some Inuvialuit elders
suggested to Lowe {1984bxiii) that it might come from an Indian word
to designate them but Athabaskan lingulsts consulted by Lowe were
uriable to find a possible source for the word,

However, most speakers of Siglitun agree that the term Siglig Is used
by other people to refer to them. During our own work, Persis Gruben
told us that the term might come from the Nunatarmiut or
Uummarmiut as they are now called {PG9 1-1B:12). Emmanuel Felix
advanced the possibllity that it might refer to one of the two toponyms
called Sighaluk located in the Tukayaktuk peninsula and that the word
Sighg pessibly originated from an ofder version of the Siglit language
(EF91-5A:1-2). The word Inuvigkiit is used by speakers of the Siglit dialect



o rofer to themselves wherever they live. Tha suflix -valuk (plural form -
viofiut as In Imrviokilt) is in offect uniqua to what §s called the Siglit dislect
However, lor the kst thirty years, dua to politial reasons rekted to
nattve land rights, the term has been used to represent all Western
Arctic Eskimo, To the Alaskan pecple, the Inuvialult have long been
referted o as “Qangmalit”; people of the east (the "Kogmolik” of the
whalers).

When compared with ather Eskimo dhlects from Eastem Arctie, the
Inuvaluit dialects are considered more archalc (Lowa 1991:45). This
means that these dialacts have retained older forms of phonological and
morphological structure. Furdiermore, of the three Inuvhtuit dialacts,
Uummarmlutun has the most ardhale traks, {olowed by Siglitun and
Kangiryuarmiutun (lbid.). The Siglit dialect Is of pardeular interest because
k Is structurally quite different fram any other lnuit dhalects. Finally,
linguists have stated that from a grammatical point of view, thg
Groenlandic dialects ara more akin to Western Inuktimn (among which
Inuvnluddun dialects ara included} than to other Canadian [nuit speech
forms {Dorais 1990:197), Such a connection needs to be Investigated
since the (nuvialult oral traditken rebates an incident where a group of
Inuvialuit from the Immaryult {EskimofHusky) Lakes ware Involved in
kiliing 2 man and "ran all the way to Greonland™ (EF? [-5B:8),
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2. Inuvialuit Participants

The following are shart biographies of the people who were inter-
viewed during the summers of 1990 and 1991. Due to time constraints,
we were not able to acquire the same amount of Information for each
individual. Furthermore, sice the main emphasis of the research was to
get information about Herschel Iskand and the Yukon coast, most people
interviewed focused on thelr childhood, as this was the period during
which maost of them travelled In those areas,

Because of their involvament with the whalers, who did not make
much effort at fearning kxcal namas, the Inuvialuit were often given new
names. Thus, Peter Thrasher's father was named after a boat called the
Thrasher and an Inuvialuk named Kanniq had his name distorted o
“"Codmey" (Nuligak 1975:10). Stefansson (1922:162- 163, 1944:441) also
reported on the mispronundation of toponyms and people mames. With
the influence of missioharles and white administrators, the Inuvialuic
started [n the fate 1910s to use a family name correspanding w their
father's name, In the 1940z, many Inuvialuit took the Christfan first name
of thelr father as their last name (e.g., Allen). Due to a ladk of standardi-
zation In the spelling of Inuvialuktn dialects and poor linguistic back-
ground, the original names of the Inuviaiuit were often misspelled.

Once the transhtions of the interviews were completed, it became
obvious that it would be very difficult to standardize the orthography of
all the names, as the transhwor and the transcriber interpreted the same
names with different spellings. In an attempt to standardize the names,
we prepared the following brief biographies using mostly the famfly
information provided by the Aklavik Elders Committee and by informa-
tion gathered by ISDP. Some names are thus "offickl” ones but they are
spelled with what may be called an “English ear”, in that it does not
account for phonemes that are unknown to the English language. One
should not be surprised w see differences between the spalling of rames
in these blographies and the spelling in the interviews. To ba consistent
with the writing system of the three Inuvialuktun dialects as prepared by
C.O.P.E, we are using the letter r as a volced uvular fricative {which
sounds like the French uvular 7). The same sound Is represented in the
Alaskan orthography with a dotted g {£) and some names were some-
times transcribed in the present texts with a g (although without a dot)
to represent a volced uvular fricative r.

Moast, if not all, Inuvialuit have more than one first hame, When
possible we have Induded in the biographies the English first name and at
least one Inuvialuktun name, The latter Is presented in parentheses when
it follows the English first name, In the case of women, the name In
parentheses is followed by her maiden name which is usually the
Inuvialuit rame of her father. When possible, we have provided consider-
able information about kinship refations, since many of the people
interviewed were somewhat refated to each other. It is hoped that this
information will help explain some of the intricate family ties that are
being referred to in the interviews,
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Rhoda Alien Rhoda Allen, inuvik, july 1991,

Rhada (Alak) Iftukiak Allen was born in 191! in Alaska, Her parents
were Harry Ifiukilak and Minnie (Natmak), they were also from Alaska
but lived mainly in the Mackenzie Delta. She is the sister of George
Harry (husband of Martha Harry), |da Allan, Mable Kaliniq and Sarah
Tihgmiak.

She was married to Edwin (Yugunuaq) Allen who was a reindeer
herder. She had six children. She now lives in Inuvik.

Ishmael Alunik

Ishmael (Suyuk) Alunlk was born in 1922 In the
Old Crow Flats. His parents were |saac Aluniq and
Sarah (Saluk) Kutugaq (b. 1907). His father's parents
were Abraham Tirikluk and Sarah Agnaguniaq. His
mother's parents were Charlie Kufugaq and Rebecca
Aluniq. His parents had also three daughters. After the
death of her husband in the early 40s, Ishmael's mother
remarried to Tom Kaliniq (b. 1883). They had three
children.

After marrying Ruth Drusilla Sikrigaq (b. 1924),
Ishmael spent about four years trapping near Aklavik,
the Yukon coast and around the Old Crow Fhats.
[shmael and Ruth raised three children.

lshmae] Alunlk, Inuvik 1990,
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Jean Arey

Jean (lgikn) Gordon Arey was bormn in 1917 in Alasla. Her parents,
Tom and Mary Gordon, had elght children, Tom Gordon was a white
man who worked in the whaling industry and who latter purchased the
trading stores at Dermarcation Point and Barter Isknd. Jean Arey Is the
sister of Alex Gordon.

She is married to Tom (Qaiyan) Arey (b, 1917). They moved to
Canada In the early 1940s. While moving, they stayed at Kififiaq (King
Point) for a while. She and her husband hunted and trapped in the s
Mackenzie Deka and along the Yukon coast. She now lives In Inuvik with Bes
her husband and family.

Renie Arey

Figure 2.3 Jean Arey, Inuvik, July 1991,

Renle Arey was the principal Inuvialuk researcher during the 1990
and 991 Inuvialuit oral history projects. This short blography is included
here to better understand her kinship ties to the Inuvialuit olders who
were interviewed.

Renle Allen Arey was born in [944 In Aklavik. Her parents were
Owen Allan Uqpik (b. 1909) and Martha Kufugaq. They had four chil-
dren. Her father's parents wera Allan Uqpik (b. 1886) and Alleen Aviutugq
(b. 1890). They had ten children. Allen Uqpik's parents were Umigiluk
and his wife Kakuaduak. Allan Uqpik’s brother was Garrett Nutik (father
of Kathleen Hansen). Alleen Aviutuq's parents wero Roger Angasuk (b.
|870) and Lisa Aglpaluk (b. 1872). They had seven children. Roger
Angasuk was the child of Napluya and his wife Uiniq.

The parents of Renie's mother were Chariie Kufugaq and Rebecra
Aluniq. The sisters of Ranie's mother Include: Annlo Inglangasuk
(lglonasaq) (mother of Fred Inglangasuk), Mary Erigaktuk (frigagtzaq),
Elzabeth Driggs, Sarah (Saluk) Alunik (Aluniq) (mother of Ishmael Alunik)
and Rachel (married to Albert Oliver). Renle lost her mother when was
she was quite young and spent most of her childhood at the residential
school in Aklavik. In the summertime, she would camp with her father
and grandmother.

In the 1970s, after working at the fur shop for a couple of years,
Renie worked for C.O.P.E. (Committee for Original Peoples Entitle-
ment), In the 1980s, she worked for ICS (Inuvialuit Communication
Soclety) and she is now involved with the Aklavik Hunters and Trappers
Committee and the Aklavik Community Council. She is married to Peter
Arey, They have raised seven children,

7
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Jonah Carpenter

Jonah {Ukuk) Carpenter was bom in Tukooyakiuk in 1914, His
mother war Tivuarm. He was adopted by Qumarpaluk and his wife [ane
Huayug During his childhood he travelled a Jor with his parents, evin as
far ax Coppertnine and Grear Budr Lake, With his family he lived at
1 Kugakik, Nalluk and Tekar Polit umil moving to Tuktayakiuk.

He was married to Lily Aniqiliq with whom ho rmised five children.
Me fived in Tuktoyaktuk until his death in 1991,

Hepe Gorden

Hobe (Ayagutnirag) Shingratuyq Gorden was bom ih [#12 in Alaska,
Her parants were Martha (Manugh) from Poine Barrow and Erwin
Shingratuq from Polnt Hope Her mather's father was Moenidisang, She
married Alax Gordon In 1932 and together they have raised fourteen
dhdldren, She lives with her famlly in Alklavik whera sha ls quite active
singing for the drummers of Akhvic

|

Hapa Gordon Shingle Polnl, by 19320,



Jane Esau

Jene {Aviugan) Esau was born in Alaska in 1908 Her parents were
Drick Piqug and Mary (Mitchak). They had saven children. Jana's fathar
dled st Shingla Palnt during the big influenza epidemic of (328, jane was
rarried to Esau Avinnagpak (b. 1896) and they kad ten children. Her
husband's parents were Aron Ayagi (b. 1858) and Ella Igluguq (b, 1858).

Jane Esau lost her husband In 1941 while her children ware quite
young and sha was expacting her youngest daughter. She raised her six
children by herself, trapping, hunting and working at the fur shop In
Aldavik for many years. Jane has a cabln at Shingle Poine whers we

interviewed her during the summer 1990,

SN
FKAKTOV ¢
(¥ isiand, Avag,,

S\

Alox Gordon, Shingle Pelnt, July 1990,

Inuvialuit Participants

Jane Esau, Shingla Palng, July 1990,

Alex Gordon

Alex (Qalu) Gordon was bern In 190% in Alaska. His parents were
Tom and Mary Gordon. Tom Gorden was a white man who worked In
the whaling industry and hater purchased the trading stores at Denarca-
tion Polrit and Barter Ishind Alex comes from a famlly of eight children.
He is the brother of Jean (Iqilan) Arey.

Alext spent most of hls firse 30 years near Barter Island (Kakrovik).
In 1932, he married Hopa Shingnatuq. In 1944, Alax moved with his
family and with his wife's famlly to Carada. They spent two years along
tha Yukon coast and then moved to Aklavlk where they stlll Iive, Thers,
Alax warked at the Aklavik Hospiral. Alex and Hope have ralsed
fourteen children, Alax kad been quita active in porforming drum
dances,
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Emmanuel Falix

Ermmanuel (Kauplun) Felx was born In 1920 In Tuktoyaktuk and st
lives thare with his family, His parents wera Felix Nuyaviak and Annle
{Ikillan). They were from Kittlgaryuit His parents raised seven chiidren.
He Is the brother of Sarah Mangetana and NMorman Felix,

Heis married to Christima Rose (Sanmelana) Codmey and they
have raised eight children. Emmanuel is an excellent fiddle player.

Charlle Gruben

Emmanud Fellx, Tuktoyakuk, June 1991,

Charlle (Ukuk) Gruben was born in 1913 at Kendall Istand. His
father John William Gruben, was born n Switzerland in 186% and
worked as a store keeper for the Hudson's Bay Company at Kittigaryulc
His mother was Mary (Talrumlk). His parants had five sonis and two
daughters. After the death of his father in the 19205, Charlie provided
food for his family.

Charlie was married to Persis Lennie and they have raised eleven
children. He lived In Tuktoyaktuk until his death In 1993,
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Charlin Gruben Intarviowed by his daughear Agnes Gruben White, Kittigaryuit, june [991.
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Kathfeen Hansen

Kathleen {Qappaq) Nutk Hansen was born in
1915, Her parents were Garrett Nutk (b. 1890} and
Emma Nukak (b. 1897). Her father’s parents wera
Nutik Umigiluk and his wife Kakuaduak and his brother
was Allan Ugplle. Her mother’s parents wera Armold
Ugiliag and Annle Ifukuk. Her father hunted for the
Shingle Point mission school and bacarne an Anglican
layman. Sha had nina siblings but few survived. After
Garrett Nutk died (ca. 1936 1), har mother married
Noel llagsaq with whom she had two more daughters,

In 1937, Kathleen marted Danish trapper/ceal
minar Hzns Peterson Hansen, They raised fourteen
children. Kathleen lives in Aklavik and has been In-
volved In teaching drum danding to the younger
generation,

Persis Gruben

Persls (Ayauniq) Lennie Gruben was born in 1918
at Peel River, Her father died before she was born,
Her mother was Sarah Koe from Fort McPherson.
When Persis was about three years old, her mother
martied Lennle Inglangasuk. Although Lennie
Inglangasuk’s parents were from Alaska, ha was born
and rabed in the Mackenzie Delta Persis has nine
sisters and brothers.

In 1925 and 1929 her family went to Banks Island.
In 1930, she went to the mission school at Shingla
Point with her sister Winnle, Persls was married to
Charlie Gruben until his death in 1993 and together
they raised eleven children. She lives in Tuktoyaktuk,

Kathlean Haren, Kay Poing, July 1990,

Barbra Allen, Persis Gruben and her daughter Agnes Gruben VWhite, Shingfe Polnt, June 1991,
11



Martha Harry, Inuvik, july 1991,

Fred Inglangasuk

Inuvialuit Partcipants

Martha Harry

Martha (Pisigaluaq) Anaquug Harry was born in [918. Her parents
werd Simon Anaqtuq and her mather Alice (Sivuluaq) Simon. Her
mother Alica was Lennie Inglangasule's sister. Her father's parents were
Qlga lviviq and Niglq. Her mother's parents were isaac Slmon and Emily
Taillq. Her parents had five daughters and three sons. Vhen she was
young she was adopted by her father's brother, Frank ltgialuk, and his
wife Lena Ugilalg. Lena's parents were Napiuyaq and his wife Uinig.
Later on, Martha returned with her original family,

Abthough Martha's parents ware from Alaska, she was born and
raised In the Napiuyaq Channel area of the Mackenzle Deka. She s
married to Goorge Harry and they raised stx children, They live in Inuvik.

Fred Inglingasuk (glanasoq) was bern in 1922, His parents ward joe

Inglangasuk {lglanazaq) (b. 1901) and Annie Kutugag. They had nine
children. His mothar's parents were Charlle Kufugag and Rebecca

Aluniq. They had ten children. His father's parents ware |im Kanaurak
and Qapqan. They had three children, Fred is the cousin of Renle Arey

and of |shmaal Alunii.

During his childhood, Fred lived with his family at Qafghaluk (Parmi-

gan Bay), Niaqulik end leglliqpik (Whale Bay), He want to school In

Akhavik from 1936 1o 1929, Fred remembers going to Hersched Istand in
the 19405, when there was nobody around anymore In the 19505, he

waorked on the DEVY Line.
Fred Is married to Lucy Codmey (b. 1930} wha Is from
Tuktayuktuk. They have ralsed ten children and they live In Akkvik.

B [

Ay
[]

Lucy and Fred Inglangasuk, Aklavik, July 1990



Inuvialuit Participants

Jimmy Jacabsan

Jimmy (Mimurana) Jacobson was born in 1925 In
Balllie Iskind. His parents were Fred Jacobson and Yera
Kigyun. His mother was from Kittgaryuit. His father
was a Russtan who came with one of the whaling ships
which became stranded at Balllie island. His name was
origimally Alexander but he changed it when he
became a Canadian citizen. |immy's parents had twelve
children.

JImmy was adopted by Nellie Eyakuk and Philip
Nauyak. There were four children in the family. Undil
the death of his adopted parents during the big
epidemic of 1928, Jimmy lived at Herschel Island
where Nauyak was a hunter for the RCMP. They also
lived at Niaqulik. Jimmy spent five years at the residen-
thl school in Hay River. He then went to Aklavik
where he was taken back by his real father. He stayed
with the Jacobson family for a few years. |Jimmy is
married to Bella Williams and they have raised twelve
children, They live in Tuktoyaktuk. Jimmy is also an
accomplished carver.

Jmmy icobson, Tuktoyaktul, July 1990,

Willlam Kuptana

Willlam Seymour Kuptana was born In 1906, His father was
Maksagaq and his mother Avilfaq. They were from the Prince Albert
Sound (Victorta Istand) area. William had one sister and two brothers.

William'’s first wife was Lena Roland, the daughter of Kitty (Kuttuq)
and Roland Safuaq. His second wife was Sarah Kungatuk. They have
raised three children together. Wiliiam Kuptana died in 1992

I3



Inuvialuit Participants

Christina Klengenberg

Christima {Ukumaluk) Cockney Klengenberg was born in 1915, Her
parerts were Mellie Eyakuk and Phillp Nauyak. Her grandparents,
Marnaynsqg and Sukayaq, adopted her zister Armatuk. Christina was
herself adopted by Jeannle (Nevilgam) Kanniq and Dunan Kanniq [alse
spalled "Kaanerk" and hter distorted as "Cockney” (Nullgak 1975:10],
They were from Kittigaryuie Kannig's mother was Sanaq and his father
Erkcana (ibid.). Christing Is thus the sister of Nuligak (Bob Codkney) and
Jm Codknay,

Christina was raised at Tapgag (Shingle Point), Undl getting married
1o Diamond Klengenberg, she also travelled along the Yukon coast and
lived at Qikiqagruk (Herschel Istand), Christna and Diamond have
ralsed ten children. They lva in Tuktoyalauk.

Diamond Klengenberg

Dbmond (Angunatchiuk) Klengenberg was born In 1917, dose to
Baillia Island. His mother Kimak (Gremnia) was from Point Hope in
Alaska. His father Charlie Klengenberg was bomn in Denmark In 1869
Togethar, they had eight children (Klengenberg 1932). Charlle
Klengenberg started 1o work with the whalers as a cook aboard the
Emlly Schroeder 3t Paint Hopa in tha winter of 1893.94 (ibid.). in {908,
ha worked for Captain fJames McKanna and was in charge of the
schooner Olga. He went to Victoria Ishnd and an his retum to Harschel
Island In 1906, ha sald that they had met Inult with “European” features.
These allegations Incited Stefansson to lock for thasa "Blend Eskimos™
(Stefansson |922:54). Charlle Klengenberg ran various trading posts In
the Tuktoyaktuk peninsula untl his death In 1931 (Klengenberg 1932).

Diarnond Klengenberg was raised by Millie Armavigaq who was first
married to Panlksaq and then to Anigsuag.

d |
Chrisdra and Dlamond Klenganberg, Tuktoyakeuk, July 1990,
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Inuvialuit Participants

Lily Lipscombe

Lily was born in 1948, Her parents were jean
(Kisaun) Tardiff (b. 1916) and Augustin Tardiff (b.
1901). Lily was adopted by her maternal grandparents
Kitty (Kutuq) (b. 1879) and Roland Safuaq. Lily was
raised by her grandparents mostly around Arvakvik
{Rokand Bay). They llved there until the early [960s.

Vvhen we visited Arvakvik with Lily, spending
about three hours there, we collected not only life
storles about herself and her grand-parents but also
sbctoen place names within that area. VWhat Is quite :
interesting in the case of Lily Lipscombe is that she was -
ralsad by parents from two different cultural traditions, e
The difference is not only one of gender, for she was
taught skills of both sexes {e.g, having her own
traplines, hunting caribou, sewing clothes, etc.), but :
also one of cukure. Her grandmother was a Nunamiut =
from the land, while her grandfather was a Siglit from
the sea. They cach mught her their own hnguages and
their own traditions.

Lity is married to Harry Lipscombe. They have
three chlldren and live in Inuvik.

Uly Upscomba and Renle Arey at Arvakvik {Roland Bay}, July 1991,

Dora Malegana

Dora Kiuruya Malegarm (Maligiana) was bomn in
1916 near Pattuktuq (Demarcation Point). Her father
was |rish Kiuruya (b. 1892) and her mother was Lucy
Imiq (b. 1897). Her mother's father was Qinaak Matuu
[7] and her mother's grandfather was Tulugagpaluk.
Dora’s parents had six children. Her father's parents
were Peter Uyaraiyaq (b.1874) and Lucy lgluguq.
Dora's father was the brother of Kitty (Kuttuq) Roland
(adopted mother of jean Tardiff, David Rohnd and Lily
Lipscombe) and of Archie Erigaktuk (b. 1896).

Dora’s father was a storekeeper at Qaffiluqvik
{Clarence Lagoon). They also lived around Yuuqyaaq
and Qamaqaaq. During her childhood, Dora spent time
in the Old Crow Flats with her family.

Dora was married to Johnny Malegana {Mallgiana)
who was a relndeer herder. They had nine children.
Dora later adopted one of her grand-daughters. She
lives in Akkavik.

Dora Malegana, Shingle Paing, July 1990,



Inuvialuit Participants

Raymond Mangelana

Raymond Mangelana was born in 1924 at White-
fish Station. His parents were Raymond and Hope
(Kusaluran) Mangelana. They were from Kittlgaryult.
Raymond had one older brother. VWhen Raymond was
two months old, his father died, His mother remarried
to Jim Cockney but she died shortly after,

, Raymond went to the Mission School at Shingle
Point for five years. He moved te Tuktoyaktuk in 1938.
His first wife's name was Louisa. They had one daugh-
ter together.

Raymond remarried to Sarah Felix (the sister of
Emmanuel Felix). They have raised five children. They
live In Tuktoyakeuk.

$arah Maycak, Shingo Polnt, July 1990,

Sarah and Raymond Mangelana, Tuktoyaktuk, june 1591,

Sarah Meyook

Sarah (Paltaq) Ayakhaq Meyook (Miyuk) was born
in 1925 near Balllie Island. Her parents were Tom
Ayakhaq and Nellie Sanikplaq. Nellle Sanikplaq's first
husband had been Jimmy Mimurana who was often
mentioned by Stefansson, Her parents died during a flu
epidemic in 1928 in Aklavik. At the time of their dcath,
they had four children, Sarah was then adopted by
Katie and Abel Kasook (Koisuk), whom Sarah always
referred to as her "grandad”.

In the early 40s, Sarah married Jonas (Kayutaq)
Mayook (Miyuk) with whom she had fiftean children.
They also adopted one of their grand-daughters, With
her husband'’s family, Sarah travelled along the Firth
River and the Old Crow Flhts. She also lived with her
husband and children at Herschel Iskand In the 1550s,
60s and early 70s. Sarah s a gifted story-teller who akso
worked as an Inuvialuktun teacher in Alklavik for six
years. She lives in Aklavikc.



Inuvialuit Participants

Jog Nasogaluak

Joe Nasogalusk was born in 1906 close ta Bailiie Iskand. His father
was a whaler by the last mame of Emsley who was possibly from Hawali
{MNuligak 1975:103). His mother kater married Anaqlita. Joe went to
school for two years (1914-1915) at Kittigaryuit.

Joe was married to Susia Ruben (Sarah Meyook’s adopted sister)
with whom he raised ten children. Joe remembered spending the
summer of [930 at Herschel Istand. Joe lived in Tuktoyaktk untit his
death in 1991,

Joe Nasoguluzk, Tukzoyakuuk, fuly 1990,

Albert Qljvar

Abbert (Ndsialuk) Oliver was bomn In 1920 near Inuvik. His parents
wera from Ahsia, they had come to hunt for the whalers. Albert's
parents were Oliver Qirigwk and Rhoda Aluniq. They had elght children,
His father's parents were [tqilialuk and Nahukfaq.

Albert was married to Rachel KuPugaq (Renia Aray’s mother's
sister) with whom he had two children. Albert lives in Akdavik.

Afbart Oltver, Aklavik, july 1950,



Inuvialuit Participants

Amos Paul

Amas (Kinumq) Paul war born In 1912 In Alaska,
near Barter Iskind, His facher waos Paul Unalisug (b,
1899). His father's parents were Jim Qanaufaq and
Qapan. Thay had two athar dhlldren, induding Jos )
inghinganuk (Frod Inglngawk’s fathor). His mather’s ,
parents were Niaquyuk and his wife Nupaquk. Amos i - !
spent his childhood near Barter Istand and along the
Yukon coast.
He moved around the Akkylk ares in the 1930s,
Amos loss his Brst wife during a flu epldemic in Aldavik
in 1946, His second wife was Julla Steward (b. |930). | -
Amos died in 1991,

" ' Amm P, Aidavik, Juy 1990,

Peter Rufus

Peter (Aqpaliq) Rufus was berm In 1928, His parents were Charlie
Rufus and Mary Yuranguag. His father bucame a reindeer herder in the
Andarson River area, Peter Ridus went to school in Aldaylk and llved
with his materral grandfather untd 1940. He then went back with his
family. Tragically hls fathar, four of his sisters and two of his brothers
wers drowned in tha |940s,

Peter Rufus becarne a herder in 952, He is 3 widower and lives in

Tulctopalcnuk

Pacar Ruke, Tuktoywktale pme (991,
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Davld Roland

David {Qaniaq) Retand was born In 1922 in Prince Abert Sound
(Victorfa Istand). Hix morther was Evelyn |giminaq and his father
Akhaluug. They had two other children. His father died whan ha vas
vory young and he was then adopted by his mother's brother, Yllgam
Kuptana and his wife Lera

David went to the Missian School at Shinge Point for four years.
When he finkshed school he was then adopted by the parencs of Lem,
Rotand Sahiaq and his wife Kuttuq, David Bved with his grandparents at
Herschel Island and at Qafgiuuk (Prarmigan Bay).

David is rrarried to Olga Tama and thay live in Inuvike Thoy tave
ranad seven children. -

Bessie VWoki

Bassie VWolki was born in 1915 at Akulfa in the Mackerzis Dedta,
Her parents were Adam Inushuyaq end Carrle Kimgk Taliag. They were
both from Afasia. They bad saven children. Her patormal grandfather was
[saac Ingangasi and was also the father of Lennie Inglangasuk. Isaace
Inghngasuk was 3 Numtarmiue from Alaska, Undl they moved o Banks
Island in 1925, her parent lived in the Madkenzie Delta and along the
Yukon coast where her father worked for- tha Hudson's Bay Company.

Bessie was married to Jim Wolkd with whom sha had thirteen
children. Bessin fives in Tuktayaktule

Borrs Wolld, Tukzoaktuk, [una %91,



Inuvialuit Participants

Petar Thrasher

Peter (Uyarayaaq) Thrasher was born in 1930, His parents were
Billy (Qimiksana) Thrasher (b. 1900) and Mo (Kiviutchlag) Minageiq.
His father ame from Aksia. Hiz mother's parants were Bernetx
Nigagsik and Ida igiauk |da Igiauk was tha sister of Charlle Kuugaq's wife,
Redseces {grandmother of Renie Arey, Fred Inglangasuk and {shmasl
Adunik). Peter's paterral grandparents were Shakak and Mary Qligarueg.
Mary Qingaruag’s modher was irriaquy,

Pator's father weorked 35.a captain en the Roman Catholic ship, Our
Lady of Lourdes. After the dearh of his first wile Mona, with whom he had
pine children, BRly Thrasher martied his wife's younger sistor Allcs, with
wharn he had six chlldren. Peer was sent w0 school when he was sheand
he me back when he was twekve. Ha then lived with his mother’s
parents. Peter fater married Mary Arviuna Greentayid They had seven
children. Peter {ives in Aklrvik,

i

Paeor Thrasher, Aldvile, July 1990,

Jean Tardiff

}ean (Kissun) Tardiff was bom in 1916, Her father
Toddy Allen was from Alzska. She had three brothers
and one sister. Her sister Ruch married johnoy Kayutag
(Sarah Meyoak's brother-in-law). |ean was adoptad by
Hlun end his wife Kitry Kutzuq (b. 1879), Kutteg's
father was Peter Uyaralysq and her mother was Lucy
tglugag. They were from the Kuwik area in Akska,
Kuyttuq was the sister of Irich Kieruys (b, 1892) and of
Archie Erigakuk (b, 1896). Jean's cousin is Dora
Malegara (Mafigfana),

Jean's adopted parents eravelled with Stefansson to
Victoria Island In 1914, The Friendly Anctie nores on
“eskdmo beliefs"” wara basad on Infarmation provided
ter him by Itlun and Kuttug {Stefansson 1944:409-415).

During her ehildliood, [ezn travelled along the
Yukon coast and lived at Herschel Istand. Sha also
travelted with hor parents to Pieree Palnt where Ickin : . : :
died. Later on her mother Kuttuq married Roland ]
Satuaq (b. 1877 1), They lived at Herzschel Iskand, r |
Arvakvk (Rokind Bay} and Prarmigan Bay (Qargialuk).

Around 1932, Jen marrled Augustin (Gus) Tarddf
(b- 1901), a Matis from Hay River whe trapped and
worked 25 3 coal miner. They had nine children 1
togather and Jean adoptad one of her grand-daughtars,

Until her death In August 1920, [ean livad in Akdavile

Joan Tard®, Shingla Poin, July 1996,
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3. People from Long Ago

They say once there was a big floed all over Qlkigtagruk
(Herschel Island). You could see nothing! There was nothing then,
Kiuruya always told stodes about when Qikiqtagruk (Herschel
Istand) was flooded. [...] They say long age when there was a flood
covering Qikigtagruk there was some kind of animal high up there In
the lake. Maybe it came from the ocean this animal. They don't know
what it is. (SMOO-4B:1-2)

It is said that after the earth umed over, all the land was covered
with water. [..] Also there is a man who is one of the people of the
Qangmaliq, he, too, has became very old, and I asked him If Umniat
was the only land area at that Hme. At that time during the big fload,
if Umiat wag the only area of land, this I asked of that lile man of
Herschel Island, [..) He said that just east of Herschel Island are some
hills where people caught in the flood escaped. It is said to have had
some people at that time long ago.

I would not have asked that old man this question but some
caribou hunters saw some travellers, newcomers. One among themn
wis a very blg man, Now they are all gone. They no lenger go to
people. (Kisauq 1981:56)

This is Atumiqsana's story, which I heard when he told me
stories, That Atumiqsana was a pretty old man who had been a
preacher at the time he told it. Now, then I shall tell this story from
Herschel Island.

At that tme, it Is said, a long time ago, before our earth tumed
aver, there lived some people in the east who had their oem way of
living. Before it was turned over, then, there were people who lived
before we got this new world of ours; they lived, then, in that former
world of thelrs, busy hunting seals -whether they were hunting other
game I don't know, but he sald that they were living on seal, on fish
and seal,

2

The Big Flood

A common story told by the Inuvialuit and by the
Ifupiag of Alaska indicates that a big flood took place
“long ago”. Some stories identify specific place names
where the flood is sald to have happened, such as
Qikiqtagruk (Herschel Istand) and Umiat which is
located about 120 km intand, southwest of Point
Barrow, Alaska. Sarah Meyook heard tha following
story from Irish Kiuruya (akso spelled Kiuguya and
Kiguruya) who was born in 1892:

Elijah Kakinya (b. 1896) told a simitar story in the
publiction Puiguitkaat: The 1978 Elder’s Conference:

It is very likely that the "old man fresm Herschel
Istand” was james Atumigsana {also spefled
Awmiksana). The latter is mentioned as the "headman
of Herschel” and a relative of Thomas Umauq by
Whittaker {1976:74, 245) who was an Anglican
minkter on the ishnd from 190} to 1906, Further-
more, the following story was also told to Eiffah
Kakinya by Atumiqsana:



People from Long Ago

At that tme, our cart -3 kong dme ago those weepers were sid
o be tumed over (with the earth). Al that time, befere they had
Christianlty, they used 10 meed thiss peopls on the ocean when they
wait out o hunt Because they had a sont of village, for those
ancdent forefuthers of Atumiqeana bemme aoquainied with thom.

When a person was about 1o encovnter those weepers, the
weepers ustd to fall on thelr fices lest thelr eyes be seen, far they
bad swollen fices from weeping so much, So, it Is said, when 2
perion was about to meet one -one dragping o seal, or a hunter ow
for someting -the weepsr would nlways fall on hig [age. The people
never s2wv thelr faces; 1 weeper never looked up. The people never
tried to rmmke him loak up, elther; they used to @lk o 8 weeper as
he lzy on his face. For soms: of them knew them and could recog-
nlze them,

Those weepers would sometimes disappear inland there In the
e, und when they were out lur something on the ocean, they
sometimes met people, WWhen a pepan met him, the weepsr wauld
fall on his face, lust his face be seen, for those weeepers wers
ashamed of thedr faces.

That's the end of the story [ gol from Afumigsana, (Beygsland
1987: 126-127}

View of the Bridah Mounnira from Hariche! ilind {Hertagy Branch)



At Stksrikpalik, it 1s sald, when they came upon there, the only

land they come upon to, there at Siksrikpalik, before they caught a
whale at Annigriaq over here. When those boats were caught In the
floed here on this land. When they went looking for land this was
the only area to susface out of the water. When they pulled ashore
and them one by one, the people in the first boats lighted on land,
each becarne a marmot every one of them. And it was the people in
the last boat who settled in Annlgruaq and caught a cholee young
whale,

This is how he, himself, tells the story. (Kisaug 1981:66)

They claim that years, this is years and years ago.
Before my mom probably even exdsted.

They claim that when they went to,

these people that go to hunt sheep

from Herschel or wherever.

Probably not Herschel, Herschel was not existing too.
But they'd go up and hunt sheep,

And then there was a real violent easthquake

or something afterwards,

But these people always went through that path.
And then these ones, years [ater

when they went through that path

and that old man was with them.

And all of a sudden there was a new mountaln,
This is the way the story goes.

That is why they called it Imitchiag (*new mountain®),
All of a sudden, people had 1 place to go climb

and see if there is any sheep close by,

That’s the way the story goes.

Anyhow, it could be old. Q1191-24A:11)
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People from Long Ago

Qliver James provided this story that was told to
him by Nasagniq

It is tempting to associated the “place east of
Hersche! ishand” with “Sksrikpalik”, since sucha
toponym was tdentified by Fred Inglangasuk (FI90-5A:6-
7), Lily Lipscombe (LL91-26A:2), Sarah Meyook
{SM91-19A:03) and David Roland (DR91-28A:1 1) and
is located east of Herschel Island. It is possible how-
evar that it refers to a place name In Alaska.

Ancther story set long ago explalns the formation,
during an earthquake, of Irritchiaq (“new mountain”),
located infand and south of Herschel Istand. A powerful
earthquake is also mentioned in the oral wradition of
the Nuramiut (see Gubser 1965:34). The mountain
frritchiaq contains an important ardhaeological site
named Engigstciak (MacNeish 1956). Lily Lipscombe
tells:



People from Long Ago

The Litte Peopla

Stories about the Little People abound in the
Arctic. Among the Inuvialuit (both Sigli and
Uummarmiut) one story tells about a couple of
Ifunuluat (litte people) who lost their son when he
was kllled by a dog. A long version told by Elljah
Kakinya and set near Tulugaq Lake in Alaska can be
found in Bergstand (1987:143) and in Kisautaq
{1981:183). Sarah Meyock heard tha following version

from Kiuruya, who was orlginally from Alashka
8 These people are small.

They were a marnied couple, people that big,

With weasels they could make parka for one person.
You see how small they arel

Kiuruya told us a story about them.

They are scary too.

He said one time over in Alaska,

there was a visitor like that. [..]

There was lots of big people that zaw them.
holding hands with their child.

The people were watching them.

Then someone’s dog was loose

and the dog just went there

and swallowed one small person,

When the dog swallowed that child,

the father got hold of the dog by the tail,
He tore open the dog.

But their litle child was dead already,

Then those peoples were really scared then.
When they got scared of them,

they tried to pay them with anything,

they thought they were going to kill them,

Even though they were small,

they killed a big dog like this.

They opened the dog's stomach In a moment!

They were very fast.

Kiuruya told us that story

about the one who killed the dog right away. (SM90-4B:1-2)
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People from Long Ago

The Tuyurmiat

The Yukon North Slope has been described as a
no-man's-land unoccupled In the winter during the
early and middle |9th century (Burch [988:163, Peake
1966:129). In contrast, deserted winter houses were
identificd by Franklin in July 1826 east of Sabine Paint,
at Stokes Point, and at Demarcation Point {(Franklin
1971). In the latter location, people bad left meat
caches (Franklin 197}:142) and were certalnly intend-
ing to return having probably been away on hunting
trips. People were encountered by Franklin between
Escape Reef and Sabine Point, at Kay Polnt, at Herschel
Island and at Barter Island which seemed to be the
western limit of their territory. In fact, the people
along the Yukon coast might have been quite numar-
ous since, while returning to Herschel Ishind, Franklin
(1971:172) wrote that he "steered directly for Point
Kay, ta avoid the sinuosities of the coast and the
frequent interruption of the Esquimaux whose tents
were observed to be scattered on the beach nearly the
whole way to Babbage River".

The pecople encountered by Franklin along the
Yukeon north slope were the Tuyurmiat, Petitot
(1876:x) heard the term In the mid 1860s while visiting
the Siglit but he used It to identify people of the Bering
Straic. Stefansson (1919:23) also heard the term at the
beginning of the century and noted that “to the view
of the Kittegaryuit people, the people west of the
Matkenzie River to and a lictle beyond Herschel island
! ' were know as the Tuyormiut”, In a letter written in

1895 at Herschel Island, Reverend Stringer refers to
the "Tooyoghmioots” natives frem the coast (Peake
1966:36). The word Tuyumniet (also transeribed as
Tuyugmiat and Tuyukmiurat) can be roughly translated
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People from Long Ago

as 'visitors” (AQ90-11A:3, LL91-25A:5). Emmanuel
Felix stated that the word was from Alaska and meant
“strangers” (EF91-5A:5). Lily Lipscornba (LL91-25A:3)
Indicated that her father, who was from the Yukon
coast, never used such a term but that her mother,
who was originally from infand Alaska, used it to tatk
about people from Pattuktug (Demarcation Polnt).

Cultural differences might have existed between
the Tuyurmiat and the Kittigaryukmiut as Franklin
(1971:120) was told by people he encountered be-
tween Escape Reef and Sabine Point that they distin-
guished themselves from the paople from the eastern
side of the Mackenzie River by having only the women
wearing tattoos while in the other groups men ako
wear them. Stefansson (1919:171) also mentioned a
“Tuyormiut form of Kogmallik dance which is the
mast common at Herschel and has often as many as
nine drummers”.

The Tuyurmiat spoke a language similar to the
Siglit language although some words wera pronounced
differently (EF91-5A:4, JA90-35B:8, IA9]-14A:15).
However, it does not seem to have been an Alaskan
refated language as previously suggested by Lowe
{1991:185). Furthermore, the people met by Frankdin
(1971:13) along the Yukon ccast and at Herschel Island
distinguished themselves linguistically from thelr
western nelghbours but not from their immediate
eastarn neighbours of the Mackenzie River. The Siglit
dilect was originally described by Emile Petitot, an
oblate missianary who visited the "Tchiglit" (L.e., Sight)
while traveling to the Anderson River in 1865 and to
the Mackenzle River during the summers 1868, 1869
and 1870. During the latter year, Petitot was at Fort
McPherson where he met an Eskimo boy of about 14
years old called Arviouna (Arviunal). Petitot took him
to Fort Good Hope to leam his language. According to
Petitot (1887:279), Arvicuna was originally from the
Taréorméout (Tarlurmiut or “people of the sea")
wast of the Madkenzie Delta. This statement is impor-
tant since it stresses that what Is now called Siglitun was
also spoken west of the Mackenzle Delta. Arviouna's
family was probably part of the Tuyurmiat living along
the Yukon coast and at Qikiqtagruk. As Albert Oliver
was told by his parents:

Emmanuel Felix ralks about the Tuyurmiat and
explains that they left the Yuken coast when the stores
were closed In the 1930s:

They say the first people on Qikiqtaqruk (Herschel Island) never
grow, The very first people there. The first people that went there
were the Tuyukmiurat. |..) They were there all the time because they
were Qikigtaqruk people. [...] At that dme they never grew. [...] That
was thelr land, those people there. (AO90-11A:3)

Tuyurmiat was their name.[...] The people llved there all the time
fike Old Roland, Jean Tardiff's stepfather, he's one of them there, the
tribes, The people never really grow, not like some places [where)
the families have children or more people come or others have
children. |...] Not too many people there. That’s what my parents told
me. (AO90-11A:6-7)
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They were always from that country, from Tapdaq (Shingle
Point) and Qikigtaryuk (Herschel Island). The Umaug, Old Man
Cockney, the Stksigaaiuk, those were cenainly there from way back
when! People from here called them Tuyurmiat, those from long ago
at Oikiqtarayuk and Tapqaq. The Tuyurmiat [were al different wibe.
They were not Kittigasiumiut. [...} They were always from over there
at Qlkiqtaryuk! They were not from around here (Tuktoyakwuk). They
kept moving little by litle, finally there was no one left at
Qikigtaryuk. They all moved this way. |..] The ships quit coming and
the Hudson's Bay closed so they followed where the store was.
(EF91-5A:1-2)

The original people from Hersche] Island and Shingle Point. [...]
Thomas Umauq and Gerand Siksigaaluk, Kaanniq. |..] Sitchak. 1used
to hear he's from there, never hardly come around here. (EF91-5A:7)

[My father] was a Sigliq and he was from here (Yukon coast) but
he always liked to specify that he was from Tikiraq (Kay Point), not
from Qikigtaqruk (Herschel IstandD), always specify because that's
where his mom always was. He never really liked to say that he was
from Qikigtaqruk, that's where his dad was from. There was two
places, there was Qikiqtagruk and there was Tikiraq. She was from
Tikirag and he was from Qikiqtaqruk. (I191-25A:3)

I guess there were a lot of people that lived like for instance over
at Kififiaq (King Point). Lots of peoples lived along there (oo, but
those people were mixed from Tikimqmiut, Kififiagmiut and then
after that they'll go to the Kitigaryukmiut. So Kittigaryuit and Kififiaq
people, Kittigaryuit and Tikirnq people meet together there. This is
how they claimed that they interbreed finally. Because there was
these people from Herschel, Qikiqtagrukmiut, and they were
Tikdragmiut, and there was Kittigaryulermiut and Qiqulingvikmiut,
that's around Tuk. Then when they came together, that's where they
came together. It wasat Kififiaq. And that's where they flnally
interbreed [...] They said years ago, my dad used to say, when they
came together, Kinigaryukmiut and these guys here, Qikiqtaqrukmiut
and Tlkiragmiut, you know when they go together, when they come
together, they said they used to be umiags (boats) all around, just
about all around the harbour at King Point. (LL91-254-6)
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The Tuyurmiat referred to themselves according
to where they were from, as Lily Lipscombe explains:

The importance of place names In people's identity
is also reflected in the fact that people from Kupuk
(west of Kittigaryuit) were still “known to their
immediata neighbors by the name of a village which,
for a century at least, has been uninhabited
“(Stefansson {919:24).

Although the Tuyurmlat didn't ltke to be called
Siglit (IA91-14A:2), they had close reltions with
people from Kittigaryuit. Thus, Gerard $Siksigaaluk, who
was from Qikigtagruk, was married to a woman from
Kittigaryuit. Also, when Reverend Thomas Umaug,
who was originally from Qikiqtagruk (Herschel Iskand),
laft the iskind he decided to settle in Tuktoyaktuk
rather than in Aklavik. Here is what Lily Lipscombe
heard from her father:

Ishmaet Alunik thinks that the reduction of the
Tuyurmiat popubtion was caused by diseases. He is
probably referring to the measles epidemic of 1902 and
the mumps epidemic of 1904 at Herschel |sland
(Whittaker 1976:109). About 60 people died along the
coast during the measles epidemic (ibid.).
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They used to be lots of them but when there was blg flu thee,
lots of them passed away there wo. These people were clled
Tuyugmiat, they all speak lke Siglit, Sahuag was enc of thern Thers:
was him, Ganlig, Loule Kaglik and tivem, also there was Nauyaq and
thern. They had no mone stores there when lots of them dled then.
That was then when they all moved to Kitdgaryuit, When them was
no one af Tuktoyakiuk then. JAD0-354:3)

H

Avumnuk 1sd his wite 3t Hercho! ishind th dha [890s. [AC, Scringer Cal, P7S17-143)
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He would tell storles [about] when he wes small. He sald that
Qikiqtagruk was part of Nunaluk. This is how they hunt cardbou by
walking all the way up all the time. (JT90-16A:6)

‘While there was a connection from the jsland to mairiland, they
called them MNuvurqriut (*people of the Point™). They called them
that when the island was part of mainland and Nunaluk, And after It
became an Island, they ealled it Qikiqtagqruk. Then, the Siglit called
them Qikigtaqrukmiut (*people of the Island"), Sariaq always told
us storles about them, (JT90-16A:9)

‘They claim that the women used to live there. It was easy for
women to live on Avaliuraq. Avaluiraq is in the Avalig. [...] It was
easy, easier for women to live there, because you know how it's hard
to get wood on this side of Herschel, eh? It used to be. [...] But the
wormen used to stay home when their men are out hunting or
working for the whalers ‘or the mission there or for the RCMP and it
was easler for them to live there, So they used to be a big community
of almost straight women and their kids, you know. [...| My dad said
his mom used to live there with his brothers and sisters. (LL91-
24A:13-14)
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Qikigagruk (Herschel Island)

Before it was renamed Herschel Iskand by Sir john
Franklin In 1826, that big istand was possibly called
Qiklgtaryuk by Siglitun speakers, as they do nowadays,
and Qikiqtaqruk (also pronounced Qikiqtaqiuk) by
Ifiupiat speakers (and katter by Uumnmarmiutun speak-
ers). At present the Uummarmiut are the people who
are the most closely associated with the istand and with
the coastal Yukon for subsistence activities. Accord-
ingly, we are using the spelling Qikiqtagruk in this
report. YWhen he visited the istand in july (826,
Franklin (1971: 128-132) met with people who had
camps In three different part of the island, According
to Franklin (197 1:131), the istand was “very much
frequented by natives at this time of the year as it
abounds with deer and fish" Franklin (1971:130) also
{eamed from the lecl population that they traded
iron, knives and beads from the Indlans coming down
the Firth River and from western "Esquimaux”.

Qlkiqtaqruk was not always separated from the
mainkand, as Jean Tardiff was told by her stepfather
Roland Safuaq (akso spelled Sagfiaq in Uummarmiutun
and Saaryuak in Sighitun):

Roland Safuaq also told stories to his daughter Lily
Lipscombe about Avaluirag, a place located on Avaliq
(Avadlek Spit, also called Ualiq), on the south west part
of Qikiqaqruk:
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The Shamans and Medicine People

Traditionally, befora they converted w Christlan-
iy, the tuit had their own spirital leadars, Theso
shanans were callad angotkug. They wera bath feared
and respected becausa of thelr speckl pawers. They
had tha power t heal but abso to kill. Onae of the last
shamans remembered among the Inauvialuls Is
Kubhaluk. He fved at a dme when minlsters were
corverting tha Inuvialulit and during whidh dhe auchoricy
and povwears of shamans were questioned. Joe
Nasogaluak tells the following storles about Kublimluk:

- - — 2w

Kublusiuk (R) st Hertchel laland In che 19204 (YA, H.155, Fineio Col)

Kublualuk was then young around 1900, He wns a man of good
stnore, about aix (et 1l Ther: was not too much shamanism then
us the younger generation did not belleve in It and they mocked the
shaman or medicdne man. |...] Joking ibow the shaman sas qulic
conunon sunongst the younger people. But Kublunluk did nat
participate In thess games.

One cay he dedded that he would ke 1o be o medisine man
and to Jeam about it, This, of course, was greeted with laugaer and
smeers, “Oh nol Not Kublualuk!® But he persistexd [n his inlengion
nn¢ determination. However | laler, dedemination continued as It
was sakl thar Kublualuk could My, really fy. And so at Kittigamit
began a game of shaman sesstons.

Then wanting to leamn more and to practice, Kublualuk [eft
Kitdgaryalt for Herschel Island, He was then st} young. At Hermschel,
he married an old wornan. I know her as [ saw her several Hmes,
Now there was a mindster then 2t Herschel Island, Reverend
Whittaker, and sonwimes when the people gathercd, they would
indulge In some shamanlstic practices. On the iskand then, there were
some well known and mespecled shamans, also known as e Flying
Shamans |...]

At the ime Kublualuk fwas] on the big island, many ships
wintered in the hadbour. Somedmes the Eskimos and e saflors
fratemizixd in pantics. On one wocsion, Kubluabuk drank more thin
he could handle and uncker Inspecior Fitzgerald was amested and
brought into the detachunent Jaik, [...] The police heursk 1o nex
moming that Kubluatuk Bacl made an escupe and was at hose, So
the police werd 1o et him and put hine i landeulTs, ten Back o
Jail went Kubluniuk. [...] He told the people B as soon a4 he wag
locked In agaln, be saw an apering, 2 an in e bars, the cul becom-
ing targer und Larger. Then puhing his hands up, the chain of the
handeult fell 1o his feet. And threugh ihe openlng he walked away
agmin,

Alter that Uve police gave up and did not uy to lock liin up any-
inore, Instcad the Inspector hired him as a spedal constable [,..) unl
the departure of Inspedor Fitzgerld to the Yukon where he met
with Ul fate and diex! of exposure in 1971, (COPE 1990, 1-1-01:1-2)

Kubluajuk would fly from Herschel Idand. Theoy used 1o see
ldm, Steve was hls English name. We never head about him after
the nonlsters Daptized him, Keblualuk, Becavse he was a sharman, 1
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wonder why they flew. Kublualuk was from around here. Apakkak's
family, Tikilik's family, Alualuk’s famnily, they would fly. I was a child
at that time when 1 started to remember. The shamans would fioat
out of the house and leave. They would retumn, maybe they were
lying. (taughter) I don't think they lied. (JNS0-30A:8)

Long ago when we used to live here, Kublualuk was there too.
He was a real magic man. He could tum into feathers |...]. Every Ume
the police locked him up in the jail, he’s just gone and staying in his
home! Somebody asked him *How you go out ? He said “I rum
into, ke a litle owl feather”, He was a shaman that man. Somebody
see a hawk, he tumed Into a hawk also. "I'm gonna kill that bird
Kublualuk™ someone said. He started to pull the trigger, his bullets
would bust, (faughter)

He was so strong thls shaman. There at Herschel Island, they
could travel under through the land, they started to look for open
water, He used to hear from the preachers [...] He said three of them
went, they hit, got to a lake |...] just like blood on it, just bolling.
Then they tumed back, he sald “Must be a right preacher, must be
right!” So he quit that thing, [...) “This preacher must be righd” he
sald. After that he wurned Into a falcon hawk but he quit that too, you
know, just before he died. [...] There is quite a bt of stories about
him. [...) I never meet him. He was dead already. Those are old time
stories) (IA90-35B:6-7)

[..] And then after that they hire him for special constable, yes It's
true. He used to live with my grandparents. When my Granddad
would go for five days on his tap line, he would really get tired and
wornry about him and that. Then he noticed a linle hawk go around
when he was fixing his traps. You know those hawks that go very
fast, some kind of hawk anyway. And after that one week my grand-
father go home and he (Kublualuk) would say “yes I've seen you
when you were at your traps and I watched you as you fixed your
traps”. All that time Kublualuk tumed into 2 hawk and go see him!

[...] but he don't kill the people, he just carrled them and used to
have fun with them. Some people used to hear that long ago he
killed people only if he was upset with them. [...] My grandparents
used to say he made people well. 1 guess they pray to devil to each
of them, They never knew about the bible, them days. [...] They used
to make the people scared when they stayed alone in the dark. (L190-
6B8:5-10)

[Kublualuk] flnally wanted to take me fly to Ukiivik (Kendall
Island). {..] When he asked me If § wasn't feeling lazy (tired), I said
“yes". He put me on his back. I held him under his arms. When he
lift up, he told me to close my eyes. I stanted geiting scared, 1 was
moving on his back. He told me to nudge him on his left side if
got scared. 1was scared so I nudged him and we landed. He never
changed. I looked back, we could hardly see our house [because] we
were so far, We were just about to reach across the big river. We
walked all the way back. He really wanted to give me his shaman
(power). He suld he never used [t as bad shaman, just {to] have good
time with it. Ididn’t take It, I was just a young boy. {(CG91-6B:1)
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Ishmael Alunik and Lucy Inglinagasuk heard the
fallowing storles about Kublualuk:

When he was a young boy, Charlle Gruben
flew with Kublualuk. He tells of ¢his rather unusual
experience:
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For Jimmy Jacobson, a young child in the late
1920s, Kublualuk was just an ordinary man who
happened to be his neighbour at Herschel Islnd:

Although the terms “shaman” and “medicine
man" are often used Interchangeably, it seems that not
all medicine people were shamans. Traditlonally, there
were people among the Inuit who were strictly in-
volved with treating illnesses. One could learn about
medicinal plants and other remedies as Peter Thrasher
tells:

I remember Kublualuk because I used to go to his sod house
and he used to make bannock. I know once or twice I steal his
bannock and he pretend to sleep. The next day he walk along with
e holding my hand and he told me he was watching me when I
was stealing his bannock but he pretend to sleep again. (laughter)
At that time he was my next door neighbour. Iknow him real good
because he walk around with me all the time. But all this time I
never know [ was walking around with a medicine man, eh? Be-
cause [he was our] next door neighbour. After that, I found out he
was a medicine man. J90-31A:1)

There’s fots of medicine we used to do. That was long me ago.
Those medidne men they used to go to fall, or they go after them
and they put them in jail for malpraciice. They stopped them. [...] you
know my grandfather used to be a good dodtor, you know when
they cut people, you remember that time they used to cut people. [..]
To ke the sickness out of them. Heal it back, just let it heal by itself,
heal by having a rest, even headaches, bad eyes.

I think they know how to, they know how to control body
when you got something like that, the eyes especially,. When pecple
go blind or just about go blind, they know just where to cut the spot,
right spot. They could feel if they push one way, with one finger
they push it. ‘They could feel the pressure go right there and if there’s
no pressure there, it means there’s something wrong there. And they
cut that spot, take it out, from the top slde, from the open side where
they could push the blocd, it's OK. That's where they cut old blood
pouring out, when it péur out, it starts getting good. (PTO0-8A:5-10)

I..] Some of them even just only talk to you and mzake you
benter, They feel it or they use their hands. They do that first, then
they even take that, you know that yellow stuff, they even sepanate
this thing and get it inside the ltver, the bladder, the galistones. They
take it out and heal that thing back with thelr fingers.

[...] But that ime, they only used thelr hand, feeling it and fixing
It. They just fel that sickness with their hand, they moved it and
they fixed it. Even when they were really far, they could feet it.
When they were feeling it, it was just ke they had gone down in the
stomach and they fixed that problem with thelr hand. Just like they
just soften it up and It goes away. |..]

I don't know how they do it but my God, when they feel [t just
like God is with them. 50 dam smart, I thought they were really
smnart. Just like medicine man, but they're good, they're not bad.
(PT90-8A:11-12)
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4. After the White People Came

Inuxialult wistrin via|ging 8 ahip x5 Hisrache! fsnd In e 18903,

There were lats of them, Somerimes they sry that about 30 or 40
ships were here, also wwhaling boats. These was lots of them. The big
ship wauld po ravel to Vancouver Island ar B.C. or the $tates, you
know? Afler they toad up their ships wdth winle cil in tiem big
basrels, the one tey boil inside the ships. Thure was lots of them.
(PTO0-9A.5)
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(AC Saringer Col, PIS17-381)
The Whalers

Herschel Ishind attracted commencial whalers at
tha end of the last century. By 1894 fiftoen ships
wintered there {Bockstoce 1986:345), During tha sane
year, Klengenberg (1932:128) counted 1000 men at
Payline Cave on Harschel istand. From 1890 e 1915,
the winlers took sbout 1500 bowhead wirales In the
@storn sido of the Beaufore sea {Martell eral.
1984:27). As Peter Thrasher was told:
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The whalers were mainly interested in the baleen
and the oll of the bowhead whales and the meat was
often wasted, as Peter Thrasher, Joe Nasogaluak and
Albert Oliver exphain:

The whalers brought Siberfans as well as liuplaq
from the Alaska North Slope and Nunatarmiut from
the Nuatak River in Alaska (Burch 1976:55). They
worked as hunters and seamstresses (Bodkstoce 1986:
270-274). The Nunatarmiut were specifically hired to
hunt caribou for the whalers since the loal population
ware described as living mainly on fish, at least In
winter, and on seals (Cook 1926;263, Stefansson
1919:164, Whittaker 1976:185), It is also possible the
local poputation felt no obligation to work for the
whalers. Bodstoce (1986:274) wrote that in order to
supply the whalers with fresh meat, most of the Point
Barrow natives and nearly one hundred from Point
Hope were at Herschel Istand in 1894 and 1895, Other
accounts stress that, at least during the early years of
commercial whaling, most of the caribou meat was
brought to Herschel Island by Indlans {Gwich'in) from
the Peel River (eg. Cook 1928). Albert Oliver explalns
that his own famlly had followed the whalers:

[...] They were together all the workers; engineers, skinners,
tanners, bollers, ol workers, steam operators [...] You know that time,
there was a ship that went with the steam. It had two pipes, like my
dad had told me about. There was lots of them (ships). When they
were at the island and at the bay, there was about 30 or 50 of them,
Those that are whalers. (PTS0-0A:7)

Those big ships they came, they made a big slaughter, Well,
there was no oil companies those days, those people they used to
call those “white people oil” because they used that oil, for their
light and thelr machines. They wanted that oll, there was lots of it
there. (PT90-8A:14)

On the coast, there were 1 lot of ships for baleen. [...] A
bowhead whale has 500 baleen. |...] One would weigh 3000 pounds,
the blubber was one foot. One baleen was worth 7 dollars 2 pound,
Silk. They made silk. Because there wasn't any nylon. JN%0-30B:2)

1 heard most of them got lots of whales but I den'l know which
ones, And they would just cut the head off and take them. {...] They
throw them away. They never take anything but heads! |...] Thetr
heads, that was all they hunted whales for those people. And also
their baleen. Everything on their head they took because at the time
they (the heads) cost lots of money. [...] And they say long ago they
would brald it and make rope with it and alsc make string for the
hooks and it don’t freeze. That's the reason why long ago they hunt

‘blue whales for the things on their heads like the baleen and they

cost lots. When they killed a whale, they would hang It on along
[thel side of the boat, cut the head off, put them in the ship, and let
go the rest of whale. The people always find the rest of the whale
when it's washed up on shore. [...] The people would use them too.
The ones that need them becuse the inner parnt doesn't spoil, just
the top of the whale spoils. And they used it for dog food too.
(AO90-11A:3-9)

The people would find one on the ocean shore and use them
because they are good. The inside part, muktuk aiso and the oil.
When ir's fresh they keep it all for food. (AOD0-114:5)
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The whalers would get people from out there to hunt for them,
the whalers. Eskimos from Alaska. Because our ancestors are from
Alaska. (AO90-11A:5)

They pick up Alaska’s people for hunters. And when they get to
Herschel Island, they do hunting around thene, These Alaska people
never go back. They lived in the Delta, and our parenis too never go
back. My dad and them are from Alaska. There is lots of them.
(AO9C-11A:8)

My dad lived around there long ago before us. They stayed at
Qikiqtaqruk (Herschel Island) and Qafgialuk (Ptarmigan Bay). They
wintered there always. When the ships wintered there, they say there
was lots of them Inuit when they wintered there. They didn't know
about Christmas at the tme. They hunted, went trapping and made a
living there. When summer came they helped the whalers. They say
there wag not too much whales long ago. They were hard to see.
One time they saw two blue whales only. For long time, they looked
for them. [...] When someone first saw a whale, the Captain would
pay them too. |...] A pold warch. The Captain would tell them, the first
one who sees a whale shall have the watch, At that time 2 watch was
so valuable, it was big money. (AQ90-11B:3-4)

Most of hunters that were on ships with whalers stayed around
to claim land around here in Delta. |...] Because it had lots of animals.
{..] There js muskrat, rabbits, ptarmigan, all kinds of animals to hunt.
That is why they stayed and clalmed the land when they finished
with the ships and svhen they didn’t hunt for them anymore. (AC90-
11B:6-7)

‘There was big ships at Qikdguagruk (Herschel Island) from long
ago. They always said that the whalers were there. My dad too, he
has been to east with the ships, with the whalers. Also his brother
was there at Qlkiqirgruk long before. His brother Kupuug. He waz
there too with the whalers. My dad went with him with the whalers
long ago. Before my dad was married, he was just 14 years old. He
was washing dishes far McKenna. [...] He went with him to go see his
brother at the beach of Qikiqtagruk. Well, then, there wag always lots
of ships gathered there, long ago. They were the whalers then,
looking for whales, Then when whalers went back home, my dad
came home with his brother, [...] That is how my dad told stories, that
is how both told the storles that I learned from them. (HG90-24A:10-
12)

It was at Qiklqtagruk (Herschel Island), that's where my parents
found out when they wintered there. When the ships and whalers
wintered there at QlkIgtagruk, they dldn't know too much about
Chiristmas, But when New Year came, they started hearing noise litle
after midnight, coming from the ships. They were making loud noise
with lots of tin cans while they (the Inuit) were already in bed. So,
they came going around the houses making all kind of noise, while
the people were sleeping already. All this time they were wishing
everyone “Happy New Year!” And they were shooting t0o. |...] From
then they knew about Christmas and New Year. That's what my
mother said; only then they find out (AQ90-11B:3-9).
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Hope Gordon was told this story by her father
who was hired from Point Hopa (Alaska) to work for
Captain McKenna, a whaling merchant and whiskey
trader who was around Herschel Island from about
1893 to 1906:

The arrival of the whalers also meant the intro-
duction of their own traditons such as Christmas and
tNew Year. Albert Oliver was told the following story
by his mother:
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Captain Bodfish, who was wintering for the first
time at Herschel island in 1891, wrote; We watched the
old year out and the new In and scared the natives haif to
deqth by the blowing of horns and shooting of guns. They
thought we were murdering each other, never having seen
anything of the kind before. (Bodfish 1976:60)

Bertha Leavitt (Kisauq 1981229) reported that the
ifupiaq of Alaska had a traditional “New Year-lke"
celebration called cyafik associated with the retum of
the sun. The Inuvialuit had a simitar tradition, as Felbx
Nuyaviak, who was from Kittigaryuit, recalled :

These traditions were later integrated into the
Mew Year festivities as Albart Oliver exphins:

Other sochl activitias took place at Herschel
Ishaind batwaen the Inuit and the whalers, as discussed
by Albert Oliver:

It is difficult to have a clear picture of the nature of
the relations between the whalers and the Inuft
population. However, there is evidenca that children
were conceived during short-lived relations between
Inuie women and whalers, As Joe Nasogaluak tells:

In other cases, the whalers had o rely on Inuit
help for survival and were rapidly integrated into Inuit
famifies. |mmy Jacobson explains how his father met his
mather;

At the eappearance of the sun |...] the ol for the lamp, all ol
were thrown out. New oil was put in lamps. (COPE 1991, 1-14-03:2)

At the ime too, on New Year's Eve, everyone would empty
everything in pots and whatever that goes in something. This was
done before midnight and this was done for the old year. Empty
everything; old water or whale oll in pots and palls. So they could
start with new year with new things, That was how, in them old
days. (AOY0-12A:7)

Sometimes when it's big days they would be boxing, wrestling
around and they would show the Eskimos how to box and wrestle.
One time they say down at Herschel Island that three white people
tried to teach the Eskimos how to wrestle, They let them watch, the
three of them. One white man, he win. So one Eskimo want to try
now. Now they are going to try Big Dick, he's a big man. And
everyone know he's a strong man. All the Eskimos they know it. He
wus there watching too. He says it's nothing for him, he thinks that
way. So the Eskimaos tell him *try, go down there and try”. He was
lazy at first because he thinks it’s nothing for him so them boys force
him Into it, 50 he went down. He got hold of one of themn and just
throw him down just like a little child, Thar white man tries again. He
can't stand that Big Dick who is too strong. So that puy, no more
teaching! (AO90-12A:4)

Young girls, you know girls. The whalers would take the women
away from the Inuit men. They made children. [...] They would leave
them and find another wife, like [if} they weren’t married. That is
how it happened. NO0O-30B:3)

Fred, my dad, came with one of the first whalers' boat. There
was about thirty of them in that whale ship, hunting bowhead
whales, They froze in the southwest sand spit clase to Balllie Island,
absut six miles from Baillie Island. They froze in there and when the
weather was getting cold they started to get scurvy, You know what
scurvy is? You put your fingey in your leg and that hole den't come
up, then they know they got scurvy,

So when my dad and his fdend found out the cew started to get
scurvy they walked from Baillie to Avuk. Avuk is about one mile
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from Baillie Island. They call i Cape Bathurst, They walked there and
they move in with Eskimos and my dad and his friend one day after
one month they walked back to the southwest sand spit. All the
other thirty-one were dead. Only those rwo they survived because
they lived with fresh fish, seal meat, I guess. Then after that, that's
how my dad ended up mamying ray mother, eh? An Eskimo. And his
partner too mamed an Eskimo but I never heard of him or what
happened to him. (J90-31A:7)

They got the gold but can't find too much in Fiith River. [..]1
think one guy he find a big one, a piece, but I think he died then
right there. That dme lots of them run away. Some see others and

bring them back. Soma were just about starving, no food. They bring .

them all back, some don't want to go back. They shoot them. Some
Eskimos dogs, they run away with. Even stole lots of grub from the
boats. They take off at night time. (AOQ%0-11A:5)

I also went mining up a little there at the Firth River around
Sheep Creek. I had few claim marks up there. The other claim I had,
someone took it. 1 guess he got few money from It and it was going
to cost us too much to pet machines and other tools for mining.
(IAS0-35B:5)
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Some whalers tumed to trapping and trading
activitles and legalized their marriage with Inukc women,
as in the cases of Ole Andreasen, Ned Arey, Tom
Gordon, Christian Klengenberg and Peter Lopez, to
mame a few (Stefansson 1919, 1922, 1944).

While commercial whaling was a major activity in
the Beaufort sea, the gold rush was booming in the
Dawson area of the Yukon. Some of the whalers,
probably tired of wintering on the island and wanting
to try thelr luck at gold mining, tried to reach Dawson
through the Firth River while others tried to find gold
directly along the Firth River. Albert Oliver heard
storfes about those whalers wmed gold miners:

After the whalers, some Inuvialuk also tired to find
gold along the Firth River. Ishmael Alunik recalls:
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The Anglican Misslons

Anglican prasence amang the Inarvkeuit staroed (n
the [890s, At first, the Inovialuit wers surplcious of the
missicraries. jonah Carpentor’s father, who was from
Kiztigaryule, told him this story:

Anglican missiomariey made {roquent visies w the
village: of Kictigaryvit from 1891, Tha wllage had boen
previously visitad by Oblate Camilla Lefebvre (Peake
{96£:28). In1914 and 915, writing and reading skiils in
Inuviahikeun were taughe there by Anglican ménlstars
(IN0-30B: 10). During his visits Roverend Stringor was
accomnpariad by an Inuvialuk named George Greonland
(Peake 1966:18). It Is very likely that George Greenland
was the Arvizna from whom Petitot learned some
Slgkoun In 1870 {AO20-) kA7, PTP0-8B:8, FTH0-9A:3),

The village of Kittizaryuit, devastatad by the
measies epidemic of 1902, was ravisited by Bishop
Stringer during tha summer of 1909. He counted *109
peopla end {4 whaleboats”, During his visit he per-
forred the Arst marriage at the viBage between
“Jlmmy Mimogurma snd Shoolkalyal” (Peake 194621 16-
117). Mimeguna was probably Mimurana (also knewn
as “Memorana™ and as “Roxy") with whom
Seefansson {1 944:468, 196470) travelled in 1906,

Yritten scurces aceentunte the tragle side of the
whalers' invaslan of the ishnd (Bodestocs 1986:275-6,
Whittaker 1976). Reports of the bad influence of the
winlers on the Inuvhlult popubition Incited Anglican
missiarary lssac Q, Stringar 1o visk tho ishnd in 1892
and 1893, In 1897, he returned with his wife Sadie and
they established a permanent resldence on the isknd.
During that first year at Herschel Island, Stringer
counced "50 white men and more than 100 Eskdmos
from hall a doxen tribes” (Peake 1966:63). Convarsion
was slow but by 1898 Stringer had a *'congregation of
20 to 30 Esldmos” (Peake 1966:64), Sdhoaling started
on the Bhnd in 1900, The next yaar the couphe left and
Stringar wank on to bacame the Blshep of Sellfrk
(labor the Dlocese of Yuken) In 1905, The Stingers’
decision to leavs the lshnd may have been nfluencad
by the decline of commercial whaling and the fact that
from 1900 to 1902 pe ships wintered there (ngram
and Dobrowobky 98%:50). Bahop Stringer made a
good impression on the Inuvhluit and was praked for
his ability to speak thefr knguage and for teaching them
how o write. Pater Thrasher heard storkes abeut
Bishop Seringer fiara his father and his grandmother:

Thint thme: there was no mlnister,
They vsed to coma while

there was so many Inuviafuil,
They wanited 1o kill this minister,
$6 he left before ey killed hlm,
Inuvintule didn't know.

They didn't want to have ministe.
{JCO0-HA: 4}

Shinglo Polne (Tapuag), 1991, {H0R
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{..] you know that ime when they first started to come they had
no priest. You know that ime when they started drinking they try
and kill each other, fight, drunk. Their wives, they lost them to those
white people, those people, their daughters they fooled arcund.
When that preacher came just like that all the bad people they
stopped. Bishop Stringer, yeah! (PT90-8A:13)

[Bishop Stringer] is the one my dad saw and talked about. Also
my grandmother, they saw him at Herschel, for the first ime, But
then, they never let him baptize themn. (PT90-9A:4). Bishop Stringer
was a good man ‘cause my grandinother used to really like that man
and his wife. (PT90-8A:14)

Those two, Allan (Ugplk) and his brother (Garrett Nutk) [...]
They really know about books and reading, They were both good in
making church for the people there. When they are gefting ready to
read In Inult from the bible they would stuey it and just go from
there. The two brothers were very good in that reading and swudying.
They were very smart in everything. [...] Before they start the church
service, they say what Is for sermon that day and start from there.
They were little those two brothers, [ don't know how old they are
but Garrett is the youngest brother. [...] Even both Colin and Herbert
Allen followed their dad’s footsteps. They did service too before the
mindsters came. This would be itke ¥in the bush® services, And Celin
was a real minister and when there is no one, Herbert would do the
church service when we were In the delta on Sunday. [...] On Satur-
days, we would cut wood and bring It in our house and also get
enough Ice too. That way we don't have to touch anything te work
on that day, Sunday. The people were like that long ago, they never
worked on Sunday. (AQ90-12A:6)
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From 1904 to 1906, the Anglican mission at
Herschel Iskand was run by Raverend Whittaker and
his wife (Whittaker 1976:19). For the next ten years
no missiorary was In residence on the istand but In
1909, Bishop Stringer came back to Herschel Isfand to
baptize stx Inuvialuit (Peake 1966:117). Among them
was Thomas Umaug, a native of Herschel Island, who
In 1927 was to becorne the first Inuvialuk Anglican
minister (Peake |966:146), and James Atumigsana
(previously mentioned), Though no missionary was in
residence, zarvices were lad by Inuvialuit laymen who
had been pupils of the Stringers such as Garrett Nutik
(Pezke 1966:146), the father of Kathleen Hansen,
Albert Qliver explains:

In July 1916, Reverend Fry and his wife moved to
Herschel Iskhnd. They were met by about 200 Inuvialuit
{Ingram and Dobrowolsky 1989:80). This number
might represent more than the kel population as
many Inuvialit would be trading at that time of year.
The Frys left the Island in 1919 due to Reverend Fry's
heafth problems and the follawing year the mission was
moved to Shingle Point (Ingram and Dobrowelsky
1989:86.96). Herschel Istand continued to be visitad by
Angllcan missionaries in the 1920s.

The conversions to Anglicanism acceterated In the
early 1900s. Between September 1907 and July 1908 all
the Inuvialuft were converted, (Stefansson!951:38)
Thesé conversions ware probably infienced by the
deaths of many Inuvialuit spiritual leaders in the
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numerows epidemics, Traditionsl beliefs ware, how-
ever, mainmined b parallal wo the new ehristian rituals
In » simibr manner described by Detige (1991) for
MNortheartern America in the 17th and 18th centuries.
Thus Swfanzson (195 1:69) remarked, “while dhristiin
prayers are very good in ordimary things, the old-
fashioned charms are much more effective when it
comes to catching whalid”, Durlng 2 visit to Shingle
Point in 1908, Stefansson (195 1:425) notod the mbbath
was partiaularly well respected.

Although an Anglian staticn was maintained at
shingle Point by Reverend Fry from 1909 w 1919, k
was anly w1 1920 that a mission house was bulk there
{Ingram and Dobrowolsky 1989:86, Yhittaker
1976:199), A chrurch was constructed tn 1922anda
schoal epenad In 1929 with Reverend Shapherd asa
principal (Peake 1966:109). From 1929 wo 1936 there
was an Anglican Mission School at Shingle Poln for
It children (KH9 1-27A:8). Soma even came from the
Victarh Isknd arex. A faw of the pupils must have been
arphans who lost thair parangs in tha 1928 Influcrnza
opadarmic,

Martha Harry shares her memoiies of golng o
schoo! at Shingle Polnt for one year in 19332 whils
shi was about |5 years old:

Anglican draurch, residesce and Hudson's Bay Company houds 1t Shingle Peine, | 923,

Long aga A4 "Tupgag (Shingle Palm), when ¢ went 1o school
Hierer, First Urne when 1 went to school [ seas scared because [ never
knew anything abow English ways, I really didn’t know, Only thing
knew litle was “Good meming” ard *Good night” tan the other
English language 1 never knew, Because too my mother weould leam
me how to speak only in Tnuvialukoun linguage and that's the only
tanguage | know or lexrned.

Thavs haw it was when I fir went 1o school. 1 just followed
what the oliers were coing like my cousin and ather young gz lke
me. Garreit Nutlk and them were a1 Tupgug when we fist went to
school diere. When [ It went to eat | was so afmld, T thought
“How am I going to cat ™ [...] And when we ate, the way they &u ]
follaw them, Bven if I never get énough, Td stop eating because It
was Hkes O, So 1 just followed dicin, Because top wve never are like
that before with white man food.

Later an, before it freaze, Gamett would get cartbou for them,
Garrert Nutk with linle blpger boys (] and #lso Peter Joe and
g, There wis gome (Jangmolik (eastem people) 100, 1 forget
thelr narnes. When they go huntng up thera, they would have tiean
far help. They say that was 1o be our food for the winter. They
waunld go hunting on Saturdays, just on Satusdays, they never go on
Sundays. Only on Sanuday and on Fridays when schoal is over, ey
wauld go, Whon Lthey finished work, Mr. Sheplen] would go with
therm to pick Soime meat.

They would go anyoey, they could because the mrbou was not
far up. Just over the first hill, around thune they would be. They
wolild brng cardbou meat and also make sage for them AlsoUnmug
halped them then. They nuke stape ond Umaug would teach Mr.
Shepherd how e Inuit make [a] Eving |n those days, They made big
stages, two of thwom becnese one would be for flsh and the eaher for
caribou meal.
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(MAC, ¥V, Morgen PA [67644)

They also skinned the carlbou and cut them up with a suw.
‘Those days they used big hand saws, they cut them up with these,
these two Umauq and Mr, Sheplherd. When school i3 finlshed, the
older boys woukd help them and wihen they hove fish nets too in
[ront down there. Same thing when they got herrings, they stored
themn in the sage, also wrapped them up beflore storing them away.

Then when Mr. Shepherd found out how we eal In wintertime,
he lel us cut up frozen fish with the skin off und clean them some-
times. We cut the hervings in half, take the head and back fins of the
herrings and skinned and ¢leaned thém, ‘Then they put them on the
tables, In those days they had tong wbles for us, The boys on one
table and gids on other. ... Then with e bowls they would put
whale ofl tn them, We all eat [rozen fish on Saturdays. We eat fish
and hering. They would lgt us eat {rozen fish on Saturcdays. But
some childreny, smali ones, didn like to eat frozen fish. |...] The ones
with white fathers they didn't carc to get frozen fish. So they cooked
muat for them because they didn't like 10 eat frozen food. Only oo
Saturdays we had frozen food, on the other days we never ate them

Also they melt snow and the washer i3 ke this. We do this
ourselves to wash our clothes, Then we bring them this way our-
selves and then we rinse them ourselves too. You know they are big
wood bamels like this, They are just like big wooden bamrels. These
wern the ldnd of washers they had then. That way we washed at the
lite boys' reem and we took tums. [..] Us older giils, we took wms,
two at the Ume. |1 We alevays did a big laundry that way, Somsetimes
we couldn't get dist out |s0] we used the wash beand and rnsed them
ourselves 100,

Then, we hanged them all at the linle boys' room undl there was
no toom for them. They had wire lines for clothes line, They used
iron wines, the ones that dan't rust. They made them one end to the
other end, They were very cluse logethier. This way they made lines

41

After the White People Came



After the White People Came

David Roland was at Shingle Paint from 1932 to
1936. Returning at Shingle Point in 1991, he recalls his
years there:

like that, Well there was no dryer in those days, nothing. Also there
was a big siove where you could put two big mubs of snow to melt.
There was no running water then, only that kind we had. 1...] We did
our laundry on Mondays and Thursdays taking turns and we helped
the little boys’ supervisor. They always did the small boys and girls
clothes together maybe on Monday, the small boys ones. Ours on
Thursday. Like that every week.

This person Kusatyaluk would make our shoes, also duffels too.
Us, blgger girls, would help her a little when we could. $he made
duffel just sewing by hand, She made all the small boys and girls
shoes and parkas with covers. [L.] I think she had two machines. I
wonder how she got paid and how much? I don't know, I never
heard!

When we had school we had classes at the Mission House. The
higher grades were on the other part of the house [..] and us, first
grade, on the other side and the ones that just started were over
here. They put them facing each other like that. We only had one
teacher. After she taught In a day she would lose her voice because
she was the only one. Because too some of the children were silly.
[...] sometitmes they didn't listen. She [would] yell at them so much
that she would lose her vojcel {...] She sunz could work, just one
teacher for all the children there. [...]

When we spend Christmas there, we had drum dance at Garrett's
house, Even we danced square dances too there, Even if it wasa
small room, maybe like this one here. Maybe iz was a little wider
then this. Then those people from Milaqulik, all came too. There was
one Indian that came with them, I don’t know who he was, he could
play the fiddle good. When he plays fiddle we all have square
dances, We also do a jig and drum dance, That's how we have
Christmas long ago. And there they let us eat too, Garrett and them.
Us bigger children, like our own food when we are home, it sure
was good.

Then on Sunday we go to our school to have sepvice there, They
always put the school chairs away on Saturdays [...) They always
cleaned up for Sunday service for us, |...] And us children, we didn't
go home for Christmas or Faster, We never went on holidays to our
relatives. Just like that, we stayed down there all winter.

[..] We always worked, worked! We helped Mr, Shepherd and
that cook. We washed dishes and everything and played around
once In a whlle, We played outside, we also visited Susie, Umaug's
wife. But we couldn’t visit there all of us, just three at the time. Girls
visited there all day and next day us we visited like that. Just three of
us, we couldn't visit all of us like that. (MH91-16A:1-7)

When I first went to school I really didn't know how to speak in
English and I didn't understand too. I guess the only ones 1 knew
was “a spoon”, "2 knife”, that was all I knew in English. [...] Then
that summer I went to school.

When I went to school these houses were here then. This one
here, there was a big cove in here at the ume. And then 100, the
schooners used to come in here, inside the bay. The school was a
log house, right beside it then. Further to the point, there was houses
for boys and girls. Long ago when we went to school they never tell
us to stay In one house, The boys have their own. Also in winter it's
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Inuwhluit sudards at the Argloan MisHon School, Shirgle Pelne 19301,

always stormy and when (i blaws ' very strong sometimes. Some-
times when it does that, they would Ue a long rope from our houses
to the Mission IHouse whero we cat. 50 when It gets stormy, we
would hold on the rope anxl go to our room by the rope.

Al the time, 14 boys were in scheol sometimes and sometimes 16
glrls toa. Some years they would be more boys too bul they don't let
us play topether. 1 dont know why, long ago. (laughter) There Mr.
Shepherd was the principal, then thens. Also Thomas Umaug was
working Lhere and Kusafyaluk did repairs on the school children's
mukluks. [

During sumimertime, when the school chiklren went home,
isyael! [ stayed straight four years. I sayed at Tapgaq because [ had
no home to go to. Sometines when chikinen went lome with thelr
arants, | edsheed T could go. T jus stioyed becousa there was no place
for me to go. I syed for four summers and four winters.

Then after 1 finished four yvears, uvwey looked for n place for me to
go Irome to. 5o they lot me go home to my grandparenis then, Well
in those days il you went to schood, Il you finished four yeurs, they
let you go even il you Jeamed ar not, they let them go from school.
iy Thoge <y everyone hardly knew how to speak in English, so i
vou kximed how, theyd Jet you go. It's just lke the maly reazon you
went to school for was to leam or understand Enghsh, tvar wasg it
(DROI-7A5-T)
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Bacause the airtbou popubtion had drasticalty
dropped in the 19201, reindeer were brought to
Carada by Laphanders in the 19305 While she was in
schoel at Shingle Point, Persis Gruben remembers tha
reindeqr herders:
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L.} at Tapeag, the Utle pirs were saying that there was Tots of
carbaw. When the relndoer arrved tseir bells were just doging. They
also had reindeer pulling sleds, driving lke dogs. ...] When T firg
sro ek shoes they were 3o polnted! They wem them when they
were skling. We couldn’ understand him when be was Lilking.
Before 1he reindeer arrived cstbou camo In by herds. And here,
refrcleny were Leliind them couting, |..]

They came to Tapqaq, they all came in for a night. Some at
Thomas Umaug's. [ was werking in the kilchen, When | sweps tha
Noos [ didn't think this grass were linings. T shoved tem lnto the
stave but we never used 4t untess 1 was really cold. This lite old
nes gol up and sianed looking sround. Qur pondpal ssked him
what hie wes looking for, Then he loakexd at hig feel, uying to
explaln to the prncipal, feeling his shoe. Our prindpal and teacher
asked me If T had seon somé grass arcund the stove, | sad “Yea
They are inside the siove™, e said "Good tiing you didnt light the
slove, that's tho only linings 1 have". The old man was jus smiling,
He opened the sieve and pulled out tis grass linfngs. He said ro me
*Comel” He stulf the grass in his shoe. (PGO1-GAR)

‘Tha Mission School was moved from Shingle Pont
In 1936. Flooding and the chosing of the Hudson's Bay
stores at Herschel Island and Shingle Point must have
also Influenced the mova to Aklevile (RM9-138:5).
Shingle Point continues to ba used as » fishing and
whaling cmp by the Inuvialuit every summer,
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I don't know what year, maybe when Inspector Wood was an
inspector that time. [...) Well that part of the country was just becom-
ing Yukon, just became part of the country too that tme. That's why
the RCMP start moving into the Alaska border. There was a border
already. And Yukon was a place too. But at that ime Old Crow was
Canadian. Just a little ways from there, it's the Alaska border. The
[Fort] Yukon is still in Alaska . [...] There s Inult over there too. [...]
That's what they say (FT90-9B:10).

My dad used to tell stories about when the police started to put
the border there in 1909, that's when they started telling the people.
The police was telling the people [about] the bay they got to go
across, Aqpayuatchiaq (Running River) is the border, just like Demar-
caton Point, the one for the States. |...] Aqpayuatchiaq is the Yukon
border from Northwest Territorles, that's the one, yeah. [...] Well, that
time Stringer was at Herschel Island too, he was down there that
time. He used to come-around here once in a while. Then it must be
about 1909 too. [...] Bishop Stringer he was the minister that time
PT90-8A:6).

Onee I could remember when we went for Christmas, I think
around 1928, around there sometime. When we went for Christmas,
Uqalisuq was a special constable then. They say when people
gambled, he would tell the police and make them to go to count
then. They say he was a really tough guy. And when 1 grew up he
would always put his police hat away in a went, 2 police hat, These
hats, the police’s hat, long ago 3 round hat. He also bouglit some
police pants, They told him to take the yellow strips off along the
sides there, They told him few tmes but he never try and take them
off, he just wears them like that when he tmavels places. So the
people were always scared of him. When he finally passed away,
they threw them away because they got wet, He got his hat from the
inspector around there, (IA90-35A:5)
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The Police

The Hudson's Bay Company viewad the whalers
of Herschel Iskand as unwelcome competition, They
reported the untaxed trade goods entering Canada
with the whalers. The Canadian government was slow
to respond but in 1903 two members of the MNorth-
west Mounted Police (later known as the Royal
Northwaest Mounted Polics, 1904-1919 and then as the
Royal Camadian Mounted Police, 1919-present) were
sent to the island (Backstoce 1986:279). The role of
tha police was not only to enforce Canadian arimiral
taws and custom's duties on Herachel Iskand but also to
represent Canadian soveraignty on the Yukon North
Slope. Peter Thrasher exphins:

The police at Herschel Ishind also hired some
Inuvialuit as "spectal constables”. Ishmael remembers:
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The police also patrolled from Herschel Island to
Fort McPherson, Rampart House and Fort Yukon
reporting on game conditions, fur trade, weather, and
to bring the mail, The annualk patrol from Fort
McPherson ended tragically when Inspector Fitzgerald
and three constables died of exposure. (Steela
1936:154). Albert Oliver talks about the help that
police received from Inuvialuit and indian guides:

Starting in the 1920s, the police also started to
Issue game licenses and register trap fines (ingram and
Dobrowolsky 1989 127-28). Levi Grelst, an Jdupiat
from Ataska, remembers:

Dora Malegana recalls a time when the law was
not yet strictly enforced. Her mention of Yukon seems
to imply the inland Yukon area (probably the Old
Crow Flats):

Ironically, sorne Inuvialuit who had been trapping in
the Old Crow Flats area for many years were declined
permission to reglster trap lines. Ishmael Alunik, who
was bomn in the Old Crow Flats had a spedal arrange-
ment

Just the ones from McPherson, they would make short cut over
the mountains gver here to Old Crow to bring mail and news and
one of them is Gerard Chicksi (Siksignaluk), he would wravel with the
police over to Old Crow and down to the coast with them. Long ago,
also Old Lazarus Sittichinli and them would help and guide the
police at that time long ago and would travel over 500 miles over the
mountains with them, They would just make short cuts.

That trail over the mountains have killed lots of people, also
police. They would freeze to death or starve 1oo.l..] They would
always try themselves that's why. They always want to go alone even
when some Indians or others want to help them. They always sald
they could do it, then they would have trouble travelling by them-
selves! There was lots of natives that would help them even Big
Louie. [...] Fred Cardinal’s dad. [...]

They say when he came back with them from Old Crow they
had hard ime travelling too because there was so much deep snow
and no food too. And he couldn’t see very well and had nothing at
the time with that police patrol. At one time they saw moose tracks
and rght there they stopped and told the police to make camp there
while he’d go look for that moose following the tracks. And he was
very good on snowshoes. As he went not far, he shoot few tmes
and he knew those white people were almast starving and now they
had food. So he killed and started skinning the moose half way and
brought just enough for meal and went to them. And there, they
stayed for few days. Only when they had enough strength they went
again and made it. (AQ90-12A,7-8)

So when we left in 1923 and got to Kuugruaq some white men
from Nome over there heard also about this one who caught five
hundred white foxes, these ones also tried to go east over there from
Koyukuk but they were told that each person is to go across by
paying one hundred and fifty dollars each. Although one could go
across just to go visit. (Kisauq 1981:604)

It was so goed in them days. The hunting had no law g0 we
could go even in the Yukon and Alaska. The only thing was that the.
Alaska people were not to set taps in Canada. Just by the ocean they
would set traps. Also Old Arey would hunt by ocean and shore and
reach Yuuqyaaq. He would hunt like that. (DM90-13B:9)
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After thar 1 came down by the Babbage River and also reached
Old Crow ngaln (o the deia up there, When I went up there, the
Loucheux people found my tracks they followed thern and found
me, they never had any blankets, those two, John Kendl and diem. T
had big cider down blanket. I sleap like that, thae one dme. But us
we stayed Lide ways over. Before that they did not want us In their
land, me and Kayumq over these, Then Jack Frost find out ane
because too he was our good friend from our parents too. So the
Indinn agent knew | was bomn up there, | ¢ould tap up there any-
where und anytime, Put later on Tiook my trps off and never went
back agaln. (IA90-35B:5)

L...1 that ume, them two Qangmalik, they nuke them dig Uselr
own grive the day before they hang them. Made them vislt the
people the day before they hang them, One of them, [...I he didat
like it when people asked him he was golng 1o die because he
figured he didnt deserve to be hanged, Bul the other one didnh
mind because he killed enocugh men. (J90-31A:5)
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Many Inuvialuit elders were quick to reall "peopla
were hanged” by the police, Elght Inult wers charged
with murder between 1923 and 1928 and tried at
Herschel Island. In 1923, two Inult from the
Coppermine area were sentenced o death and hanged
in February 1924 (Staele 1936:241). They seem to hava
been the only two [nult ever hanged on the iskand,
Jimrity Jacobzon was on the island at the tima , as his
adopted father Philip Nauyaq was procuring dog foed
for the police. He describox what happenod ta the two
men bafore they wero hanged:
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Another case invalved a young mother who had
killed her lllegitimate baby {(Kemp 19581 14). This
incident might have been the source of the following
story told by Dora Malegana:

In 1931, the polica headquarters at Herschel Island
was movad to Aklavik and the police station was closed
in 1933, In response to an influx of liiuplat immigrants
frem Alaska and to a minor gold rush on the Firth
River, the Herschel detachment was reopened In £948
but it was to be parmanently closed in 1964 (Ingram
and Dobrowolsky [98%:139). In the 1950s and [960s,
the peolice also began a dog breeding program. Agnes
Gruben White, who was married to an RCMP officer
in the early 1960¢, recalls:

Pollce came when they were golng to have hearing in our house
in Qaiffuqvik, We could not understand, my uncle Archie kgaqtuaq
was thelr spokesperson. [...] She threw her child away. And then,
when they got there, they saved her. The people that had court
saved her. And then he let them have him for brother-in-law . She
had no husband [...]. They really helped her out, my auntie Kuttuq
too. She mally mlked for her. They never took her because they
helped her. Right there they really helped her. That was the first time
I ever saw police. (DM90-13A:12)

When they came around there, they started to have court, She
knew what the woman had been doing down there. [...] Those
people feel so sorry for her. They made her get marmied, they start to
help her and she got off free. They made her get married to help her
out, [...] Xt was really scary when they got pregnant, they could kil!
them! A girl always heard that she shouldn't get pregnant if she was
not marred. I always heard that I'm not supposex to get pregnant
before I got married. If they did that agaln, they were polng to kil
them, put them to Jail and hang them. [ heard a few peaple got
hanged In Herschel Island. [...] Every time, when people used to do
something wrong, the police used 1o hang them. (DM50-14A:10-11)

We had about seventy dogs. They come in from Norman Wells,
They were breeding the dogs. They were Siberlan huskles. [..]
Around middle November, they ftew in Nicky the famous dog from
California, He used 1o be In movies. That dog was here. We had to
take care of him carefully so that nothing would happen to the dog.
They wanted to use the dog to bread, (AGW91-11A:2)

They were real tiny small dogs. I didn't think 106 truch of them,
We had seventy of them in the comal, The tied up ones, we had ten
of them, plus two teams. It would be about twenty dogs. I have
pictures of them. From here RCMP was to make their patrol right to
Qld Crow. They leave Herschel Island and BAR-B, it's DEW line site
at Stokes Polnt. From Stokes Point to the lowest part of the moun-
tains, then hit across to Old Crow. And from Old Crow to McPherson
and Arctic Red and Aklavik and Inuvik and Tuk. Back to Inuvik and
Aklavik, BAR-two, Blow River. It takes them about month and half
back to Stokes Point along the coast and back to Herschel. They did
this once. In Tuk they did pretty much the zame.

I was never part of any of them but I sure made their clothes!
Thelr parkas and mitts, their liners, mukluks. I used to make an awful
Iot of bread buns for them. There was three of them. Every year |
have to do it over and repair. Pretty much doing it over and over.
(AGWI1-11A:5)
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Long ago 1 used to travel with Lennie and Gus Astagard. Travel-
ling with boat. I was only about 15, and then steady going on every
summer till about twenty. I was twenty then. [...) I used to be among
them. I know lots of people that stayed at Tapqrq hunting whales
and those Qikigtaqrayuk’s ships. Pedersen used to go over there and
there were schooners from Hanks Island trading their foxes, There
was lots of them, quite a few, One tme, Hudson’s Bay's boat, a big
ship, got in the sand bar not too far from Qlkigtaqmayuk. The ship
was in the sand bar for two days. They couldn't pull the ship out:
Then, Captaln Pedersen was asked by the Hudson's Bay Company to
pull their ship out of sand bar. He never would say “yes”, he wanted
more foxes!

Well, Captain Pedersen, he had a big ship. Then he asked the

49

After the White People Came

The Trading Companies

Many locals wera attracted to Herschel Island by
the cheap goods offered by the whalers in return for
fresh meat. For example, even after they started paying
duty, the whalers were selling one hundred pounds of
flour for $2 while it would cost $30 at the Hudson's
Bay Company's store at Fort McPherson (Bockstoce
1986:276). Bacause of this compatition at Herschel
Istand, the Hudson's Bay Company did not established
a trading post there undl 1915, after the collpse of the
whaling industry (Ingram and Dobrowolsky |989:78).

Saarting during the last years of commercil
whaling, Independent traders had already estzblished
parmerships with the Inuvialuit when the Hudson's Bay
Company arrived at Herschel Isknd, Captain C. T,
Pedersen was one of those traders who was particu-
larly well remembered by Inuvialuit elders. He first
came to Herschel Island with the whalers n 1694 and
soon entered the fur market. [n 914, he joined the H.
Liebes and Company with whom he opened a trading
post at Shingle Point in 1917. The Hudson's Bay
Company was quick to get into the competition and
opened ancther post there in 1920 (Ingram and
Dobrowolsky 1989:163). After a salary dispute In 1923,
Pedersen left H. Liebes and Company and formed the
Northern Yhaling and Trading Company the same
year. He fater formed the Canalaska Company to
comply with Canadian trade laws. Prassure from his
own trading company and the Hudson's Bay Company
drove H, Liebes and Co. out of business in a few years
{Ingram and Dobrowolsky 1989:168). Competition
between independent traders and the Hudson's Bay
Company was rampant. Jonah Carpenter recalls the
following incident between Captain Pedersen and the
Hudson's Bay Company:
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Jimmy Jacobson remembers going to Herschel
Istand In the mid 1930s and witnessing some of the
effects of the competidon for furs:

In 1926, Pedersen built a warehouse on Herschel
Istand where he met his agent George Washington
Porter avery summer. Pedersen also supplied inde-
pendent traders and was met avery summer by
numarcus Inuvialult at Herschel lsland, Parsis Gruben
remembers:

Kathleen Hansen went with her parents to
Herschel Iskand and waited for Captaln Pedersen:

Pedersen sold not only white man goods but also
bowhead whale muktuk in seal contalners (pokes) and
reindeer furs which Inuvialuit espechally lfked. Kathleen
Hansen was told the following story by her father:

Hudson's Bay Company “If you give me sixty white foxes, I'll go and
pull your ship out of sand bar.” [...] Hudson's Bay Company gave
Pedersen foxes then he went and pulled thern owt before west wind
came In. They were afraid the wind might broke up the ship. (JC90-
8A:D)

Caplain Pedersen used to bring a lot of beer by wooden barrels,
big wooden bamelsi Rum and they buy them by cases, white people
only. People bring their furs, Captain Pedersen put up the price,
trying to get all the Eskimas' fur,

Finally I was about thinteen years old when I came back with my
dad. Bonnycastle got so mad! My dad sold his furs for fifty dollams
each to Captain Pedersen. When they got drunk, Bonnycastle who
was a big Hudson’s Bay man, gave my dad a black eye! I never
forget it. They were “fur crazy” that Ume! (JJ91-10B:1)

A few people owned big boats when they travelled to
Qikiquaaryuk (Herschel Island), The people with no boat would
travel with the ones who did. I don't think they had to pay. If
someone had none, everyone helped them. The people without
boats plitched up tents, (PG30-34A:5)

At the ime, there was lots of houses with people in them, There
was lots of people here when my dad first brought us here. We came
here to wait for the boats to come. Some would put tents on thelr
boats because their was not enough room in their boat. There was
lots of them, and then they would have a big drum dance. There was
lots of fun that tme and they played ball while waiting for Captain
Pedersen.

They were never short of food, they put out their stored food
from thelr Ice houses. Specially on Sunday after the service. Umaug
and them were good at that when they were here. They always let
people eat here, (KH90-26B:2)

My dad always gets everything at Captain Pedersen's. Even
mukwk in a poke. They say Ole Andreasen's wife, when Captain
Pedersen start to unload, she would watch for it because they
wanted to eat blue whale's muktuk. They would watch on the shore.
They say that day they were going to unload them. While being on
the shore, Ole Andreasen’s wife, Atugyik was her name, she uied to
be the first to get some. So she picked five pokes. [...] It's a container
made out of sealskin. Captain Pedersen would bring some with holes
in then. Also put lots of muktuk in them and bring them.

And after she (Atugyuk) got some, she went into Captaln
Pedersen's office. Mr. Porter was his book keeper. My dad must have
been standing dose arcund there, he wanted something too. In the
meantime, that Aturyuk said “*Uichuporter me | take five pokes™
Then she tumed around to face others, she said *Me, while [ was
thinking of whale oil I have been saying rdfcbuponer instead!”
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My dad never forgot what she said. She wanted to be flrst one.
She said because she was so happy of what she took that she said
that. Instead of “Mr. Porter” she said “Utchuporter”! (KH90-1B:2)

Only Pimhinailuk (Pedersen's) boat, and Bayechimo, the Hudsen's
Bay's boat, long age. It could land only at Herschel Island that ume.
They never try to land to us. Kaligauaq (Edward Arey) had a small
boat and went to Herschel Island. He hauled some stuff for my dad.
Sometimes Nalpaaqtualuk would bring them. [...] I know when he
brought stull for us. I was already a big girl that time. Also he
brought stull for us in winterdme, after it froze up, before Christmas.
My father and Alex went and got stuff too from Herschel Island.
Sometimes just Alex and 1, when my father was about to finish.

When the days were getting longer, your (Renle Arey’s) grand-
parents, when they spent winter, they always go get some swff. You
know Nunaluk? From Nunaluk they got stuff, from there. That's the
time when my father was about to finish. How many winters was he
a storekeeper? Maybe three. He could not read all right but Mickey
Gordon and Edward Arey always showed him the papers when they
came to see the store and my father. When the Gordons used to have
no more store. At that ime Pirahiailuk (Pedersen) used to haul some
stuff out for Panalq too. Only my father was left.

Also way in Alaska there was Panalq In Qaaktuqvik, that is Barter
Island. The store that side. Mickey Gordon that one, he had a store at
Demarcation. But he stopped being a storekeeper before his father.
Them Gordons, Fred Gordon before he ran out, he alsc had store.
Thelr father Tom Gordon was a storekeeper. Maybe it is still up there,
an old house, still up at Demarcatlon. They moved it from Barter
Island. [...] Litle Yaaqruaq too had stuff around there. Panaiq also on
this slde of Hiku (Stku; Icy Reef ) and Plnugraluk, he also had store
in a small creek. When he finished we also finished and went to the
delta, all of us. (DM90-13A:88-9)

They never used money! We didn’t know about money then.
They would trade with white foxes. Us children never knew or used
money then. What they get from the store, that was what we had.
Bisculis and other white man food was good enough for us, There
was butter and oranges too then. In them days we never had every-
thing they have now. :

Only later at Qlkiqtagruk (Herschel Island) there was some
candles that Is hard to break. We used to play with them and stretch
them; they would get long because they were hard to break! We hold
them with our teeth. They were 5o big and good candles at the time.
We used to see who would break them flrst. [...] At the ume they
were good, not like now.

Also there was pickles in wooden barrels, then, When they were
empty, we would use them for making sour dough. They were very
good! Also we used the butter contalners, those large cans. Long ago,
they were all wooden boxes or contalners, not papers. They say
some people around here stll have these kind of containers.

That Is how we lived long ago. We didn't have everything they
have now. Also there was rice and no potatoes or bananas, no other
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In order to be more efficient, the Hudson's Bay
Company hired former whalers and local Inuit to run
many of thelr Arctic posts. One of them was Dora
Malegana's father, Irish Kluruya. He was the store-
keeper at Qaffiluqgvik (Clarence Lagoon) in the 1920s.
Dora Malegara remembers:

Dora Malegana reczlls some of the items that
were traded In exchange for furs:
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The hiring of local peopla as storekeepers by the
Hudson's Bay Company has been described as a
disastrous experiment since “these people, with strong
toaning toward the Inuit way of life, extended credit
which could not possibly be pald back™ (ingram and
Dobrowolsky 1989:159), This explination contrasts

|
|
|
|

fresh stulf like we get now. Only rice, raisins and raw apples Lo cook.
They was lots of raw fiuils (en, they would comne in wooden hoxes
too. There was hardly any can containers then, no jrs containers
too. The coffee would be in tin cans, you'd have to open therm. That
is whai they had then, when [ could remember.

Never had firs or plastic, And later on, they had aluminum dishes
and others with flewer designs on them. They call them “youny
seaweed™ Lecause they looked like one, They were brown In ¢olor,
big bowls, also pots, [..] They were not like cups that we have now,
Just lots of color dishes we had. Lang ago too, when we lived, when
golng with dog team, we used tn cans for cups when we lived uvp In
the mountalns. That Iz how we made o living long ago; we keep
them good [and we did] not throw them away. The lard contalners,
we keep themt good for something too. [, Even when we come
Ivere, they used them. Nowadays, we are lving llke some rich
people. Sometlmes we fust have 1o bave the dghe things all the dme.
{DM90-13B:6-7)
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When ho (Dora's father) camped 1o different places he would
help the families there who had not much to eat. They would charge
it down to the Hudsan’s Bay Co. At the tme, we never really knew
how he did things he did, [...) Ona or two times, me zind Alex went
to bring goods down. One time, we campex a1 Paul Uqalisuk, they
wanted us to camp. At that dme thig fadly had not too much to eat,
just seal oil or whale oil they had, not ¢yen ten! So, we brought them
same goods like oats to riake them eat.

When we got hame my dad asked us what we opened from
them goods. Al this rime, evenything [should have beenl signed for,
S0, he charged us und when we got whito foxes, we had to pay (or
them. |..] We had 1o go umpping for that! |As he was talking) 1
thought “shy is he asking things like thar ?* All thls me he charged
JUto usl When we got white foxes, we pald him back.

We gave coffee, butter, little blt of sugur too. Lard and bisculis
and tea oo, She askexd for biscults too. Then we say “ted oo™ 7 She
say “yes™. So we gave || too. We never opened rice (or tern fust dry
frult and apples. Then | thought T'll never do thal again. 1 never knew
about all that, I thought that they just gave it.
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with Dora Malegana®s account on how she and her
brother repaid in furs the value of foad they had givan
10 a poor family along the Yukon coast:
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Kathleen Hansen remembers that her father
worked for the Hudson's Bay Company, hauling goods
from Herschel Island to Shingle Polne:

With the ¢rash of fur markets, Pedersen finally
sold out to the Hudson's Bay Company and left
Herschel Iskand for the tast time in 1936 (Bockstoce
1986:343). He continued to correspond with Inuvialuit
friends and sent plctures of his southern residence. A
year after Pedersen’s departure, the Hudson's Bay
Company closed fts post at Herschel Istand. With the
dosing of the trading pests, people from the Yukon
north coast and from the Alaska north slope moved to
Aldavik and Tuktoyaktuk. An era had past. Dora

Malegania exphins:

All this ime, what we gave away had (o be written down. But
my hid Ffixed it. My dad never wrote very much but Edward Arey
alvays helped him. They all worked on the papers afier that. Mickey
Gordon was there too, helping. It took them all night. At the time,
my dad never read good. (DMS(O-14B:3-4)

After he finished trading with them, my dad would leave us
here. He would po alone and haul things to Tapgaq (Shingle Point)
because there was a store there. He would carry stuff there to
Tapqaqg, stuff for the store that belonged to the Hudson's Bay.
(KH90-26B:3)

There was no more store to go to. [...] there was no store at that
time in Qaagrurvik (Barter Isiand, Alaska). That's why we started
coming this way, whera the store was. That's the time all those
Alaskan people started coming this way. It was too far where we
lived to get groceries. That's the time Captaln Pedersen'’s boat quit
coming arcund. They all started comlng this way. Captain Pedersen
had quit bringing frelght down to Qlkiqtagruk (Herschel Island).
When he quit coming around all those people started moving to the
delta, right to Tuktoyaktuk, even to Kittigaryuit, (DM90-14A:5)
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1 remember in 1902 when this idba of Eskimos was staying at
Kltigraruit and dus big fa came on., This was when mos of the
Lskimos died off. 1 remember the time when the flu came on was
during the whaling season. It hadn't been long after the flu arrived
that the people began 1o die off, People died in thelr tents. People
diedt while titey were working on the whales. This was a deeadful
sipht, I ngnernber though I was very small.

All along the beach at Kittignryuit and the tents up on the hill,
people dying everywhere. Everywhere you looked people died. 1

remember there were so many people dying that they quit bothering
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The Epidemics

The arrival of white people alto meant the arrival
of diseases for which the locl population bad no
immunity. Many cpldemics drastically reduced the
numbor of people living along the coast which was
estimated to be about 300 during Frankfin's visit in
1825 (Yhimaker 1976:111). in 190, the village
Kittigaryuls was devasmated by a measles apldemic, Folix
Nuyaviak who was a young boy then, recalls;

(NMC 51446)
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The measles epldemic also reached Herschel
Istind. Hope Gordon heard about the terrible epidemic
from her father

In 191 a smallpox epidemic and in 1918 another
measles epidemic hit the local population of the Yukon
coast (Whittaker 1976:109-110). In 1928 an influenza
epidemic took the lives of over 300 people from the
Mackenzle Delta (Kemp 1958:126). ¥Yritten acoounts
(Kemp 1958: 122-123, Steele 1936:291) report six
deaths out of 24 Inuvialuit residing at Herschel Island
and nine out of 95 Inuvialuit at Shingle Point but the
number was probably higher. Dlamond Klengenberg
remembers being in Aklavik during the terrible Influ-
enza epidemic of 1928:

to make graves, At times they would just put two or three bodies
together and pile logs over themn. This was the way the graves were
fixed. Most of the older people died off and the middle-aged. We
also heard that in other whaling camps people were dying off too.

Now fall was coming on. [...] { remember the younger people
who were able o continue whaling or working on the whales did
so. However, they did not remain at Kittigaryuit, ‘They moved to the
other camp. There was silence all over, This is something people will
not forget for a long time, (COPE 1991, 1-14-02:3)

And then sometimes toq, they say everyone got red. [...1 They
were lots of Inuit people there at Qlkigagruk long ago. In the
summer they went and waited for the ship to come there. Most of
them died and every day they would bury someone. Already there
was a minister and my dad was there helping with the funerals. He
was helping the minister there, digging graves there, at the time at
Qikigtagruk, long time ago in 1902, Everyone was red. There was
lots sick with flu, It was measles, you know. It was that, everyone got
it. (HP90-24A:11)

We went to Aklavik in the spring. People got sick. When the
people got sick, there weren’t many good doctors. There were
doctors but they never really helped, when everyone got sick and
started dying, From everywhere we heard people were dying. From
Shingle Point on. All over even around here we heard people were
dying. It was too hot in Aklavik, which made it worst. The river was
hot angt thick. While the people had the flu, they spread it around.
Most of the tents along the coast, If you walk along the beach there
were no people to be seen outside. The only sound were the sick
people inside the tents. The sick people could no longer be helped. I
think it was because most of the people weme dehydrmted. They
didn’t have anyone to look afier them properly,

Alice Gruben and Eddle, I would mlk to them before I left to
work on the graves. 1 told them to give the sick people water. [ told
them to give the sick people walter, to those who were thirsty along
the coast. After 1 10ld them, they gave the people water, to the
Inuvialuit who were there. Sometimes I didn't go home all day,
working with the ministers.

Wallace Lucas, Michael and myself. The three of us worked
together. there was no one else to wark. People came from Tapqag
(Shingle Point) with boats to Aklavik, that s how a lot of them died,
We worked very hard then. There was no more body bags at the
end, and no more lumber [or coflins so the people were buried just
like that. We ran out. A lot of people died. I got sick for just one
night. When I awoke I was better. (DK9%3-33B:1-2)
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Long ago we were living over there in the East (around Baillie
Island). They said Bennet told them there was a big flu in Aklavik
and told them not to go. My mom and dad never listen to them.
When they came they set tent in Aklavik. Sarah Ross, Ross's wife, that
one was a best friend of theirs. Us too we had tent near them. My
sister was a bit bigger than [ was. My brother was younger. [...] They
were both slek too. They both never get up, only me was walking
around,

I must have been about two or three years old. My sister must
hava told me to give my brother a spoon to fead him, That's how he
is alive now. He would have died if he'd starved if I didn't ghve him a
drink. I don't remember how I looked after him. Well, they are eagy
to talk to when they are this big, I guess they undemstood them or
me. I would go on my mom and dad. When I got on them I would
find my mom's breast and feed on it. I didn't kniow they were dead. I
try to wake up my dad, They never moved. All that time they wene
both dead. I didn't know, My older sister and my brother were both
very sick, so they never bother to check my morm and dad. They said
only me was walking around.

When Sarah Ross was not too sick, she went and checked on my
parents. When she saw my parents were both not breathing she went
to see the minister. After she went to the minister they took us away
from there, before they got too stiff. They lat us separte then, (SM90-
3A:3-4)

When 3 lot of them died during the flu epidemic. Jlmmy
Jacobson’s adopted parents, Nauyaq, Nalpagrug's and Stanley’s
families died then. A lot of people died then. We were not allowed to
go around them so that we would not catch it. We had just arived
from Banks Island. Lots of people died. I never forgot Nauyaq's
children, They no longer had parents. [...] At Qikiqtaqryuk (Herschel
Island). And Naipaqtuq's family, Lucy Jacobson's parents, her adop-
tive parents. And Johnny Bemard, his younger sister Aql died there
also. I don't know where they were buried, we didn't see, so we
won't catch the flu. I don't know about the graves up there, GO
34B:1)

Everybody died off in 1928 because every house we went to, me
and Pat Kiltk and the kids, older elders [had] died off. The whole
village got cleaned out. I remember when I was looking for some-
thing to eat, 1 must have been pretty hungry looking for something to
eat, I went to Kublualuk. I was hungry. He fed me good, that's why I
never forget that meal. (J90-31A:1)

[..] when I was a kid, when everybody died off, we were a
bunch of kids, we went up there (the graveyard) because there was
no more eklers, they'd died off. And when we went up there, we
staried playlng around the graveyard we seen a dmgon. And [ was
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Sarzh Meyook lost both her parents in Aklavik
during the epidemic. She tells how she saved the life of
her baby brother:

The 1928 epidemic also reached Herschel Istand
and the police put everyone in quarantine (Kemp
1958:123). This might have helped stop the epidemic
west of the island but it was too fate for the Inuvialuit
living on Herschel Island, Persis Gruben, who was
visiting the istand with her parents during their annval
meeting with Captain Pedersen, recalls:

Jimmiy Jacobson lost his adopted parénu at
Herschel Istand and recalls going with other dhildren to
the graveyard:



After the White People Came

The great loss of life caused by the many epidem-
ics gave risa to a number of stortes of resdess spirits
that haunt Merschel Island. Ishmael Alunik exphins:

Sarah Meyook remembers beihg at Herschel Island
in the early 1940z and having a simllar experience:

the smallest and everybody took off arying and me chasing them
from behind. So Ithought, “Gee, anytime” I was getting tickly,
“anytirme I'm gonna get grabbecd"”. | looked behind, there was no
more dragon, so I started walking. Everybody left me long ways
because they was, they never looked back. (laughter). Yeah, that's
why [..] 1 remember Herschel Island pretty good because it must
have been that we put in a lot of tough days, eh? (J90-31A:3)

In thosa days some people would see a ghost long ago. They
say one person was walking around there between the houses, he
heard a flddling music 5o he went thers and there was no one there.
Also there was a sound of big square dance there but there was
none. He really heard them there. My wife too say thase graves up
there atways have light also they make hammer noise. Maybe the
spirits of them never go anywhere. (IA90-35B:1)

‘The people would go hunting seal in the ocean with the boat.
There was Meyook, Johnny, Foster and also Nell. They would go so
there was no men here when they would go. There was a female
dog outside our place and we had cur tent facing the big store. It
was getting just dark then and the men didn’t corne back home. So
me, Ruth and also Pamiuq were staying home and Annie was staying
up there. While that, all at once, there was good music coming from
the big old store like if there was a blg dance there, But there was no
one around and this big dance was going on out there. Ruth just
laughs when she is afraid I guess, and while this was happening the
dog out there was going round and round.

George Allen and his sister Adela ran really fast to get Annle and
they told Ruth to be quiet but she kept laughing louder as If she got
ticklish. We told her “Don’t laugh!” But she never changed. S0 we
could hear them dancing with music on. Whenever Annie came she
always brought her bible with her all the time. S0, she came [back]
with her bible and then we never heard them. [...] When the men
were hoire there was no music or thing like that around. Only when
they went away that was when we heard them playing music and
dancing. (SM%90-27B:9)
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BAR-| DEWLIne Auxary Sadan in 1972

It was a surprise o the people, you know. They're supposed 10
get Information from Yukon and our goverrunent just sald there was
iobs down there at Early Wamings. So they went to work and they
ncver knew they were coming. We never got information from up
this side, Even though they told us to go and work at Blaw River
fromy Aklavik. Some of them stayed Lhege long time, (IA91-14A:12)

When hey first sianted, [ even used to travel in dog team. Dogs
uscd 1o be inside the plane every day! Finally they lcamed how to go
in the plane, No problem! Marking out the air sulp where jt was
golng to be, Marking where the modules were going 10 be built. |
used to haul elght hundred pound engine with my dog team, Finally
when I found out my dogs gel paid, 1 bring more dogs so I could get
more morteyl That tme It was a dollar a dog and they feed them, ¢hl
Il was good because those doys o dollar was like len dollars now. [..]
Anybody who wanted to work and you could pant in as mueh hours.
Could even sleep two, three hours unloading planes day and nlpht
with fuel. They comae by 45 gallon barrels. So, you fust put in your
ume sheet. Was making big money that time because DC-3 were
coming day and night and you had (o be up.

L. There was about three hundred to cach camp, Because there
must have been about hundred tents, twvo man to a tent, and then
they got n kitehen. When the whistle blows, st running for the
dining raom{...} Took about two, three years (to build), (J91-10A:1-2)
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(NAC, PA 143814)

The DEW Line

In dvo 1950s, a second big “Invasion™ from the
widte man occurred along the Yukon coast as well as
in othar parts of the Arctic. This was tha creation of
the Distant Early Waming Line (DEW Linc) bulie
during the cold war pariod. The Inuvialulc did not seem
to be consuked about the construction of the DEWY
Line stations, as Ishrmael Alunik teils:

Jimmy Jacobson was a janitor for the Nicholson
Polnt DEWYLIne station (BAR 4). He also worked on
the conseruction of the Yukon DEVYLine stations.

Many Inuvialuit adapted their rapping economy to
wage hbour, Tha naxt change would come with the oil
companies in the [970s.
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.

Schooner at Harscha! lilind, (930,
(NAC, PA-100599)
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5. Making a Living

1910s

Seasonal Round

Mot all the [nuvialult who exploited the resources
of the Yukon ccast followed the same seasonal round.
Although some people lived along the coast ona
permanent basis, most came there during the summer-
time to hunt whalas and carbbou, and o fish. Once
trading companies established posts along the coast,
tha Inuvialuit also went to Shingle Point and Herzchel
Island to trade their furs. The seasoral round of the
Inuvialuit varied depending on where they spent thelr
winter, Many wintered in the Mackenzie Delta, others
inkand around the Old Crow area and some along the
Yukon eoast and at Herschet Islind. To give an Idea of
the diversity of subsistence activities along the coast,
the narratives of five Inuvialuit summarizing different
seasonal patterns are presented The narratives are
grouped into different time periods covering the
decades between the 1910s and the 1950s.

Fafl

They stayed at Aklavik nearly all fall. Then they start thinking to
go back. Lots of people then, lots of peoplel Then we stayed arcund
for 2 while. [...] Down at the point, the people would have tents set
up. That is how they make [a] living then. (RA91-15A:2-3)

They would pick those quaggat (green plants) too because they
store them for winter. As they travelled on the Jand, they would pick
them. Quaqqat, also roots, when they go to dela they would pick
roots. They would plck them for the winter. They also cooked them
and put some In whale oll. They are very good. (RA91-15A:4) [...| In
the fall when it was getting dark, [... they all go out to spend fall time
out there {the delta). (RA91-15A:10)

Winter

Also they wintered out there (the delwm). [...] Then, where we stay
for winter, they pull out the boat ashore and put it away for winter,
then walt for freeze up. When it freezes up we would start hooking
fish and set nets, We work with fish then. That was how the people
were when we were growing up. (RA91-15A:10-11)

6l

Rhoda Allen's parents wintered in the Mackenzie
Delta and trapped muskrats there in the spring.
Summer was spent along the ooast, and in the fall they
returned in the delta. Rhoda Alien describes how she
lived with her parents when she was a child in the
1910
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All winter long they stayed out there till near Christmas and [...}
when 1It's dlose to Christmas, they would all go with dog team. They
would camp on the way. I have seen the people that never keep stll.
Long ago they hunted in winter all the time. After hunting they go to
Aklavik for Christmas and when it was over Christmas and New Year
they all go home, They all po back to thelr winter camps, they
wintered at their camps.

Spring

When it's springtime, when it's good for trapplng, when it’s really
poed for hunting, they would start trapping then. They would all
move out In a tent and trap. Then they stay out for a while tapplng
muskrat. When the spring is really here, they go back to their houses
and stay there,

Then when it's time to go with cances. They hunt with thern.
When they go eardy evening they come back In the morning, they
shoot and pet lots of muskrat. There s lots of them when they take
them out from the canoes. How long would it take us to skin themn!
Then afier staying there hunting muskrats, when it’s over, they would
put all their winter tools away and get ready to go to Aklavik. They
leave their winter camps.

Surnmer

When in Aklavik they stayed there for awhile. That's when the
steambont would come too, in the summer. When the boat came
there wis lots of people going down In front of it. I don’t know how
long it stayed there, then it goes.

Then us, my dad take us down to Uklivik (Kendall Island) in
mid-July for whalinpg. There, we hunted whales and worked with
them. There was people going down from Aklavik too. They always
go down and stay at Ukiivik there. There was lots of people poing
down to Ukitvik to hunt whales, Then all summer they stored food,
[...] mid-July, they go whaling all summer long.

Sometimes in August they all started back up. After they get all
the muktuk and ocil they wanted to bring with them. They would
camp few times on the way up. Then they bring their food to their
winter camps and take them out of the boat.

‘Then they leave for Aklavik. They don't stay there long. They
would take off townrds Tapgaq (Shingle Point) to hunt cardbou also
to pick bemies too in August, Then, they would camp here and thers
locking for berres and hunting carlbou once in a while, till they
reach Tapqaq. That Is how we were, just hunting all the time, (RAS1-
15A:11)

Long ago my dad used to bring us down to the coast to Tapqag.
l..] We would stay there for a long while. Because there was a
minister and Umaug and them {...) also there was a store then at
Tapqaq, long ago. There was lots of people and houses inside the
bay there. Then after staying for awhile, the big ship would come
around. We have seen those with three masts on them. [...] They
would anchor in front of Tapgaq. Then they would unload the
freight there. They were things like whaleboats from the ships. They
would grab them and bring them up. These things were for the
stores there, We were making a living there for 2 while,

They say the people are poing to Qtkiqtaqruk (Herschel Island)
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with boats because they say Pedersen has anived at Qikigtagruk. The
boats would all go out to the ocean. 1don’t know how many days it
took them to reach there, They would stay at Qikiqtagruk for awhile
just being with Pedersen and buying stuff. There was a lot of people
then at Qikiqtagrul, Siglit too. Also police there, stores and Hudson’s
Bay store, also ministers staylng inside the bay. They would stay for
.most of summer.

Then they start back again. They would make camps where the
old amping places are, After camping around and hunting earibou
for awhile, after they looked for food, they'd stant going upward
towards Aklavik. ‘Then after they hunted around, the women would
pick berries, they would pick yellow berries. After that they leave for
Aklavik. They would camp here and there before reaching Aklavik.
When they are travelling to Aklavik they would camp around. (RAD1-
15A:2-3)

1920s

Making a Living

As I could remember, we were living way up in the mountzins
near Old Crow because they always tavelled to Old Crow ofien. We
were together with these people: Agnaqguniaqg's son, Putugug, Mrs,
Arey, my cousin. Natmulk’s brother and my dad always go to Font
Yukon. That was what I remetnber way up there. I was very small.
{.-] They all make living like hunting, fishing. They would go hunting
caribou way up behind the big hills. They go where there is no hills.
Where we used to make living, there was almost just lakes up there.
After, we would travel back down from the mountains |...] with
backpacks. It was very hard sometimes, as I remember. We travelled
along the Yukon and around Patruktuk (Demarcation Point), on
these big hills around the big river. [..] From there we wauld get that
far and reach Qaiflugvik (Clarence Lagoon), way from up there. [...]
There, I remember very little up around Qaliilugvik. We stayed there
for winter [...] (DM90-13A:3-5)

Summer

In summertime, we would go somewhere around Yukon and
around Patuktuk (Demarcation Point). There are big mountalns up
that way. We would stay iround in summertime and hunt around
there. Up to Qikiqraqruk (Herschel Island) they would go too with
dog team. They go by Qlkiqtagruk River (Firth River), they would
reach there and go for arctic char. Up there along Qikiquaqruk River,
the mouth of Qlkigtagruk River. [...] There was Patukk (Demarca-
ton Polnt), where we always eamped and there are places where we
went fishing in summer. There is Blue Hole too up there too. [...| That
is where most peaple flsh and hunt, (DM90-134:6-8)
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Dora Malegama, born in 1916, spent her childhood
around Qaifiluqvik (Clarence Lagoon). She remembers
her parents travelling inknd to the Old Crow area and
coming badk to the coast in the summer.

In the 1920s, her parents had a permanent home
at Chifiuqyik (Clarence Lagoon). Dora Malegana
describes the seasonal activities during that period:
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Cache at Hesschel bhind, 1925,

{NAC, PA-(72848)

Spring
Sen) was our main foed for living, Before seals we had hawks

and seagulls down there. [..] Then we tried to live by seals afier that.
(DM9)-21B:9) At springtime before the carbou come, we would just
have seal, because they come up by that time, when it warms up.
When spring comes, when It's warm, the seals would come up and
stay on the Ice. If you don't get enough of food from seal you would
never have enough food Lo eat, but then there is ptamigan, when
they come In ime. I's very hard sometimes, (DM90-13A:8-9)

In the moming, we alwys went (o get some ptannigans for our
breakfast. Sometimes we didn't even have breakfast. Well {n spring-
time, we always ran shon of food. That time we used so much food
because we get around so much. And also we didn't have very much
white man's foed either. (DM91-21B:5)

Then In spring maybe In June, before July, when lots of caribou
come, we would get lots of them, We had ice house at Qaiftuqvik,
we would store lots thare. We used the Hudson's Bay old ice house
too because no one ame for the Hudson’s Bay anymore at the dme.
(DM90-13A:9)

When carlbou ¢ome, we have plenty of caribou and lats of it
too. “Springime caribou”. My Lither aleays made us get lots of
caribou becruse we had two lce houses, over that way. [We) dred
them too, He always made a big tecpee. We had a teepee to dry
them. You know thase haigug, teepee like this. Indian’s kind.
(DM91-218:9)

Summer

[...] we went to Alaska to visit in sununertime, that way. Maybe
just as fag as Qaakiugvik (Barter Island), {That wasi way before [ got
mamded. Those Alaskans over there at Paituktuq (Demarcadon Point).
And on this side of Pattukiug, those Nunamlut (Inknd people), they
were just making a living there. We camped thene with them and we
ended up staying for the whole summer. [...] They wer: lots af theny,
those Nunamlut like Kalinfian and them, Tulugaq and them and
Kayutuq and them, They were all golng to pass summer there. [...]

When we were over tere, my father asked me and Alex (Don's
brother) to go and hunt cribau again. e tokd us that the caribou
werg just coming through again. And he sald that soon we will have
no meat again. Of course me and Alex had 10 go hunt carlbou agaln,
to over therel We set our tent around thene, somewhere. When Alex
really got lows of carlbou, we put them in the ice house too. We hang
some up also, ke that.

We had a hard dre. | was lazy alright because 1 didn't want to
leave the Alaskans, I mean the people over there, That's the way my
[ather dalways nmade us do our living that dme. Well, at that time you
had 1o prepare for your food always in springtime.

FaltfWinter

And then again, In falliime we had lo work on fish and then we
back-packed up there, lo where we were going. Then when we
came down [rom up there, agaln we go camping towards Alaska, 10
the mountains. That's just how we started making a living like thar at
that lime. By doing nodung, we can't gel whatever we need for the
long winter. Can't get nothing. (DM91-21B:9-11)
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That Is how we lived long ago. In the fall we would go to the
upper hills because my dad wanted to hunt up there, We always had
2 good supply of food. Sometimes It lasted till we could get seals on
the ocean. (DM90-13B:13) [...] We would still go places, also o Alaska
for Christmas, over the other side of Demarcadon Polnt, when we
were growing up, (DM-13A:8)

We lived like that long age. We were making a living that way.
Sometimes, we ran short of white man's food. They would load up
their sled sometimes, in springtime. They always helped my father
Kayutuq and them and those Areys, Also anybody who wanted to
help. They always brought back the load with him before the ice
goes away, I mean before there's water along the shore. They used to
do that, they helped each other make a living. 1...] That's the way they
used to make a living at that time. (DM91-21B:9-11)

1930s

Making a Living

l..1 my parents and grandparents used to winter at Old Crow. My
grandad used to winter there at Old Crow. My grandad used to fish
for people there, for a white man, a trader there. They were fishing In
the summer, making dry fish. While they were there my parents
would go up in the springtime. When the tapping was over we
would come back. (F190-5B:1)

Winter

We spent our winter at Iiqillgplk. From over there, we drove our
dogs around here and spent springime around here. They get
caribou from across there. When they get caribou, we go and bring
them with an umiag (boat). (F191-23A:4)

Spring

In springtime, we try to hunt ducks and ptarmigans |...|. Around
here In the sea, you got not much places to hunt because there are
no muskrats or mbbits but there are ptarmigans and ducks in spring-
time around there. That's the way they do their hunting around here.
Around near the {02, my father used to always get some seals and
also ugPuk (bearded seal). And from the hills there is always lots of
carlbou. We aloays eat caribou. (FI91-23A:3-4)
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Fred Inglangasuk remembers spending time with
his grandparents who used to winter in the Old Crow
Fhts in the 19203 and in the 1930s:

In the 1930, Fred and his parents also spent
winter at ltqiligpik (Whale Bay) and spring around
Qatglaluk (Prarmigan Bay):
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1940s

Sarah Meyook and her family would often go to
the Firth River in the [9405 when her father-In-law was
alive, She recalls their activities along the Yukon North

Slope:

Spring

One spring we stayed at Firth River waiting for the jeet to go
away, With moose and caribou we made dry meat, that's how we
eat, Also, we had trout too. They always had nets for trout up there.
[..] Maybe because it's close to the rocks and when ice move it
makes the ice roll over, that's how the ice move. The ice rolls and all
of a sudden the water comes up right away. When the water went
down, they always got some fish for us. But they always put their
things away before the water comes up. [...]

Summer

And then we started to go back to the coast with our back-pack.
We were coming across the river with our stuff, with a big thick
canvas, Those big red thick canvas. With that we covered our dogs
and our stuff and went 2cross while there was no wind. They
brought us acrass with a boat. [...] After we ¢rossed with the boat
they pull it up. And us we left some of our stuff and pack back to go
back to coast by Yuuqyaaq near Qikiqtaqruk (Herschel Island). This
wis in summertime, in June, We went there in June, lots of dogs you
knew. [...] We put back-packs on them. Some are pulling sled with
hamess on. Irish was one year old and Pater was six years old when
once they walked for twelve hours those two children! Only when
we made camp, they stopped.

[..] We went down in June, before the eggs were hatched. At the
same time we went by Yuugyaaq to pick up our food, flour and
sugar which were at our Yuuqyaaq stage. We left some so we could
have food when we would get back. We were almost out of flour so
we came back. [...]

When we returned to make camp at Yuuqyaagq, there was lots of
caribou. There was lots and they were not afrald. We had our dops
in harness pulling the sled. In summertime, we rode in the sled
sometimes. Lots of carbou. They were all together going that way
towards Alaska. They were not afraid because there wete lots. Some
would run away 4 bit, when we got too dose but we never tried to
harm them. We killed one only when we camped. (SM90-4B:5)
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1950s

Making a Living

They moved here (Arvakvik) because Plarmigan Bay was to out
of place to hunt carbou, [..] It became easier for them because they
were geiting old by the time and they wanted a central place where
they could keep everything here, all their belongings, all thelr livell-
hood stuff. 1191-248:1)

Spring

In springtime, we'd go up to Kivalinatchaiq for about a week,
untl my Dad hunted enough caribou and just a few fish. Just enough
so that it keep us going. And then he'd make a pit in there and put
haif dried caribou meat and soime fish maybe in it.

Then we'll go up to the summer lake up there, to Sliraqlik Lake,
where we stayed for another month maybe, Up there is where he did
his major hunting, like for caribou. For dry meat, carlbou dry meat,
moose dry meat, or whatever, And a lot of the whitefish and conni
were dried up there. So that they could bring it back to this base here
{Arvakvik), when the spring season was over.

We hauled all that back with pack dogs. All the dogs, except for
a couple of them. A couple of them would pack all our dry meat and
dry fish and all our belongings. Because every time we moved from
place to place. All what was left there were stages that were made out
of wood. |...] We never left a thing, llke my mom’s sius (knives) or
my Dad's knives or guns.

Of course in those days there was no such things as mattresses,
we used caribou hide for mattresses. And those mattresses, mind you,
were always left in each places but we never left our blankets or
plllows, Everything we brought back with us when we came back to
this base (Arvakvik).

And so when we came back to this base it took my Dad about
three, four days to put everything away. [...] Then, before we leave
for our summer camp, he'd go into this icehouse here and he'd clean
the area where he would be bringing fish teo from the summer
camp.

This one here, Is "Nlkhaaqtuqvik” (*place of rock ptarmigan™).

In the springtime we always set snares there for ptarmigan, Only in
the springtime you could snare ptarmigan here. What you do, you
get willows, bigger willows. Usually we go up to Firth River in
winterttime and haul these tall willows, because there’s no way you
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Lily Lipscombe was born In 1948 and was adoptad
by her matemal grandparents who at the time had 2
permanent base at Qafgialuk {(Ptarmigan Bay)}, They
then moved to Arvakvik (Roland Bay) where they
spent the next thirteen years. Lily Lipscombe exphins
why her parents moved to Arvakvik and describes how
they spent the different seasons:
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could get willows from here. So we'll set on top the snow, willows.
We'll stake the willows side by side. And we'll put snares for ptarmi-
gan, and we'll snare a lot of ptarmigan. We do the same thing on this
hill here for my mom ‘cause it was closer. (1191-24B:1-3)

Summer

And then after we came from in there, we go down to our
summer camp. (1191-248:6) And then we'll get herring fish, our
herring, wipan for dogs. Those e fish, tiny tny lwdle fish. Almost
like sardines, but we'll sweep thern and put them in the pit. Those
were never used for anything, Maybe the grease of them, my mom
would render some of them because it was my Dad’s type of food
[...] because he's from the coast [...).

We'll put that stuff away |...) malnly for bait in wintertime. Once
agaln whether he made bait, put out bait for the polar bear or foxes,
anything that came, any kind of animals, We'll set traps for them.
And then, we'll be down there for awhile. (LL91-24B:6-7)

Fall

Then, if my Dad really felt Like it, we alovays used to go over to
thar Ugamaqvik and that’s where we always used to get our moose,
because in there Is really good moose [...]. That's where we used to
get our moose [..] in the fall. Then, just before the first week In
September we'll haul everything back here (Arvakvik),

And for about three four days we'll hunt a geese, because these
little istands will just be white with wavies (snow geese). All the
Nocks will zl be white with wavies. That's when we did our duck
hurting for the fall. [...) And geese hunting is our last hunt for the
year, before freeze up you know. But my Dad had always a net out
here so we got few fish every day, just litle bit of fish, whitefish.
(1191-24B:9)

Then in the fall, after that, this Is really late for beny season here,
we only picked yellow berrles in late August. |..] Late late August
we'll pick the agpiks (berrles) here. Then in September or even up to
the early October, we'll plck cranberries, because it's so late here,
When I flrst moved to the delta, I was really surprised how early
berry season 'was. (1191-24B:9)

Winter

You know in wintertime it. was easler to hunt carlbou here
(Arvakvik) because the caribou migrated through here. (1191-24B:1)
[We spent] all the winter |herel.We don't leave here until May, mid
May. But if my Dad wanted to leave, the only place we'd go in April
would be that lake. [..]

But usually, we go out along jthe coast). By right out, because
we'd be hunting (seal) along here too. [...] Sometimes the pressure
edge i3 too high and too rough to nin your dogs. My Dad always
used either seven or eight dogs. And then I always tag along with my
five dogs behind him, Everywhere he went, I went! (1191-24B:13)
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[Arvakvik] is a place whens they pot arnvig (Bowhead whales), ..
Years ago, my Dad muid they used o hunt bowhiead whiles [..]. The
way they used 1o do it was, they used io 2 have these hig umiags
(boats) with twelve people rowing. The way Whey used to do s,
they put a log In front of a umiag, o big log. And sct thelr harpoon
rdght 1n front of the umtag, in front of the log. So when they got
close to the anig they used to really paddle hard.

My Dad zald he never was pan of It because he was just a young
kid {...). Ha was more like 8 or {0 years old. He couldn'i go with the
last hwnt they made, but he said that e knew how they did It,

Se then this harpoon went Into this anidg (Bowhead whalc), that
log has 2 big sump on It [..) The horpoon would go dght inte the
whale and the hrmpaon was attached to that big log, The whale
would be wounded by this Hape and they]l] chase it. This would ke
days and days before that whale even stow down. They'll be tmvel-
ling out In the ooean for days and days on thelr umiags. |..]

The atunmp) was just ke a floar. [.] And preity soon thar whale
waould be s tred thae they'l be able o cawch It and Anally ki i, In
those days, my Dad said, this is where they used o bring them, [
They didn't kill them here, but they brought them here because the
harbour useed to be really deep apparenily. (L191-24R:5-6)

Making a Living

Resolirce Ulse

In this section selested marmatives more speciially
desorlbe the king of resourees axploited by the Inuvial-
uit along tho Yukon coast and at Herschel Istand.

Whale Hunting

Roland Satuaq, who was bomn in tha |880s at
Harschel lsland, tobd hix daugheer Lily Liptoomba how
bowhead whales were brought badk to Arvakvik
(Roknd Bay) before the commerdal whaling peried
began in 1889 around Herxche! [shind:
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Sometimes dead bowhead whales where washed

along the coast and peopla would eat tham, as remem-

bored by Sareh Meyook: Long ago Ulugatchitut found a dead bowhead whale right her
ai Uallq (Avadlek Spit) when they were over there, near Qafphaiuk,
(Prarmigan Bay), at the cove (n there, When they were there they
found a dead boawhexd whale, [.,.] They found a bowbead whale
and we hod some of the mukruk from U, Because even for years,
the dead whale never spails. That's why you sdll could eat &t well,
‘The blubber is like this thick. Even il the gulls pick or crack it it
never spoll, And Il the deadd swhale slays on Jand and if the skin is

not aacked, it never spoils, I's not like beluga whales, (SM91-20A:2)
Most of the whaling Invelved, and stil doas,

hunting beluga whales. Jane Exu describes how people

would know if baluga whales had been killed: When out getting whale, If they get same they would putupa
flag on the mast of the boat, They would pull them In slowly into the
cove hene. You would know when they got whale if they putup a
flag. The women waould get ready whent they knew that it was their

zall boats. The women knew they had a whale. JES0L224:2)
Martha Harry has similar memeories and adds mora

infarmntion about beluga hunting and on the processing

of the whales; When they hunted whales long ago, they wsed only whalsbeats,
no engine on the whaleboats, just zalling like that. They always teil
us to be quiel even our dogs that ar: on land because they don't
wint the whales to po away, That is how our parents tled hard to
keep our dogs quiet and because too they have ne fast boats 1o
chase them only g3l boats they have. (MH91-16A:8)

[...] There would be few people on a whaleboat and they would

#ll go together when they first go, When they come back with a
whals, Lhat is how e people long ago hunt together; they make
everything same for everyone and they get the same amount. Even
how much people there is and when they linished helr work too
alter working logether. [..] Just the women would work with the
whale, men never worked [n thosa days, Only when they kifled and
pulled thein up the beach, [that] was all they do, When they bring
them horme and pull tiam up thut 15 ail the work they do, (MH9-
16A0)

Schoenors and whalo bexts ac vilage near Klrpazule in 1923, (NALC, PA-19215)
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|Pecple] would travel together then when they finished fishing.
When carlbou are travelling by up here, before the bull get the smell
after breeding. There, they would get enough while they could get
them and when they are near. Because too sometimes, there is no
caribou around. So when they are near enough, they would get lots
and sometimes they would come only in spring. I don't know where
they would winter. This Is where they would kill them, when they
are moving. Some too would kill these young carlbou with yeung
ones ingide in the spring. Those, they could be in good shape, they
have fat on them because they are from coast and they would come
in last bunch of cadbou. (TA90-35A:7)

Well, 'm gonna tell a story. I told It before alright. When my
mother and I finally finished our work, It was late and the sun went
down. It was hot and there was lots of mosguitoes, but us we were
in a galuguik (villow hut) where there Is no moesquitoss, We were
just enjoying our evening lunch, when kids went to sleep. I don't
know where my father went. There was no wind at all. Thenz was a
splash of water and I just started to get away to just leok out. And
there was caribou, swimming, their antlar dowm below. [...] 8o, I just
got up and my mother just got for her rifle. I think it wasa small 30-
40, she wanted to get them so bad. |.,.) They were swimming down
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Carlbou Hunting

Caribod were hunted whenever they were found
along the Yukon coast, mainly during thair spring and
fall migrations, although some were occasionally
ptesent during the winter. Bull caribou were however
avoided during the rut as ishmael Alunlk recalls:

Burch (1991:268) has stated that caribou hides are
useless in June, that the meat of cows and bulls tasted
awlul, and that he did not know of any major June
caribou hunt in the Inult world. Durlng our interviews,
at Jeast four Inuvialuit repeatadly talked about hunting
caribou In the springtime and the early summar. Fred
Inghngasuk exphlained that his mother would use the
hides for summer clothing and Lily Lipscombe recalled
her father putting caribou in the ice house; apparently
the taste of the meat was considered acceptable.
Furthermore, archaeological evidence from a late pre-
contact site occupled by Inuvialuit in the northem
Yukon demonstrates that caribou were indeed hunted
during the hte spring or early summer (Nagy 1990).

The caribou hunting referred to by Fred
Inglangasuk and Lily Lipscombe took place aking the
Yukon coast, near Arvakvik (Roland Bay) and Miaquitk
during the spring migration. In Dora Malegana's stories,
caribou hunting was focused on the Infand areas
towards the Budkhnd Hills and Whale Mountaln
(Adaska). Dora Malegana also recounts hunting caribou
along the Yukon coast during the summer:
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Jean Tardiff was told by her stepfather Saruaq how
peaple hunted caribou arcund Qarghaluk (Prarmigan
Bay) at tha end the last century:

When the Inuvialult were specifically looking for
good furs to make winter clothing, then the caribou
were hunted during the fall as Kathleen Hansen
exphins:

Kathleen Hansen ako reclls hunting caribou with
her father during winter for the Misslon School at

Tapqaq (Shingle Point):

Amos Paul, whose parents were from inland
Alaska, tells that his family followed the caribou in tha
hills south of Qikiqraqruk {Herschal Island):

there, they always go down when there s mosquitoes, at that ime
they usually come. There were lots of caribou. (DM91-218:9)

[..] My mom got few there. She said “we'll make dry meat with
them". “Geel” I thought, because we had just finished putting
caribou meat in the jce house. (DM%0-13B:13)

They say when they go hunting casibou they all go there with
the whaleboats. Sauaq always said that sometimes they would just
row the whaleboats there when they wanted to get caribou. All the
whaleboats would go inside the cove there at Qafpialuk (Ptarmigan
Bay). And when the caribou came they would hunt them. JT90-
16B:1)

When they saw the stars and when it got a liule darker, they say
about now the caribou skins are good for dething. Then they would
start going up and from below the West Channel, they would start
dog packing from there. They went up to get good skins of caribou
for their clothing,

At one tUme, my dad took me up there to get some carlbou for
clothing. He said It was for winter use. Long ago they say the light
ones are good and their fur is goad for hunting. They are easler to
uze when moving around, One week we would stay up thens
looking for clothing from caribou skins, that’s how it was long ago.
(KH90-19B:7)

[...] when there was caribou, it was my dad, me and Thomas
Umaug who would hunt ¢aribou, Me and my dad we each had a
dog team in those days, when we were helping the Misslon Scheol, 1
would go back and forth s0 much that my dogs couldn’t do anything
anymore, [..) There was so many caribou up there, Then in the
middle of winter they started coming down close to us on shore,
down to the island too, in wintertime. They never mn out of caribou
when the school was first here. (KH90-19B:9)

When there is caribou there is lots in those hills up there, But in
the coast it is not the same, not too much because the wolves always
bother them. They would all be at high hilis above Qllkdqtaqruk
(Herschel Island) on the very high hills they would go. Also there is
sheep up on the high hills and also around Blue Hole.

Our parenis always took us around to hunt for food, just so we
could eat. If you stay together in one place the animais always go
awny. We always just followed the carlbou when they were movirig,
When they moved, we too would move, When you stay together
sometimes it's hard to get the carlbou. Never hunt one place, you
have to scatter all over, (APQ0O-18A:1-2)



[Seal hunting], that's done in March or April. Mainly In April
because all along Tikiraq, inside Tikiraqg there'd be seal holes, that's
where they mostly mate and made holes [...] so you could see them
on the Ice. We'd have a shield that was made years ago. My Dad's
shield was made out of a nafuaq. It's a seal skin, but white on one
side. The hair is taken off and bleached white on the other side. It’s
just pure white and it got a litle hole in there and then he walks with
it in front of him. And you can go right, almost rght up to the seal.
Because they got good eyes, they just see from long ways, you
know, (LL91-24B:13)

l...] when my father was hunting seal in the springme when the
water gets muddy down in the coast around Shingle Polnt or King
Point, when the water get muddy [at] the breathing hole. Like one of
us stand there and wait it to come up. You could see the waves and
bubbles come up. And pretty seon the seal come up with his nase to
breathe and you shoot them with 22 dflef...] You kill them with gun
right away and you have to hook it and pull them up.

This muddy water come from Aklavik and it goes down to the
coast down at Shinple Point where it's clear water. In springtime all
this muddy water go down to the coast. [...] In the springtime when
the muddy water goes down the river then you go down to Shingle
Polnt and all along te King Point and all the way down near Herschel
Island. And after the water goes down, the black water settles and it's
clear, Just in springtime it gets muddy, when the muddy water come
from here somewhere.

L. It's important, it's good to have dirty water when you shoot
the seal when it comes up. Because if it's ¢lear water it stays down
there, it sees you from down there and instead of coming up it goes
other places. [...] Seals, they can look around in the water too you
know. When it's clear water, when you're standing up in the hole,
he’ll see you and then the seal won't come up. The seal will go some
other places, where nobody is around. (FI90-74:2-4)

[...] we used to just hunt seal just out here, just sitting out there,
When It's summertime, seals ase not so fat because It's mid summer.
They are not as fat as they are at first spring cr In late fall. And they’ll
sink right away when you shoot them. So we used a givhaqiun. I's a
metal heavy thing with four hooks on each sides. We'll throw it out
and whee! it in and the seal will finally catch under water. (I191-
25B:1)
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Seal Munting

Along the Yukon coast, seal hunting was done
mainly in the =pring and the surmmer. Lily Lipscombe
describas how seals were hunted In the spring:

Fred Inglangasuk explains how people hunted seal
during the spring, taking advantage of the muddy water:

Lily Lipscomibe hunted seal at Arvakvik (Roland
Bay) with her father during the summer and she
exphins that a specil typa of hook was neaded to
bring in the dead seal:
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Sarah Meyook recalls thar bt dhe early |940¢ her
family would go 1o Hersehel Istind in the summer and
hunt seals:

The Inuvialuit hunted seals with nets at Herschel
Istand during the (9505 and | 960x when seal skin could
be sold for 3 good price. The seals were abundant, and
Charlle Gruben remembers catching seventy seals in
thres days while hunting at Horschal fshand in [958
{CG91:18:7). Sarah Mayook remembers hunting seals
at Herschel island during this period and describes the
different kind of seals that were found around
Qarginluk (Farmligan Bay):

We all stayed here and there was so omich seal then, They wem
all ever but we never had seal nets then, They shot thom with 22
rifles. That is how they hunted them. Me and Pamiug, also our
husbands Meyook and Fosier, we'd go down to the beach and play
rummy {card game) while the men wen: waldng for seals. When the
seals were close, they would shoot Uiem from shore. After they got
thesm, we played card games. (SMO0-27B:4)

Inérdaluk weenan with 1 seal skin pokie, Herschal Bslind, 1975, {NAC, PA-172349)
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At the time when we were here, me and Elizabeth we would set
a net at the point here. We let the children help us to set the net. We
had one paddle and so my children used the paddle as a shovel. We
stretched out the net and set it. [...] Afier setting it for few days, we
got few seals. Maybe four or five seals. (SM90-27A:1)

We really hunted seals that time long ago! We'd skin the seals for
sale. We'd set nets for seals. Sometmes they would be over ten and
we would skin them. At the dme, one skin could cost over one
hundred dollars, That is how we used to live, like that.

At this place, at the end of Qatgialuk (Ptarmigan Bay) there are
colored seals, spotted seals. They stay there all the ume. [..) They are
like seal but they are narrow when they come up, they just go half
way up. They have head like dogs. A spotted sezl. Also the seal
heads are round when they come up, When bearded seal come up
their whiskers are white. They are different from others. They have
white whiskers. (SMS0-4A:8)

There also was a walrus for few years. I think we took her young
one long ago when Bob Mackenzie and them were still there, We
took the young one from her. 1 think she is still looking for her
young one, She would always be there. She wouldn't let you have
anything in nets, there were na seal (00, I think she's very old, They
say she's very wise and no one could kill her. She is very wise one.
When you set net and if there was seal in it, she would tear the net
and take them. She eat themn because they are not too big for her. It's
a walrus with tusks that I'm talking about, It has a thick skin. You
only can shoot it by the head. The skin Is too thick to have you shoat
it in other places. Only by the head you'll kill It. The joint is big when
you start to prepare food with them, (SM90-4A.9)
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Walrus were also hunted around Herschel |stand.
Sarzh Meyook remembers how one walrus used to
tear the nets and explalins how 1o shoot a walruz:
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Polar Bear Hunting

Pohr bears were hunted along the Yukon coast
and their skin was traditionally used as doors for sod
houses and as mattresses (Fi90-5B:7). David Roland
killed his first polar bear when he was fiftaen years ofd.
He recalls the event

Ancther way to kill bear was to construct a device
by which the bear would shoot itself, as Alex Gordon
exphalns:

I was 15 year old then [when] I got a polar bear down at
Herschel Island in the spring. In April as [ started to go and saw the
open sea down there, at the time the crack on ocean was closing in,
and then when I went to look down there, the bear was coming
towards me, While that [ was always scared that time. My grandfather
always told me that if I see something dangerous, he or it will never
get me first because I have a gun. When I thought of that, I first tied
up my dogs hidden behind the big glacier. There I was golng to kill
the polar bear. Before that, I had never seen any.

I went to get it and I was thinking “If [ wound it and he comes
aflter me, I'll be sdff* so I took my outer fur parka and my fur pants
off, and I make myself light. I was thinking that if I was not stff and
If the bear try to bother me, I could try my best. That's what I was
thinking and I went to kil the bear. I went from behind hirn, I got
close to it, 50 he was behind the big ice. So I shoot him right there
by surprise. When I came home with the polar bear on my sled my
stepmother Kuttuq asked me “Grandson, how did you kill this?”
Then I told her how I shoot It.

Well, it was the first time I saw 2 polar bear and I killed it too.
My grandfather, my adopted father had told me [that] if I saw some-
thing scary he sald, “Don’t shoot it any other place if it's ¢close, the
kill is the neck”. When I reached him very close, I looked at him and
at the end of the head, I shoot It and it fell down. [...] The skin my
grandmother cleaned It and I went to Alaska to sell it to John Olson.
At the time bear skin was very cheap, I think he bought it for $25. It
was a blg money then. (DR91-27R:6-7)

Sometdmes in winter, when we travelled by the coast or the sea,
when there was a polar bear, they would fix a gun so it could go by
ltself, They would work on a gun and put a bait with oil or some-
thing and set it high. So when a bear get to It and smell the oll and
when he touch the oil, the gun go off and he shoots himself. They
worked on the gun so it wouldn't break, so when the bear pull on
the bait the gun goes off and kills the bear, Sometimes that was how
they hunted polar bears long ago. But in those days, you hardly saw
polar bears then. That 1s how some people tied to hunt them but
they made sure that they put a marker on the gun so someone
wouldn't get hurt from it when they set a gun like that, So, when
there is a marker, people would know that there was a gun there.
(AG91-208:11-12)
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Long ago when I was young child we used to live here at
Tapqaq (Shingle Point). |...] We stayed here and did some fishing.
We made dry fish and put them inside the teepees here, those made
with long sticks. That's how we used to live around here long ago.
(SM9C-19B:4)

That way with net and they pulled the fish in the net. Just
moving with fish, arctic char. Yes that Is how we fish and we had lots
of fun over there [...] When we'd go home, we put them inside the
smoke house neatly in line. They made smoke house for fish by just
standing up logs. They would just put up logs and make us a smoke
house that way. (SMS1-19B:4)

And this is where (Arvakvik) we spent our summer, mostly for
fishing, And then just before [t was time to sweep flsh, especially the
char, before we go over there. And when we'd go over there, we go
over there very brefly, like we'll just sweep for one or two days.
Because you must remember that every sweep you may get about
100, 200 fish at the time. 50 you could do &, four or five maybe six
times a day and you got enough there. (L191-25B:10)

[We fish] all kinds; herrings and wrowvis too. That was what we got
from the lakes but only the lakes don't have herrings. The fish down
at Kinfiaq (King Point) is like ours here. Jackfish, connles, there is no
other fish, no different kinds. Only the grayllngs are there too, in
some iittle creeks down there. (AP90-18A:3)

At the ime the fish were really running, there was lots of fish
then those days, They also would make a pit to put thelr fish into
storage. They make them with logs, like making a log house. Also
they wouid dig a plt on ground to store for the dog food, lots of It.
Well, there was lots of herring fish down thevs. Also these kinds of
trout because there is two kinds of rout down here at Herschel
Istand. Here some would come from Babbage River. Those aleays
come down for summer from up there. And these big arctle char they
also come down through Firth River. They say long ago they looked
for them on the big open water, up there, these blg ones, the arctlc
char, [...]

Here on the coast shore, Safuag used to have nets with the ones
you use long stick to set them. You know how they make long
sticks, they add another piece to make them longer, you know? That
was how he used to have nets all the time down here. Spedally
when the herrings are running lots. Also these trouts that come from
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Fishing

Fishing was done intensively along the Yukon coast
during summertime. Fish were then dried and stored
for later use. Sarah Meyook remembers people fishing
with nets and describes how the fish ware dried:

Fishing with nets gave very good results, as Lily
Lipscombe remembers:

Different kinds of fish were caught, including
Herring Jaddish (Northern Pike), Conni {Inconnu),
Trout, Arctic Char and Bullhead (Saulpin), Amos Paul,
Ishmael Alunik and Fred Inglhingasuk relate the follow-
ing stories about fishing:
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During tha wintar, fishing was done with nets set
under tha jce, as Ishmael Alunik exphins:

Fishing at Tepeag (Shingle Point) during the
summer [ st an mporant activity for many fnuvialuic
a5 Joan Arey tolly:

behind King Folnt they would run in, mbe with all kind of fish.
(TADO-35A:5-6)

IMy grandmothes] used to hook around here (Niaqult) | but she
would get mosdy bullheads (sculpin, tiat dine when she hooked
fish. They used to only haok bullheads that time. My grandmother
when she uged 1o hook fish, she had quite a few bullheads whien
she hooked fish. (F191-18A:6)

And they go up to fish holes up here 1o fish. They would go by
Herschel Island River (Firth River) by there. Also behind King Point
there, there are fish too up there. {,..]In this palnt there is one ke
vz goen while 1 was looking for caribou. They say right there, the
s lots of these fish with bip eyes what Uvey call them again? We all
them gewiusaq. [.] That 18 where they winter, in that lake, asound
liere too wheres there ks no creck on top, King Foint. On the top
edge of King Polnit hill. Arey and thetn would get some of thass flsh
agaln. Also around the flats there, there is all kinds of fish. Whiteflsh,
erpoked backs and ather fish thers on the flats thare, also pikes, we
caupht wiien we have nets around King Paint under the ice. (IAS0-
35A:7)

Every summer we would go down and Pm geolng to go agaln
this summer. [ can't stay in town andl it's because we never make
living here too. Right now 1 want to go down agaln, because it's
really good to sty down there, When we sets fish news it's good and
wien we get lots of herrings. They will muke us some dry fish.
(JA91-17B:2)

"One duy’s carch - 284 salmon maut (Sabokni meima), Poois at foathills of Endienre M,
Hulahugh River, Alavka | Akpik and R “Bily* Nadcuuak. Tha river was frozen aver axcapt
for rapidi ard pocls i the foothilh whers we used our gllinens for "swosping™ SepL 14,
1908. (NAC, C-33952)
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1 remember too when they were hunting ptarmigan in the spring.
They always called these puguanik, you know, a net. They would
fenoce the willows with nets, that s how they get the ptammigans with
nets set on willows. They would get lots of ptarmigan, I have seen
them. Up on a little creek, like they would always be on the willows,
when they first come the plamigans, you know, (MH91-16A:8)

There is no willows at the coast only on the mountains and you
have to go up to get them. We would go and ger them from up
there. This is how we used to hunt ptarmigan. We would bring old
willows from the old mountain. We put them around and set snares
and we get them In the moming and have them for breakfast be-
cause there Is no seal. [...] We used sinew, also little twine. At the
time there was twine and rope then. At the time, we got the twisted
twine in the shape of a big ball. We would all set snares like that.
(DM9C-13A:9)

Before the seals, we had hawks and seagulls down there. We
trapped thern with red sweaters that just looked like blood, we put
them on traps. That's the way we tried to eat when there are not too
much ptirmigans around 2nymore. We always got willows from over
there. We'd get willows from up there, Then in the moming, we
always went to get some ptarmigans for our breakfast. (DM91-21B:9)

So then we'd take them off from the willows, whenever we tried
to eat ptarrnigan. The seagulls, they come second around there the
seagulls, when they come. Old sweater like this one or whatever like
a parka cover. That time, girls used to use red parkn cover. Then, that
way, they say it, they put *pretend blood”, red ones.(DM91-21B:9-10)

Down there tco when you spent fallime, there is geese. The
ones that didn't fly, they hunted them. When we were at Nupaluk
long ago when we started to come this way, when we had children
already. When they can't fly we'd round them up and also make a
“not real geese” and put them around on the other side of Nunaluk,

We were there with my parents to those places in the summer
when they were hunting geese. I was not there rght away but I was
there later on. Then they were putting the toy geese when I went
there, they wema putting them on the land. (DM90-20A:11)
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Bird Hunting

Bird hunting, particularly ptarmigan and seagulls,
was an Important activity In the springtime when food
was short and the season not yet warm enough to
hunt seals, Martha Harry describes prarmigan hunting
an the eastern border of the Yukon coast where
willows were abundant

On other parts of the coast, willows had to ba
brought from the mountalns and snares were prepared
as Dora Malegana exphins:

Goose hunting was also a popular actlvity along
the Yukon North Slope. Dora continues her stories;

Ducks appear to have been quite abundant along
the Yukon coast but the situation seems to have
changed and their number has declined. Jean Tardiff
and Dora Malegana comment on dudk hunting:
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Although both Petitot (1887:249) and Stefansson
(1919:136-137) recorded a taboo on the conzumption
of eggs among the nuvialuit, the Inuvialuit we inter-
viewed did consume eggz. Sarzh Meyook remembers
golng to pick eggs along the Yukon coast:

'They say you could have lots of ducks at Qafgialuk (Ptanmigan
Bay). When the young ones grow up, ducklings. {...) No more ducks
here now. Not only the ducks, they say even the loons are all gone.,

(JTO0-26A:2)

I heard too that long age my grandparents used to make a living
here with the Siglit. There was my grandmother Turraak, Kanak and
them also Jane Esau's parents also Nauyak and them. They would go
over to Yuuqyaaq to hunt ducks long ago in the springtime, (DM90-
27A:3)

We'll get all, like at night it'll be dark, we'll be siting down there
behind a shield and just knocked them off, you know. [...] Nirfiigs,
those white ones, But there's twa kind of nirlifg. There's one nirlilg
that comes eardier, we always bypassed those. But In springtime we
get them and those are wuagullik (Canada goose), with white here.
They called them rduagullik. They're nifgliigs too but they're
duagullik. And then, the geese, the wavies (snow goose), is {n the
fallime. It's falitime when we hunt them, And we get a lot of those.
And then when we go swan hunting, Swans are always, we aloays
hunt them ini springtime, all by that big lake, that summer lake. (191-
24B:7-8)

I..] And then after we came down by Yuuqyaaq, then we
crossed the Qikigtaqruk river with boat, a canoe, before we started
looking for eggs that were still not hatched. We got eggs of seagulls
or ducks before we brought the dogs across with eggs {n this kind of
box, Well, If we aossed with the dogs first they were going to break
them and eat them. (SM90-4B:5)

When we were picking eggs we always leave one because if you
take them all, the mother will ery for them. You just leave one and
take all the eggs. (SM91-29A:3)
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When we were at Niaqulik with my grandparents, [...] in spring
they would hunt them. Then my grandmother would dry them and 1
guess they made parkas with them. [...] we always got tired when our
grandmother made us walk with her, looking for squimrel. We always
wanled to go home. But at Arst she always would say "we are going
not 1oo far" but we always went far away! At the time, we were not
oo blg ...

[..1 my grandmother had a little pack-sack. We always packed
them for her when we got some, when we checked our traps in the
moming. If we got some squirmzl we set them (the traps) back on.
Then coming back, we would check them again, and take them off
again, We would go back and forth like that, We would eat the meat
too. (FI90-5A:7-8)

[..] My family was on the other side of Herschel Island, at King
Point trapping squirrels. They trapped squirrels and filled the traps
full. T used to watch them, somatimes 1 remember, then [ forget. Even
though it was dark, they would set traps. Lots of squlmels. (CK90-
33A:2)

At Tapqaq (Shingle Point), I remember as a kid they had this big
bonfire placing stksik (ground squirrels) all round In dircle. That way
they killed the siksik fleas. You know the fleas on siksik Heat would
kill them. [After, they] skin them and eat them. (CK91-3A:1)
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Hunting Ground Squirrels

During the spring, ground squirrels ame out of
their holes and were hunted by the Inuvialuit for their
meat and their fur. Fred Inghngasuk remembers going
with his grandmother to trap them:

Christina Klengenberg remembers people hunting
ground squirrels and putting them around a big fire to
get rid of their fleas:
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Trapping

Amaong the Inuvialuit, trepping for furs became a
major activity In the early 19005, eventually transform-
ing thelr raditional economy. In exchange for furs, the
inuvialuit were given access to white man goods such
as flour, tea, wobacco and guns In the 19105, the price
of fur was not very high as Willam Kuptana remem-
bers:

Some people were also able to purchase schoon-
ers that would give them access to more territory
during the summer months. Both men and women had
their own traplines, ajthough the fur trading was done
almost exclusivaly by the men. Children alsc helped
thelr parents and fater on would have their own
trapline. Sarah Meyock recalls here how she and her
sister would help their mother set her traplines:

When the prices were high, such as during the
1920s, trapping could ba a very lucrative activity,
Ishmael Alunik recalls where he used to trap along the
Yukon North Slope, and Sarah Meyaok describes the
kind of journey her husband would undartake to trap:

Things at the time are very cheap at Hudson's Bay. The white
fox was really cheap fur too, Only three dollars. [...) When Ole
Andreasen was a trader at Shingle Polnt, then we heard it was ten
dollars, then. It sure went high then! (WK91-148:12)

My mom started trapping and I was big enough to follow her.
When my morm started trapplng, my grandad would go with dog
team actoss the lake. We would set taps on the ocean. Me and
Carrie we would follow along running, My mom would bringa gun
too, Then when she finished setting traps, she would bring us home.
Then next day we would start to go again because when we woke
up early my mam would say “when you first wake up, just go out”,

That is the way the old people are. If you don't get up early the
animals would know and it’s hard to get them. So, suon as I was
awalke 1 would go out and go back in because I want to get some
things In my traps. Ill always remember these words that as soon as
we awake in the moming to go out.

And when we went to tap with my mom, the trapping was lots
of fun. Once there was a dead fox In thels taps. A white fox and
another one over there making noise, Over, there we could see the
dead one. Sometimes there was lots of them, sometimes we killed
lots of them and they were making nolse. We had lots of fun. Geel
Lots of animals at the time. Like white foxes, cross foxes too. They
would put some on cur pack or If not, we pulled them and we took
them home. We had lots. of fun.

They would skin foxes all night. All the foxes they got all day.
Lots of foxes. Lots of white foxes and animals to skin. They would
be stretched. They looked very nice. After, they cleaned them in the
snow. They used something to clean them. We always travelled with
them tapping, me and Carre. (SM90-3B:1-2)
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[... When there is lots of while foxes, people made good Ihing.
Thee is lots of white foxes sometimes, One time from here 1 was
impping gotng by Kity Polnt somewhere around here. When the ice
is thick encugh they would come down [rom the ocean. Me, | never
saned rapping soon enough. I was tmpping up arcund Old Crow
arest and while 1 was up thers, they were gewing lots of white fox. At
the tme 1 got aver 50 white foxes but then there was lots of wolver
ine then, ‘There Is always lots of wolverdne around here, around King

Polnt. They have holes up there, 1 think, I know the white foxes have

holes up there. There is always lots of themn up there around King
Polnt. (IAD0-33A:6)

[My husband] was trapping in Noveinber down there, trapplng
fux, Sometimes he stay down there two weeks and come back to
Aklivik, Never stop always hunting. L.] From Aldavik he campa ar
Police Camp afier that to Running River, and to Shingle Polny, after
that From there to Nlagquilk and camps therm, Then to Quigialuk
(Pramgan Bay), He would go ewly in the moming because Ics long
wiys imwvelling with dogs. He was tapping all the time white loxes,
wolves, wolverine and [huntl sheep sometimes, He really got happy
all the time when he get good fur, [..] From Qafgialuk he goes 1o
Herschel Island, And after that he eamped behind Herselel mt
Yuugyaag and Nunaluk. He was trapping there toa, And then
Quitlugvik (Clarence Lagonn), it's near Alaska, he come back that
way after thal, (SM90-19A:1)

We go muaskmat hunting n the sprngime. Old Crow people were
always glad when we went up there. [...] When we go vp huntng;
my grandparents QOld Abmaham Tifigiluk went svilh uz at the time. My
grardmother Agnaguniag hold my hand amd mlked (o me nice to go
with hér, Agnaguniaq, my grandmother. We finally reached Old
Crow. Sometlmes i was scary when the wohees ware howilng. I dont
know how long or (how many] doys it tock us. 1 never got tred too
nd we reached Niaqulik with me nol getting 100 Ured. | was abou
over four years, (TAS0-358-3) :
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Mr. Brayton and a catch of white fox ot Herschel balnd, 1924,
(NAC, PA- 167448}

The Ofd Crow area is rich in muskrat. jshmael
Aluntk recalls going there with his parents and grand-
parents fn the springtime during the late 1920s and
then golng back to Niaqulk along the coast:
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Gathering Berrles and Other Plants

Contrary o stereotypes of eating only meat, the
Inuvialuit enjoyed picking berrias and roots as well as
the leaves of some plnts. Sarah Meyook recalls plcking
around Running River and Shingle Point when she was

young:

Lily Lipscombe explains that rhubarb can be pldced
only at 3 specific season and that different patches of
berries were explaited:

Dora Malegana also remembers pidking but in the
mountains, She exphins how the berries and rhubarb
were stored and at which special eccasions they were
consumed:

We go to Aqpayuatchiaq (Running River) to pick berrles. This is
where we always pick berries. It always have blg yellow berries at
Aqpayuatchiaq and also at Tapqaq (Shingle Point). I would always
walk and go for berries from Tapqgaq to the point of Tapgag. When I
filled 2 stnall whale stormach container, § would walk home. They are
very good, Beries from contalner like that are good. That is how we
Iived. After we finished picking from the coast and came back here in
delta, again we would pick bermies too. (SM9O0-38:4)

Rhubarbs also other green leafs. The ones that grow on hills.
Around here there used to be lois there. [...] They made fruit with
them after boiting them in a big boil, they put sugar also flour.
{SMO0O-20A:10)

1. And It's only at certain times of the season that you can pick
rhubarbs because they go woody and rusty afterwards. So you get to
pick them at the right times. Just lika these gualigs here, you pick
thetn just about the dme you pick agpiks (berries). Because we'll be
picking agpiks over here, then when we go over thera to pick
agpiks, that's where usually picked them. We usually leave that area
for the lnst part to pick. [...] Because we had to pick thase qualagaik
(Jeaves) here at the same Ume as we did the agpiks, So everything
was set like. To my Mom and Dad everything was set. (1191-24B:10)

Cloud berries, black bemies and blue ones, only these kinds.
Also roots from ground, the ones the mouse store for winiter. We had
z0 much fun together doing things like that with my mom and my
two aunties Annie and Mary Archie, At one time we went dog
packing to the hills, We stayed up there for long time tll we were '
almaost out of food. Cur camp was not far, just down there, Some-
times we'd hear them when they shoot guns back at the mouth of
the river,

My mom would store some berries and roots from mouse in
butter containers, These barrels were almost filled to the top. They
were very good o eat, really nice. We ware very hungry for berres
before Christmas at the end of November, but my mother never let
us have some berries anymore bacause she is saving them for
Christrnas. That is how the people lived long ago.

[..] my mom always made eskimo jee eream [,..] when we had
meat. And again, she would put them away because it was for
Christmas too. |...] Those rhubarbs always grew there so we got there
to plck them. We stored them for winter in blubber. They are 30 big
down there on the coast. And they taste so good too (DM9C-14B-5-0)
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[...] Avalagaik are different from these kind of willows because
they put that in rgsug (blubber) and they eat it. [...] That's the reason
they call it avalagaik. (...} they don't eat any other kind a leaves from
willows. Those zre the only kinds of leaves they eat. And you know
the story goes that when they (the leaves) see humin they squeak to
themselves those avalagaiks beczuse they're gonna be plcked. And
when you're plcking auvalagaiks, you take one, you take them like
that, they're all like that. You go “zzzzh", if they're ready for harvest
when you pull them, they squeak. That Is why they call them
avalagartks (“a thing that makes noise”) because they scream!

[...] They would be ready for harvest, like they'll be blg, they'll be
tall ones. And that's where the tall ones are along a creek or a valiey.
|...| We used to go there every fall and pick so much of that, you
know. And shell take a drum full of wugsuk (blubber) and she'll just
put them zall In there for winter, (LL91-24A:6)

[..] You know when you go to a |ake there is those big grass,
when you pull them out, the end of them. They say it tastes sweet,
the end part of the big grass. When they go hunting, packing up
there in the hills with that kind they try and have something sweet.
Before the berrdes grow, (MH91-168-2)

Old people [...| when they were here long ago, they picked these
green grass here at Tapgaq (Shingle Point). They would look around
and plck them. They were for little bags or baskets that they made.
When picking them, they would tie them together. Long ago here
there was lots of baskets, every old person had one.

They would sew them with a needle and make themn into 3 ball
and it got bigger and bigger as you sew them. On top you made a
hole. When you put water In these bags, it never leaked. They are
the kind of grass that you see now. Some of them made blg ones and
put their needles or thread in them or anything in the bag they made,
Lots of them made them in the old days. (3M90-20A.6)
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Lily Lipscombe remembers that she and her
mother would collect the leaves of a special kind of
willow in the fall, and that they would store them in
blubber before eatng them during winter;

Martha Harry recalls that while travelling infand to
hunt ribou, her parents would eat the root end of
grass found near kakes:

Grass was also used to make baskets as described
by Sarah Meyook:
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Hard Times

The Yukon North Slopa was not always a
“friendly” place w use the words of Stefansson (1944).
Fred Inglangasuk remembers that it could be difflcult to
find animals along the coast

As Fred Inghingasuk explains, people started to
leave the coast because there was not as much food as
in the Madkenzie Delta:

Sarah Mayook recalls winters in the [940s and
1950s when har family was on the brink of starvation
while travelllng alang the Yukon coast:

Sometimes there's caribou all year round, but some years noth-
ing. Maybe springtime or fallime we kill caribou but after that,
nothing. One year we had a hard time at Nizqulik. We had nothing
to eat. There was my grandfather, my parents, Old Archie, Isaac
Aluniq, One year we had hard time, me and my grand-father nearly
starved!

They lost all their dogs, then we used to stay close to the
Niaquiik, we didn't go up in the mountains, Them guys they were
gonna go to Fish Hole, at Niaqulik there, Then bad winter came
while they were up there. There was nothing to kill up there, no fish,
nothing. So they lost all their dogs, no more food.

They came back towards Niaquiltk. Us we were doing good. Me
and my father and mother, we had ptarmigan ali winter that ime.
Nothing else, just ptarmigan. [...) We just lived on ptarmigan. Sprng
cime, [...) my grandmother used to take me out walking, see there
ground squirrels, then 'we catch them in the trap|...| When we got
squirrels once in a while we did good. When the seals started
coming up we were able to live better. After Christmas there was no
caribou or anything except for parmigan. All we lived on was

[..] That's how It was in the coast. Some years you wege well off,
Maybe well off one year, next year nothing. Nothing to kill, just the
ptarmigan. Plarmigan are around all the time. Hard to catch anything,
no caribou, can't get seals late in the winter, (FI90-7A:6-7)

Because in the coast we pet short of food when the weather is
not good. And now in delti we could snare and we could go (fish)
hooking. That's how we make our living. If you are in the coast you
have no place to hook when it's winter and nothing to hunt but
sometimes you could get ptarmigan aldght, Sometimes there is not
much ptarmigan too. Here in delta there’s lots of mbbits and some
ptarmigan too and in the spring there is muskrat and there's lots of
places wherne you could go (fish) hooking. That is why we never
leave here oo, Because too there Is nothing for us in coast. There's
no place for us to hunt when [ was young that dme. We stayed in
the delta here because [...] all year round we could set snares. We get
lots of rabbits, something to eat. We make water hole in the creek
where we could hook and we catch fish [...] In the coast there is
nothing to hunt in the winter, no mbbits too. There's only some
ptarmipans, that's all there is, just plarmigans. (FI90-5B:4)
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We always go down there every summer and winter time. We
went down all the time. [...] I think in 1944, before Jimmy was bom.
We always went dawn. One time we got down with dogs. My
husband was trapping int January before he was finished, he braught
us back. Sometimes too we had hard times when there was big wind
and we run shon of food. We never had food easy in those days,
long ago.

Ome time we went through hard time without food for awhile.
When we started to come from Qikigtagruk (Herschel Island) with
dogs in January, we only had roll of oats for food, no tea. Fred and
Nellie were our only children, When we reached BAR B (Stokes
Point) we started back to Aklavik, At the ime we just ate seal blubber
In the moming, that's ali, and for our dogs we give them the same
seal blubber.

We went on travelllng and on moming we just cooked oats and
nothing with it. We gave a linle to our children too. We had no other
food, really nothing! S0 we kept going. That's one time we really had
a hard Hme, We had hard time but we never gave up, we kept
travelling, Then we reached Aqpayuatchiaq (Running River), we all
had frost bite, it was 2o cold in January. We tried to keep our chil-

S0 we manage to reach the Police Cabin. At that time there was
lots of rabbiis, and Jonas hunted rabbits with his 22 dfle and he got
some. But me and hifn we never had anything to eat for long time,
about a week I guess, We never eat anything, never eat, just piece of
whale oil. When we were there we had rabbits for our children and
dogs. Us we tried not to eat too much, When | boiled some rabbits in
the pot I would just give them the broth and a small plece of meat
each time.

If we eat lots at once we might just kill ourselves because we
never ate for long dme because there was nothing then. When we
finished eating and felt well enough to go, we went again for
Aklavik. When we reached around West Channel there was Paul
Ugalisuk and them arpund there. They sure helpad us at the lime.
They feed our children! [...] His wife was so nice to us and she told
us at first not to et too much, The children had half of a bun at first.
Afier a while she gave them some more when she thought that their
food had settled in thelr ummy. She said sometimes sorme people ate
too ruch at first meal,

That was the tme we went without food, really nathing. Just by
eating whale oll you could live for a long time, a small skinny plece
of it. You just cut it and swallow it when you go. That 's what I got
through. ¥ children hear what I said or undersiand what we got
through, they could live., (SM90-19A:7-8)

When my dad had nothing around here for him, he moved to
Aklavik. There was no more white man foed around here, not even
at Qikigtaqruk (Herschel Island), Barrow and Barter [sland. There
was nothing, not even flour. Even at Yuugyaaq; most people had
only rice over there. There was no white man food, no biscuit evenl

|..]1 They say they had one ptarmigan for a meal for one family!
Our grandmother had the head of the ptarmigan. [.) That time there
was nothing at all of white man food and there was not much to
hunt too. All over It was so hard for everyone.
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Dora Malegana also tells of hard times along the
Yuken coast In the 19405 which made people move to
Aklavik:
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A family [...] were at Muvaugaluk. While the father and someone
stayed behind at Nuviagaluk, they even tried to eat some micel [...)

My dad would go by dog team by the hills and us we went up
too for safety with Nina and her grandfather and my younper broth-
ers. My husband was gone too. At the time ny dad got an eagle. First
time we ate one too. They say it was not good to kill them. Even
that, my dad shot it because there was no ptarmigan around and the
weather was so bad too. The eagle tasted so different, something
like the smell of mice. Even that we ate it because we had nothing to
eat then, We had no whale oil too.

While that Nina was up walking around, she found one dead
carbou up ihere, the snow has just melted on it. It was a nice one
too. So we watched how to eat it to make it last as long as we could.
That sure helped us to ive now. Now we were okay. And there was
lots of ptarmigan now. (DM90-27A:9-10)

When you have whale oll, all kinds of meat are good. When you
are short of food. |..| We had heard tao about one of Stefansson’s
crew who [had to] eat his parka, when they had nothing to eat. With
no fur on It, they say it was very hard to eat and not smooth to
swallow because it was dry. (DM90-278:2)



6. Domestic Activities

We built our houses with drift woad, We lay them side by side
to meike a log house. .1 We'd leave them for other people to use
when they are tmvelling. {..] We'd empty the house we left biehind,
We never bad wlite man windows. Just the Intesine rom walrus
and also the bear’s intestine and also the moose's intestine. Wo never
lind everything them days, when ] was growing up. (AP90-18A:2)
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(NAZ, PA-171903)

In this chapter, we hava grouped narratives that
refate to life in amp regardlass of whethor peopls
fived In sad houses, willow huts or tents. The focus of
this chapter Is on activities involved In the processing
and storage of foed, getting water and working skdns.

Houses

Sod Houses

Napeqtug (in Utumarmdutm) or nappaqta (in
Sightun) means "stand up logs” and refers to what Is
called in English “sod houses", They were bullt with a
frame of vertial logs covered by sod or moss. Amos
Paul describes the construction of a sod housa:
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Fred Ingtangasuk exphaing that a polar bear skin
was used for the door of sod house. Note that he uses
the term hiunk (from the stem viuq means sod, moss)
for a sod house;

Emmanuel Felix describes sod houses with an
entrance tunnel to keep cold alr out of the structure:

Other Inuvialuit interviewed told us that contrary
to the view of most archaeologists, sod houses could
be utllized during summertime, We wara told that they
were “nice and cool” at this time of the year. Lily
Lipscombe, Ishmael Alunlk and Peter Rufus recall what
sod houses were like;

Kathleen Hansen remembers sod houses used In
tha 1910s and 1920z by the people who lived at
Hersche! Isknd:

Outside the door they put a bear skin too, If you had that kind
of door it kept the raln drops out. They kept the drops away, the
bear and polar bear skins. [...] We didn't have real doors at that time,
just the skin ones. We would put nails on one side. It closed itself
when you used it. [...] Long ago us we never used windows. I could
remember my parents were using bearded sea] intestines for win-
dows. They're just like these cellophine. The nasrow ones, you sew
them together and make them big. {...] I can remember when we
used thase. [...] Sod house is svfunik (FIN-SB:7)

The first generation was using gullig (lamps) in kataligaaluit, [..]
A kataliganiudt is a dwelling with a door in the botter of the floor.
[...] There were about four feet tuninels connecting to the porches.
Four feet down. They say cold air never comes in. [...] They were
porches, entrances, They got about three, four feet down. That cold
alr don't come in. (RF91-5H:3-4)

Long ago, these wene wintering quarters for real cold weather.
They always had &atauag (door) on the bottom. They go down the
tugsuuyg, They never call them porches. They alled it tugsuug. [
Nowadays they call porches ganiftat. [...| (EF91-5Bi6)

They're really warm. They were comparing [them] to these [log
cabins] and my mom used to always say “Try to look so nice on the
outside and we're freezing inside our house”. (laughter) Becuse
when they lived in nunataq (sod) houses they were warm, really
warm. [...] In summer time they’re really cool. Like they’d open one
pan of it, the front part of it, so the air flows through, and of eourse
there's no sun going in there and it's all insulated, So it's always nice
and cool. [..] She puts mosquita screens on our windows and our
door, and on the badk, and wind flows through and it's always nice
and cool. (1191-25B:13)

|...| When there is wood anyway and when there is no wood
hardly any wood, they, you if you go to Nunpaluk, you're going to
see some places where they put sod. Maybe about that big and that
high. High up like and they put the roof, |...) they were really wind
proof and the heat can't go In when it gets warm. (JA91-14A:10)

My grandfather Qalialuk had a nappagta in Anderson River.
Stand up logs and covened with moss. You know cut up blocks, on
top each other. Real warm in winter, summer it's real cool. |...] (PRO1-
7A:10)

They had houses mostly made of moss. You never saw wood
outside, you could only see wood from the inside. All outside of it
was made of moss. I never knew how many familtes had houses
there. Only Thomas Umaug had a real house. But when these
schooners went down, some stayed in boats and set up tents on the
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hnd. |.,.] All year-rourrd [ouses) far thest peogie who stayed them In
thedr lhouses, [In the summes) they we nice and cool. .) They nover
changed [them! sins they made them. Only they robuil the cetling
when it started dripplng. When they put ruoss on i, i leoks Uke it's
growing the same as the land there. ..} The only tme I sée them was
In simmer whwen my dad bring us down. (KH90-1B:4-5)

Rermalre: of & 26d howvae aceupiad in tho 19208 31 Munaluk. Yukon soast, July 1991, (I5DP)
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Sod howunes, espadally in the Madienzie Delta
region, hava been assumed to be “winter houses”
(eg: Ammold 1988, Amald end Hart 1991, Morrison
1988). Informadon presentad here, that they could
aba be occupied i sumener, forces 3 recensideratian
of seasonal settloment patterns i this region of the
western Arctic {Nagy 1991}, Ardvaeclogists have been
rather crivical of dve summertims use of such houses
prebably bocuse wehen they excavate thom, thay find a
rather muddy and sinking rmatrix (ag; Merrison
[990a), However, mich wis not the case when theee
houses warn occupied and maintained, Another
argumen s that the entrance wnel would be quita
muddy to go through during summertmea. But such
antrances might not have been used during summer-
time. For mample, sod houses with both summer and
wintar entrances have boon recorded in Alasla (Lim
[990:23). The tnuviatuit who lved In sod houses wold us
that during the wartiar months they used doors made
of bear ddn.

Ancther example of how these statemnents may
affect archasologleal Mvverpretarions is Blustratad by
MeGhee's (1976) srguments rogording the village of
Kistigaryuit. Up to a thousand poopls are thought to
hava gatherad at Kittigaryuit to hunt beluga whales, an
activity dhat took placo at the ond of July or in August.
McGhee (1976) has argued that during the summer
months, sod houses were abandoned in favour of
tents. Interviews with Inuvialuiz elders indicate that,
while tents were used for brge summor gathorings af
people, sod hovses wers still continuously oceupled.
Peaple lved year-round at Kittigaryuit but & was only
during the summer thelr number intreased beause of
the whala hunt. Furthermora, as Charlle Gruban
(CGII+12A:6) mentioned, after hunting whales mast
people "would go badk to thelr home" to fish during
the winser. They would only coma back to Kittigaryuit
for major wineer (estivities. This suggosts that the tents
ware pesupied mainly by visitors during tre sumimen,
Finally, Emila Petltat, a cathalie priost wha visked the
“Tchiglt" of the Andarson River v 1865, noted that in
the summer vlllhges where beluga whales were hunted,
people llved In houses made of woed untll Octobor
{Peticot |87 6:00),
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Willow huts

Huts made of a willow frama and covered with
skins or moss were also used. Called qaluurvik In
Sightun and qalugvik tn Uummarmiutun, these were
easily transported, non-permanent structures. Martha
Harry's mother told here how they ware built:

Ishmael Alunik remembers using such a structure
near the Babbage River, in northern Yukon:

Emmanuel Felix describes when the qoluurvik were
used and how they were buik:

Dora Malegana remembers using gafuqvk around
Qaifiiuqvik (Clarence Lagoon) and describes the kind of
covers that were put on the frame:

When my mom tells me stories she says long ago they used to
go up just dog-pack. And when they find long willows, they would
gather them together and tle them and make a round frame hut-llke,
covered with moss. They called them galuguvik They say there is no
mosquitoes inside the moss house. It must be dark, you know? There
is no little light even I guess. They say they make a place like that to
sleep. just put long willows and put them together and put moss on
them. They say they are not bothered by mosquitoes inside. (MH91-
16B-2)

Used to be a Willow Creek above Niaqulik. Some place around
there, When people usad 1o go and set snares for ptanmigan. But
there 1s nothing [now). I don't think they never had big camps. They
just used some kind of willow houses. [...] Qaluguik! Yes! That kind,
yes. You bend willow like that and tle the top and you just put sod
on Ut. I's made out of moss from the ground, green moss. {...| That's
the one that we tried one time. Me and Sam Arey we were up dose
to Babbage River, right on the Babbage, litte bit. And we had one
made out of willows and they put fvrug (moss) about that thick right
around it. Really warm in there. So we put some kind of sand [..] and
we heated rocks. Really make them really hot because it's cold at
night, So It keep it warm all night. (1A91-14A:19)

Long ago, they carried the frames all the time. When they were
camping they just set up the frames. [...] They used them In summer.
My uncle Norman Saputaittuq used galuunidk even in Imaryuit
(Husky/Eskimo Lakes), he just covered it with tent or tarp in spring-
time. (EF91-5B:4)

(...] Qaburervik, they used them when they're moving around in
summertime and late winter. Like springtime they used galuurvik
when they can't use the nappagta (sod houses), |...] They used them
quite a bit when It's not so cold. (EF91-5B:5)

Qur galugquik was a blg one where me and my mother would
work on sedls and prepare meat for us. [...] We used to make dry
meat In it. [...] We had tents like that all the dme. You don't even
need a shelter, even when there is big wind, With caribou skins, or
even old cloth, whatever you could put. With carlbou skins, we
made them get yotten and when they had thin fur, we used them for
covers. They put bear skin over it too. When I got older, 1 didn't like
to have cover with bear skin any more. I always used mostly old
cloth in summertime, when it got warm outside, with blankeis too.,
(DB91-21B:6-7)
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light here we always used canvas tenes, bat up there In 1he
spring, where we spant spring, up in Uwoss kikes, we used [L.] howe
round sfchadigit, we called them, round teat. ...} frebaligit 1s a rouncd
shaped tent, eised with Jeng willows Bec wogther, I's neal round,
und the tup used to be made out of cadbaou hides, moned, salved dey
carbou hides with the fur off, you know, and soft and sewed 1o-
gether. Sewved so fne that aven min water don’l ge irough them
because [t's treated with sorno oll. |..) For thar kird of tarp, for home
used tarp, the ofl was beor olf, becuse beir oll don't ger i mnckd
smelt as G other Knd of ofl, ke seal, (LL91-254:8)

{..] The anly reason my mom used to call it #chalipit, T guess s
brecauss of the hidel..) because you see deba means *horme-mada
aep”, And then, If we did usc tho same thing here in our senmer
amp, we'd used our canvas and that’s when she used 1o call it
gabiaquih 1] maybe becwase of the type of braces. [...) Maybe that's
why she eallacl it when we wens ot this spot, gafivqik and becuse
ount of respect for my Dod, becavse of his dinlecr, (1191-254:9)
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Lily Lipscornbe chrified that when the willow
frame was used inkind and coveraed with caribou skin,
her mather alled it ichokgit. However, when used
alang the conet and covered with carvas, hor mother
would cll it qalugrik. One should note that her mother
was originatly from the Kuvik araa in Alacka and thac
bath terms are used t2 deseribo simikar structures (see
Corbin 1974:142).
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Food Preparation and Storage

Drying Meat and Storing Food

Food preparation was discussed primarily by the
women we interviewed Drying meat and food storaga
in il containars were activities ensuring food supplies
for the cold winter months. Sarah Meyook recounts
which meat was dried and how the food was stored
when she stayed with her grand-parents at Shingle
Point tn the late 1920s and early 1930s:

Martha Harry also gives details on tha different
containers that were used to store food and reports
on how women processed the whales:

After whaling at Niaqunnan (West Whitefish Station) they moved
down to Tapqaq (Shingle Point) for fishing. They would make big
teepee. [...] And when they made dry fish and when they got whale,
they dried and smoked the skin of whale. When making them they
used a big wood, a smooth one. They made whale skin dry and dry
meat and mulkuk, raw muktuk. (SM90-3B:4)

My grandparents used to live here {Tapqzaq) long ago. [...] When
there was caribou, we would make dry meat. We would put them
inside the teepee here at Tapgaq. In August when there was seal,
they would get some and they dry the meat too. They put {meat)
fibers into the seal blubber, store them and leave them Inside the
ieepee. Thesa were very good! They stored dry meat and dry fish in
wooden barrels. That was how my grandparents had their food. It
was very good! The wooden bamels are very good to glve a good
taste to the food.

With the whale stornach they made continers in which they put
whale oll and dry fish together. Then they would put them in a
wooden box 50 it didn’t break. That's how they used to live here at
Tapqaq. That is how my grandparents made [a] living. (SM90-19B:5)

Also with these ugpuk (bearded seals), we made dry meat out of
them, The ugyuk doesn't spoil right away when it's dry, just like a
whale dry meat. When a whale meat Is dry it doesn't spoll. Those are
good, they make good dry meat.

When they get seal for us, we worked with the sealskin. Cutting
it berween the skin and the fat and then we would turn it inside out
and then we dried the skin. That kind of container they call it
avateagouk We would fill it with food. That is what we stored our
food in. We would put all kinds of food in them, like dry meat, dry
fish and when you are hungry, it's there and It never leaks. That is
how we lived long ago.

Also from the whale's threat, they would put air in it and dry &t
to make a bag for whale meat cut in small pleces, the ones you
smoked, They put them in that bag or eéntainer that they make out
of whale's throat, Kalitasq is good food when you prepare it before
it gets too dry. Flrst you cut them and then put them in a continer
that they made. (SM91-19B:4)
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The only barrels are the wooden barrets. [...] They would only
use the intestine of a whale or dry seal skin for their container, for
the whale oil. That's how they stored the whale ofl, that's how I saw
them.[...) I saw them when they make thelr whale oil. [...|

Once they pull the whale up the women get to work with . All
of the whale, everything, even the back bone of the whale they hang
up. Some they used for dog food, even the head. They skin and they
cook some of the head. I guess only the inside of the whale they
would throw away. The ones the dogs don't eat, that's all they leave.
Further down they put them and when north wind blows, when they
think it wouldn't go near them, they put lots of wood with them and
bum them. The intestine of a whale. They don't throw them in the
water, they bum them. (MH91-16A:9)

Kuchigchiag means when it drips, you rendering it and it drips.
And what my mom used to do, she used 10 skin, if that's the kind of
bear oil she wants, like there'’s different kinds of bear here. If it's one
of those big brown bears, It's when they usually kuchigchiag
(render) the fat. Like when they skin it, the brown bear, they skin it
right along the meat, between the meat and the fat. She'll make a
stage like this, facing this way. She'll de each of the legs and the head
and everything. Then she'll make a fire long ways from it, 50 that the
fire heats that oll. And then she’ll have a wough. And the trough will
be made out of a bear hide jtself, dried, and it be sinking so that It
catches the oil when it drip. (LL91-25A:13)
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Oil from sea mamnmals was not the only type used
by the Inuvialuit. Ol was also rendered from bears for
consumption and, as we have seen, to waterproof tent
covers made of skin. It was also boliled with leaves and
applied on dog faces to protect them from masquitoes
(see LL91-26A:8). Lily Lipscombe realls how her
mother rendered oll from grizzly bears:
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Wesman burchuring befugs whales in tha laa 19102 or 19202

Stopes and lee Houses

Remains of old stages can stll bo seen along the
Yukon coastand at Sheep Creak. Stagas were bullcto
protect foud agalnst anlimals such as dogs, wolvorings
and bears, Sarsh Mayook reports here how stages
were bulbc

Lily Lipscombe recalls how her father placud the
differene typas of dry meat of the ages when they
lved at Arvakvik (Rohnd Bay):

-

ab
- .ll i

gy e

(S0P, Martha Harry Cal)

They hadl made n woodlen stage with trees. They made it high,
They always made stage Ike that and they cut tin cang In half and
nail them on to he legs so when ey (dogs or beas) tied (e dimb
tn it they wouldn't reach it That was how my fatherin-law ninde o
stage with these old dime fuel olt cana. [...] And be pur them on the
tree 5o thay if a bear rics 1o cimb, he would shide down, With that
ldnd of stage our ford was never touched. But we've seen bear
tracks after, So, he (the bear) must hove tded 10 cimb up but he
couldnt because he'd slide down. (SM30-18:5)
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One (stage) was for dry fish and ene was for dry meat. And
undemeath there, there’ll be big tarp whezre he kept the real real dry
meat, And up on top there is where he kept the not so dried meat,
but still just to leave it there to dry it by itself. (1191-24B:2)

‘This was the ice house here. My Dad used to put 12to 15
caribou In there for winter. And in this part undemeath, there's a
sectlon chiseled out for fish, so the rooms of the fish and the casibou
don't mix. He used to put lots of fish in there: [...] Mostly whitefish
and herring. |...] Arctic char were kept down at the point there,
because the transportation to bring them up here was too long of a
thing land] because by the time we get them up here they'll be all
soft, So we put them away right away, down at the ice house. There
used to be a ioe house over thers, on this side. (L191-24A:2)

While all this Is happening, we got a lot of half dried, or I guess,
you'd call It "aged meat” today. Like he’ll hang the hind quarers and
everything, and bring them and put them into that ice house on one
side. And then he’ll clean the area where the old fish were, {...] What
wasg left of the old fish would be used for the dogs. And if there's
anything that would be left If the dogs don't eat it, they'll take it 10
that little island, so that the seagulls and that would prey on it. 8o it's
not wasted. Nothing was never ever wasted,

And then, when there's too much of that, what he'll do is, he'll
take It ejther to that little point over thera, or to that point way down
here. [...] And so that's where he'll dig a pit, over thers, And he'll put
all this in the pit. And then he'll put wood first, and then he'll put the
mess over it, then he'll finally put a, what you call it, gravel over it,
jast so that it's accessible in wintertime: to open. Enough so that an
animals can smell it. He used that for badt, for animals. [...] (1191-
244:2-3)

They were really strict and very respectful 1o each other o use
words the way they word thing, the way they de things, the way
they prepare life, things in general, as to which culture is whe's, you
know. Like when we live here, a lot of the food is prepared her, is
prepared according to the way my Dad would like it, because it's
along the coast. Like the way she prepares fish up In the spring camp
is not the way she prepares it here, it's different, The way she cuts it
and the angle of the cut and everything, It's different, it's
Nunatagmiut cut. Nunatagmiut means “inland people”. [...] That's
why I sy whenever my Dad was eating something made especialty
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The presence of permafrost along the Yukon
North Slope allowed the Inuvialut to bullt ice houses.
These structures were used as fridges to store meat
that could be consumed later during the winter
months. Lily Lipscombe instructs us on how her father
organired the meat in the ica house and on the fact
that nothing was wasted:

Preparation of food varied depending i one had
been brought up as a TaruimMmiut (people of the sea) or
as a Nunamiut (people of the land). Such a contrast s
reported by Lily Lipscombe who was raised by grand-
parents of those two different cuitural backgrounds.
Her grandmother was from the land and her grand-
father from the sea. The structural dichotomy between
the “pecple of the sea” and the “people of the land”
as discussed by Lily Lipscombe corresponds amazingly
well to early anthropological views on the issue (e.g,
Spencer 1959). She discusses some of those cultural
differences, many of which were related to food:
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Food Tabao .
Tha only Inuvialuk to mention the subject of food

taboos before puberty was Lily Lipscombe. However,
since wa did not ask questions on food taboos, other
Inuvialuit may well have additional information on the
subject. One has also to keep in mind that although
born in the late 19405, Lily Lipscombe was ralsed along
tha Yukon North Slope by her very traditional grand-
parents. She explains some of the food taboos:

for him, he'd ask me “Will you eat with me?", when he knows my
Mom Is not gonna eat with him, because she thinks it's gross. And
when my Dad thinks i's gross and my Mom's eating, my Mom
always said “Will you eat with me?”, you know. (L191-258:10)

There was really differences. [...] Like just the way they prepare
things was different. The way she cuts, for instance we have two
types of ehar here, but one char my Dad don't like and iy Mom
likes it because it comes from 4 lake. [...) And that igalukpik (arctic
char) Is a char that Is a real delicacy to the Qikiqtagrukmjut, I mean
the Tarturmiut. [...] And my Mom would hang it and prepare it a
centain way or cook it a certain way, And igaluagpak (and locked
char) Is caught only in the springtime and my Dad would never eat
that. It's too plnk like, it's too colored and he don't like it. He'd eat it
for my mom [but] fried it like she would never eat it.(1191-25B:11-12)

..} This Is mainly for younger people, As you get older you
overcome those. You're old encugh, I suppose, to deal with the
powers if they were to come out, the spiritual powers, that they
believed in. Like untl I was ten years old, I was not atlowed to have
here, well we lived over on the other side, I was not allowed to
michugaq (dip in oil). I was not to allowed to a use bear oll with seal
dry meat, you know. That just wasn't allowed, you know, things like
that, litde things. You had to be old enough.

Same way I was not allowed to [eat] pans of the skin of awig
(walrus} along the neck especially, they called it gackigiag. They boil
that and it's really thick skin, where t's always wrinkly. They scrap
the hair of it and shine it on a hot fire and they boil that, And until
you've become of age or puberty years I suppose, you're not allowed
to eat that If you're a girl. [...] There was resirictions for boys, but I
really don't know what there were. |...]

The beliefs from the coast didn't come from my Mom, they come
from my Dad because he was from the coast. Polar bear, I wasn't
allowed to eat polar bear's feet until I was of age agaln. [...] Then |
was, because it's a real delicacy to eat polar bear's feet or bear's feet
[..). And I wasn't allowed to eat [...} polar bear's kidneys. I wasn't
allowed to eat that and the flank along the back, along the back
here, that part there. And that’s all.

[..] There's lots of pans of seals that I couldn’t eat. It was really
stupid because I just loved it. Jaughter) In fact, if 1 got canght
sneaking, Lll really get stmpped, you know. [..] A lot of the Inside of
seals weren't allowed for a young lady to eat, That's a really hard one
to explain because, you know how flippers they got so many jolnts
and that. Like my Mom would say, “You can't eat this part, but you
could eat that part, and you can't eat that part, but you could eat this
pant”. And I ean't, even me now, T'ru really ashamed to say this, but I
can't, [ wouldn't even figure out which part I ate and which part I
couldn't, today if I had to teach a young lady, (LL91-25A:14-15)
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Long ago while there was no lighter or matches my grandmother
always told us about it. She said they just went some yards from
Qikigtagruk (Herschel Island) to find something to make fire. They
would also gather those little cottons that grow there [...). They kept
them and use them to make fire with when they found some flint
there, When they wanted to make flre, these would bum easily. They
would strike the flints and the sparks would make fire. That's how
they made fire before the matches came. |...] Even in the ocean down
there you could find them. And you pile up those white wood and
just do this and It bums. They pick lots of those my grandparents. [...)
1 guess they would keep them away. Before the whalers came.

They would cook and roast outside. There was no pois long ago.

[...| They would roast, that's the only way they eat cooked meals,
They would cook everything outside, even the carlbou heads. Long
ago, my grandparents were used to eat that way in the summertime
even when there were pots to cook with. They never used them,
they would cook outside all the Ume, just roasting food. Then that's
how they ate. It really tastes good to eat when the caribou heads are
roasted. They cocked them with the fur on and when the skin or fur
is cracking you put it away from the fire. It's very good and it wstes

very good and juicy. JT90-16B:4)
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Making Fire and Roasting Food

Jean Tardiff was told by her grandmother how
people used to make fire before they had access to
matches She refates this story and adds information on
how her grandparents roasted parts of caribou during
summer months;
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Getting Water

Archaeologists working in the Arctic often attempt
to determine at which season a site was occupled by
examlning its proximity to fresh water. The underlined
logic is that ff a site is not located near a ke or small
creel, then it had to be accupled durlng wintertime
when people can drink melted snow or ice. In a recent
article on a prehistoric Ihuvialuit site kocated near the
mouth of the Horton River (N.W.T.), Morrison
{1990b:53) argued that the site was occupled during
winter because the sod houses "would have been
unbearably dose and wet during the summer”, and that
"even more compeliing is the total absence of drinking
water within a one-hour walk of the site”.

Regarding Morrison's argument, we talked with
Bessle Wolki, who along with her husband and family,
had tived at the sité In question. We asked her where
they got their water during the summer. The answer
was quick and her face looked rather surprised by such
a question: We dig a welll” In fact, the more Interviews
we did, tha more wae realized that wells were also
commanly bullt along the Yukon coast. It is quite
possible that such structures have not been identified
by archaeologists or that they have been confused with
the remains of ice housas or even those of storage pits,
Lily Lipscombe describas how her father would build a
welk:

(A welll is dug deep down. You dig it deep down, you haul big
rocks from down there. And then in springtime, we'll have fresh
water there. It used to be really big. But we used to have edges on It
with sticks. Edges on so that it be no debris flying into it. [..] You dig
it down to the permafrost. Every year my Dad would take a chisel in
the springtime, he'll get some Ice and put some lee In it. Rain water
and permafrast would melt and then we'll have fresh water. But we
had this around it so that no dogs ¢an go in there,

|...] When he first makes it, he puts rocks on It because as it
melis, the rocks are really heavy, they gnk faster. But what he does
is, he'l get rocks from down there (seashore), but he'll wash the
rocks with fresh water. So that it wouldn't be salty taste in there. |...]
That is why in the springtime he always dug a new one, dug it over
again. Because in the fall, September, when it's blowing and winter-
time when you get snow blowing from the open crack, you know
it's always water here in the wintertime when it opens. And then, the
wind would blow, the salt, snow and that would get in that. (191-
25B:3-4) :



When we sewed for men, we always watched our halr. We tried
not to put halr on our sewing, When we put hair on our sewing the
person hunting might get cramps. They always tried to keep their halr
away from their sewing. Long ago, they always had long hair, They
told ug “Watch your hair when sewing because the hunters get
eramps when they have hair on thelr clothes .” Geel Those elders
knew a lot about livingl (SM90-3B:6)

My mom got caribou skins ready in the spring for the covers for
our tents. [...] In the spring the carlbou Rir gets thin you know. [..)
She would make them for dog packs too. She always got ready like
that with the dog packs. Also with sealskin. That is how we lived
long ago.

In the spring, when we finished getting enough carlbou we
would go again hunting with dog packs, this time for our clothes.
That Is how it was done, When caribou skins were nice and thin they
made good fur parka and fur for top pants and also. for under our
bedding. (DM90-13B:4)

We never used rubber boots. [...] Also we had seal skin shoes
when we were cut of town. We never tried to buy shoes like now.
We zlways made thern ourselves, We used ygytek (bearded seal) skin
or if none, we used whale skin. We would make soles out of
gilalugaq (beluga whale) skin when we made kammig (boots).
Whale skin Is very thin for soles but they blocked it with sticks on
the ground to dry it. (..}

They taupht us how to chew on the skin to make it soft. Like us,
we didn't know about white man way. First, we chewed the skin for
sole and then we soaked it in water. When it was well soaked, we
stretched It out and cut it out, When we finished cutting it out, we
would make pleats on heels and toes. We would chew pleats maybe
for 15 minutes, I guess. When you use your own teeth it doesn’t take
long. They are not like these pliers we use now. With teeth, when
you chewed pleats, you did them rght away and with a scrubber you
shape it to your size. That's how we had shoes, (SM90-38:5-6)
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Working on Skins

Traditional women's work among the Inuit is
associated with making clothes and other skin items
such as tent covers and dog packs. The skin of bearded
seals were used to make ropes while caribou sinew
wras used in the manufacture of snowshoes (see SM90-
3R:6). Women had o follow certain taboos on how to
sew properly so that the hunter wearing the clothes
would have good look while hunting, Sarah Meyook
exphins:

Dora Malegana remembers her mother working
on caribou skins that were obtained in the spring to
make tent covers, dog padks and clothes:

Womnen would use their teeth to soften the skin
especially when making boots, as Sarah Mayook did
herzelf:

Sarah Meyook also remembers that her grand-
father had a raincoat made of bearded seal intestines:
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Lizths [nformation about original fashions wom by
bwvialuic womven befora they adopoad the style of
dothir uted in Akcdm b known, Drawings (soe Potitst
1B87: 247) dane In the |840s and plcrures (Figurs 6.4)
takon during the 18905 and early 1900z show the
indigenous populations had thelr own style of dothing
and hairdo. Emrrartuel Feltx heard from his father that
tuvialult women used to wear hoods that were
urattached to thelr parka.

This descripeion is reminiscent of the "hoodless"
parka of the Dorser people (3ee comments by Hickey
1986:94), supposed 1 have beon the first Inuit to
popuhte the Arctic and whose artifaces ara found
messtly in Central and Eastern Arctic,

Inuvdaluie In eaditomal elozhing 3t Herehel Wland, [B901, (AT, Swinpar Col. PTS17-175)

1 knew what kind of mincoat my grindsd hixl, It was not white
pran mzdde, You know that part of the ugwdk (bearded seal) intes-
tnes, when you wke the top of the rgyrkand thero is ofl? $o you
cut It in small pleces and put it in a plate of oll, When i smells v
can €t ¢, And then the iniesine yeat Llow it into a balloon. Tts kind
of long, tat's the kind of min cear my grandad had. It was myade ine
a parka cover, Never got valer lnside becauss by were narrow
sripa that you sewed 1ogether., | It was nlee 1o see, it was not fthe o
imodern] roincoar, {SM0-38:5)

“Their parkat long time ago was highup on the gdes. The haod
was separated from the bady, only for women. (.| My dad always
takd me the slory. Around the faco It got no fur just way back om
the face, differemdt hood, 1.1 They probiably made hoeds 1o be fxed
by thenwselves. [.J Aranned here they don't have packing hoods. They
de bt the hood covers it Hood way down here. That's the wiry my
dad iells ine about them|._.} Hoods are shoulder lenpth, (EFY-5B6-7)
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7. Social Life

When I first remember, I used to have a doll, I guess my mother
would make it out of cloth and stuff it with something. That is how I
guess she let me have 2 doll. I really liked #. [...] Then when we
reached Tapqaq (Shingle Point), us little girls, we always stant looking
for those rocks for our dolls, you know the heavy ones that you
could pack with a belt on? When we put our hextds down, they
would bang our heads with them. (faughter) That is how it was when
we were children. Well we didn’t have anything for toys, Only
ourselves, with litde logs we made our litde log houses and with
rocks we find for our dishes. (MHY1-16B:1)

When all the work was done with the fish and other work, or
when the waves were too big, we all played “catching ball". We had
so much fun that way! The young boys and girls would play. Us,
who were small children, we just watched. (SM90-198:4-5)

When we were young children, we played arcund here with the
girls and boys. They would always be playing with a ball and with
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Besides the major settlement at Herschel Istand
which had about 100 local residents in the mid-1910s
(Ingram and Dobrowolsky [989:80), small
agglomerations of three to six Inuvialuit families could
be found along the Yuken coast at Aqpayuatchlag
(Running River), Tapqaq {Shingle Point), Kiiifieg (King
Point), Niaqulik, [kpikyuk (Stokes Foint), legitiqpik
(Whale Bay), Qafgialuk (Ptarmigan Bay), Nunaluk,
Qamagaaq, Yuuqyaaq and Qalfifugqvik {Clarence
Lagoon). According to Inuvialuit oral history, Tikrag
{Kay Point) had been a major settlement befora the
arrival of the whalers in the 890s (see LL%1-25A:3).
Sochal life was thus lmited to one's neighbours among
which were often relatives. However, in summertime
people would gather to fish and hunt beluga whales at
Niaqunan (Vest Vyhitefish Station) and at Shingie
Point. From the early 19005 to the mid<1930s, many
Inuytalule would also go 1o Herschel Istand to trade
thelr furs. Major social events such as square dances
and churdh services would take place on the istand at
that time. [n this chapter, we present some aspects of
the social life along the Yukon North Slopa as remerm-
bered hy Inuvialuit alders.

Toys and Games

The Inuvialuit we interviawed had very fond
memorles of games they played during their childhood.
As Martha Harry recalls;

Sarah Meyook tells the kind of games children and
adults pfayed at Shingle Polnt when she was a dhild
there In the 1920s:
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Sarah Meyook, Kathieen Hansen and Dora
Malagama recall playlng with 2 ball rrade of seal or
carfbau skin, or even of while cutllage:

Gama with sticks wara also played, as Kathlean
Hansen remambars ;

ring games, After they finished thelr work, they would put a stick up
and play ring games. There was four persrons In a gane, two se1s of
partnecs and they had so much funt (SM90-198:5)

Long ago we made ball with seal skin. We sewel the seal skin
Orar. This was how we made ball. We piched the black and white
pleces, s would sxy that s For our ball and wo fliled them with
spomething. Then wa played bail around bere We didnt buy balls in
those days. My grndmothor showed me how to make ball. (SM90-
20/A:3)

Alse with whales, The tap of whales is just like nabber, 3 hapd
one, They dried it and made ball from it I fits just on your hand. In
those days, the men were atways panners and the women swould be
together. Thoy would try to grab the ball from exch other, (FHH-
20A4)

* Avriiaer they'd say. They say diat when ieasing und If you
had the ball you throw it up and sy * Auflaay They would wty to
puit oll on the top of their heads, They were alovays wresling a lot
when they played, just Hke Aghting. (SMS0-20A:4)

Even with cardbou skin they would play ancl say * Auffiu. We
wre ilwatys playing ball over that saft moss on the hill. You cn run
fast on that, Semedmes it was on the ice. Long ago that wiy the only
gnme we had ta play our. (DMO0-X14:4)

And gaataagat Call fll™). 1..J You make sldnny sticks and you
put them an one palm of your hand and throw [t up and try 10 carch
many as you can. Somedimes you catch lols and winl You counted
thoan every tme you hael your tem, When b wag sine scone, bodly
lastl...] They kepe rying 1o the lust one unul one person had all the
aticks. And il Yooy hid one more stick 1o go, they would try 10 catch
it with their baby finger. Sometimes you were Jucky to catcl i,
(KH20-20A:5)

Qragina handiefmyg'e mrved as 3 sa1l head with Inkid epes. [Yukan Goverrnmen)
bty exrving of walrus head (ona tush brodien off),
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On Sundays almost everyone was there. There was lots of boats
In these days. They would all go into the cove of Tapquq (Shingle
Polnt) for church service. Almost everyone would go. Mr. Shepherd
and Thomas Umauq were the ministers there, Afier the service was
over, they would go to Umaug's house to eat. Afler eating and
everything Is done they would all go home this way.

On Sundays they never did anything or worked, the people long
ago. There was no needle that day; that's the way the people were
long ago. They told us we could work after Sunday. That is why
sometimes I wish to do something but I just listen. (SM90-19B:6)

(My husband) found me when we used to go for Christmas
somewhere. He was from Alaska. He was a reindeer herder, [...] We
used to go to Alaska for Christmas, that's when we meet and got
mamied. They all wanted me to do so! In them days, it was not your
cholce to marry who you wanted. So, I just had to marry anyone,
even If I didn't want him, I had to masry him. [...] (DM90-13B:10)

My father] married my mom when she was 12 years old. Even
not too long ago, after I came back from school [...] they were still
pgetting married at 12 years old. Fourteen years old, that was old if
you're marrying a 14 years old! Now, there, they go to court when a
woman is 17 or 16 [because] it's too young. Those days, they're all
getting married at 12 years old. ([J90-32B-3)
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Church Services

By the kate 1910s, most Inuvialuit hkad been
converted to Christiznity and church services were an
important event where people would pray, sing and
mesat sach other. As noted in chapter 4, the sabbath
was particularly respected. Sarah Meyook remembers
people going to Shingle Point in the fate 19205 and
early 1930s for the church services;

Marriages were performed at Herschel |sland
when a minlster was In residence or when ministers
visited the Iskand. Traditionally, marriages were ar-
ranged by the parents, Dora Malegana explalns that
this was stlll the case in the [920s when she got
married:

Typically, the women married quite young,
probably after puberty. Jimmy Jacobson makes the
following comments on the age of the bride:
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Giving Birth

During our Interviews with Inuvialuit elders, we
noticed that women remembered very well when and
vihere thelr children wera born. Furthermore, they
Integrated stories of giving birth with specific places we
visited. It saems that women kept a better track of
time because they could refate specific avents to when
thelr children were of a given age. A place was remem-
bered because of the child who was born there, For
example, Dorz Malegana referred to Qafgialuk (Ptar-
migan Bay) as the place where one of her daughters
was born:

Taboos were assoclated with giving birth in the
period before convarsion to Christianity, Stefansson
{1919:133) noted that women at time of childbirth
drank only snow water. He also described the
Nuratarmiut tradition of confining the women to a
tent after giving birth (also discussed in Anderson etal.
1977, and Kisautaq 1981) but nsisted that it was not
the case for the indigenous Inuvialuit. Hope Gordon,
whose father came from Point Hope (Alacka), tells a

simifar story about women's seclusion after giving birth:

Infanticide sometimes happened [n traditlonal inuit
culture. Hopa Gordon comments on the issua:

Women were helped during the delivery by
refatives or by women who had become particularly
knowledgeable on the matter, Jean Tardiff recalls the
first ime she had a baby:

My parents had a two units house with Suluk and his family at
Qaiglaluk (Ptarmigan Bay). At that ime we were at Niaqulik. So I
came there to my mother when the time was near. My mom used to
deliver babies, My dad was away hunting. It was the first time my
husband was with me when [ had a baby. Other times he was away.
Now, when I had Lena, he was here. He couldn’t keep still so he
went out. After my baby was bom we retumed to Niaqulik. [..]

We heard about the name Qafgialuk when we came to Aklavik.
It didn't have any name in English then. They never call it “Ptarmi-
gan Bay”, not even then. T used to say that it was “the place where
Lena was bom". (DM90-24B:7-8)

Someone is in to have baby. They would leave you even in very
cold weather. |...] From long ago they are like that, even in a snow
il (house) they would leave you to have your baby alone. [...] That
was their way of life, from their old way of life that they had from
long ago. If someone had a baby, she’d be left alone for a week.
After she was ready to go home. Only the husband could visit her
just few Umes and waltched for her. Even if there was snow some-
where In the iglu and it was cold.

And some people too, they would throw the baby away and
some would keep them. [...] Or they would let them freeze. [...] They
had children oo often, not even a year in between for some of them.
So they didn't want to take the other baby away from feeding from
her or his mom, 5o they just threw the baby away. Well, long ago,
there was no white man things or anything,
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I...J my baby had a blg stemach, and she cried a lot, Ugalisuk's
wile wag mry nurse that tme. When ahe came, she sald “Hang on to
the afterblrth, you let her get air into her stormach every dme she
crlexd.” So she pressed her stormach gendy unul muost of the air was
gone and then she cutt, It was Iralf moon at the time that Florence
was bom (1937). We never el ber copd dght away and this s why
shi liad 1 big stomach. [

1 was alone, [ was staying at my parent's house but they both
didn't know. And Ugalisuk’s wife really scolded them, “You should
have gone ta get e In the beglnning.* Ugalisuk’s famlly, the
Qunawrag and the Inglangasuk families were staying st Itgiligplk
(Whale Bay).

Ugalisuk's wife used to ba 5o poor, but she »asmt poar anymare
afier she cul the cord of my baby and the baby was fine. Alter that,
my husband got some white man grub, She just wanted flour, so we
gave then some augar oo and some oats. She was very thankful.
ro0-25A:3)

tnuvhitute Chidren, abeut 1930, (EDP. MH-23)

My real parents were Slmon Anaqtug aod Allce and my adoped
parents were Frank hqiatuk and Lena Ugllalq. Those wera my
adopted parenits. But Hmen and my adopeed father Frank were
brotiers, Ugililg and lgialule, my adopted parenis, naver had chil-
dren of their own, But Alice and Simen had chifdren, When [ was
b Siman sald “Let’s ghve her to nry brother so he could have a
Hitle daughter” he 1old his wife, So they gave me (o them then, o
Ugihlq and them.

Well, long ago they don’t wrile things down they hust say W each
cilier “you could have this" that's 21l they say, And when someone
dies with lots of children, their retitives would just take them, just
like that. That's how they are. Those were my parents and I was
adopted, | was bom from rmy mothier Alice and Simon. Then they
give me up (o these people, Thea kter on, samehiow 1 wenl back to
Simen and them, yes that's It (MH91-168:3)
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Adoption

Adoption was common among the Inuvialuit, as it
was (and still is) tha case with other lnuht groups,
particularly bacwoon relatives. The adopted dhildren
knew tho dentity of their matural parenits. in some
cases, the chikd would go back to hivher orighml family.
This happened to Martha Harry, and she tells here the
circumstances of hor adoption:
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Inuvialult and Indian Rehtions

The Inuvialuit who occupled the Yukon coast, and
particularly the Nunatarmiut who had migrated
through the Old Crow Fhts from Infand Alaska,
developed a friendship with the Gwich'in of Old Crow.
Dora Malegama relates the first ime she met Indians:

Dora Malegama remembers that her father was
able to speak in Loucheux (Gwich'in) and Fred
Inglangasuk tells that Peter Mases, a Gwich'in from Old
Crow, could spealc in Inuvialuktun:

First time [ saw Indians, it was really smelling smoke, really! You
know that was Caroline Moses and her grandad. She started talking
in Loucheux {(Gwich'in) to Annle Joe (Inglangasuk) and then she
started looking at Jean, When I looked at Annie, she was talking in
Loucheux really good like this.

These Indians made handbag with caribou legs, they looked so
nice, This guy started taking meat, caribou dry meat, even fish. We
stagted eating, it was really good. That's the way the Indians have
food, they make handbag out of caribou legs and they keep their
food in there. You know, they used to ¢zl this a bag where they
keep food. A food bag that they put around where they're tled, They
put moose hide under, really nice, smelling good, dry meat, dry fish,
fat moose. Thase dry meat were fat! Maybe they wene caribou. That
was 5o pood.

Me and my cousin Peter Joe, we went out and we started
walking home. We were both stnzll, me and Peter Joe, Not too big,
maybe six years old, seven years old. We said “Geel Really smelled
smoke those people. Geel It was so smoky, smelled like smoket*

My mom said “that's the way they live, that's way we're gonna
live too”, Yeah, our parents told us not to ulk like that, so we
stopped talking like that. We were: glad too that we ate. That was
also the first ime we heard about the way they hunt muskrats, You
know how they skin muskmits? They clean it so good, even the meat
part in the back is just clean. (DM90-14A:1)

My dad used to talk in Loucheux too. We stayed up there so
much that he leamed thelr language. I wonder why he never marnded
an Indian. He's a Kuvangmiut. [...] Old Hamy Iiukighuk, Anaqtuq and
my dad they're cousins. They came from long ways. (DM90-14A:4)

They say long ago Indians come from up that way, from Old
Crow. They came through there to go Qikigtagruk (Herschel Island)
for shopping. [...) Sometimes some of them came by Firh River. Some
of them, they came by the mountains. Pve seen them myself too.
Sometimes they go through by Niaqullk those Indians. But whem
they call it Rtqiliqlik, long hefore us, they go through by there. [...]
Since we've been there, they went through there few tmes, these
Indians. So that is why they called it Itqiliqpik (%gilig means “In-
dian"). (Fi91-23A:4)

At Itqiligpik (Whale Bay) that's whene we stayed. ‘That's where
the Indlan trall 15 to go to Herschel Istand all year round. [..) One
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Inuvishule drum deneo 1t Fore MePhiarsen, 189

In<ilan 1 know was Poter Moses. He speaks in Inwvialukwn, be
wlways tries 1o speak InuvEdukron, And he abso talked Inuvinlukiun
language to my grandparents ar Niagulik. When they (Indians) cume
down by Nlaqulik In the evening, they budll a fire ncross from there.
From Nanullk, my grandad ancd all my relatives cowld see them. They
g thedr dogs on hamess and brought back those Indisms, They
were Peter Moses and them My grandud ajways spoke to them in
nuvinlukmun kinguage. When they spoke Inuvialuktun language it
wis lots of fun,

[..] I guess frem lang ago they speak the linguags both
Inuvialult and Indfan, They would say “qaunna”. That's whit they
uged all tho dme. They would make sign 1a ench other (oo, 1 guess,
w0 undesstand.[...] That Incian Peter Moses coukd really falk like ouwr
own language. My grandad and him would tlk all the dme like that
ppd they would really lugh rometimes while talking. It was ao much
fun then. But me, [ never heard about them. 1 pever alked lijoe tar.
(FIS0-58:4)

16%
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(NAC. E Tagtor C7514)

Fred Inglangasuk exphins that his grandparents
fived In Old Crow and that his mother and aunes could
speak Gwidh'in very well He also mentkuna Sarah
Lonnis (the mother of Parsis Griben), 3 Gwichn who
married an Inuvialuk dnd wha could speale exceflent
| rrurvtaditbctun:
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Stories of Inuvialuit and Indian relations were not
always friendly ones. Inuvialuit oral tradition mentions
the stealing of womnen and battles between both
groups. Sarzh Meyook was told a story by her aunt
that exptained how peace was made along the Yukon
coast between the Eastern Arctic peaple and Indians, It
seems that the story is being told from a Nunatarmiut
perspective and that the Eastern Arctic people (or
Qangmalik) were In fact Inuvialult who occupied the
Yukon coast. The event happened probably at the end
of the last century when the Nunatarmiut had already
migrated to the area and trading goods could be
obtained at Herschel Istand:

[In Old Crow] my grandfather fish for a trader in the summertime
and make dry fish for him. I don't know how long we stayed up
there maybe year round. They stayed up there before my time.
guess my mother and her other sisters they were rised up in Old
Craw, They were kids when up there. My mother could talk in
Indian language just like Caroline Moses. It was just lke me and you
talking. Just the same, telling stories. [...] Like Lennie Inglangasuk’s
wife, she spoke better [Inuvialuktun)] than me and you. Her name
was Sarah. She spoke good and Laura Martin too. (FI90-GA:1)

They say long ago, some eastern Arctic people were living at
Agpayuadjlaq (Running River) at one time. They were together with
the Nunatarmiut and eastem people, This is a story my aunt Aggie
told about when she was still alive, QOver there, they had some
visitors from up the mountains. They came with womnen with them.
They were Indians. The eastemn Arctic people had visitors, both men
and wornen.

Then it happened that the eastern Arctic people stole two Indian
women while the men didn't know. Four men that did that. Then
they took the two (Indian) women far away somewhere. After that,
they had them as wives. Later the Indians looked for the women but
then never found them.

While there was a store at Qikiquagruk (Hesschel Island), the
Indians just stayed out and waited to go to the store. This is how it
was told to e by my aunt Aggie. Then they hid them (the women)
in frant of the Inuit boats. 5o without someone watching for them,
they all went to the store.

While this, the Indian followed behind the eastem people and
they found the women and took them back and left there. They just
tock the two women and went back. So the ones that stole the
women never found them, so they came back to Aqpayuadiiaq, They
saw them right there. Then both sides put out thejr spears, bows and
arrows and knives too! They were ready to fight. Because of the too
Indian women, they were all ready for war.

But the chief of the Indians must have been thinking then. He
said just to leave everything as it was, he sald “maybe the Indians
could marry the Inuit then”, And soon as the chief said that, the war
never started. Then, from there everything was settled. They went
back with the rest of the Indians. That Is the season they never had
wars and everyone is allowed to mamy with mixed races. They put
away all thelr war swiff right there! This was my aunt's story, (SM9C-
20B:0)
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Conclusion

This oral history project provided an opportunity for Inuvialuit who
had lived in along the Yukon North Slope and at Herschel Istand to tell
stories about their lives in these areas, This i not a unique event as
other bocks have been published dealing with life In the Mackenzie Delea
and the Yukon narth slope written by Inuvialuit authors (Nuligak 1975,
French 1976, 1991 and Thrasher 1976), or using Inuvialuit oral history
(see GNWT 1991). Tha narrativas presented in this report are only a
fraction of all the material that was collected but It is hoped that it
provides both Inuvialult and non-inuvialuit alike a chance w learn about
the traditional use of the Yukon North Skpe.

As we have seen, the original peopla who lived in the coastal area
were called Tuyurmiat by the Inuvialuit of the Tuktoyalauk Peninsula and
probably spoke a language very similar to Siglitun. One group of
Tuyurmiat lived on a permanent basis at Qlkiqragruk (Herschel Ishnd)
and wera referred to as the Qikigtaqrukmiut. The traditional Iife of the
Tuyurmiat changed rapidly following the arrival of white whalers who
wintered at Herschel Island from the early 1890s to the mid 1900s. The
wialers provided access to white man goods such as flour, tea and
tobacco to the Inuvialuit but also carried with them dangerous diseases
for which the local people had no Immunity. In a few years three major
epidemics tragically killed a major part of the Inuvialuit population. The
whalers were followed by traders who encouraged the Inuvialult to enter
the trapping economy.

Reports of the bad moral influence of the whalers on the Inuvialuit
incited Anglican minlsters to visit Herschel Island at the end of the
century. Converslons were at first minimal but by the end of the 1910s
most of the popilation was converted. A mission school was later
established at Shingle Point (Tapqaq) during the lata 19205, The church
services soon became important and widely attended social gatherings,
The traditional spiritual leaders, the shamans, were quickly replaced by
Anglican laymen.

The whalers who came at the end of st century, also brought with
them other groups of Inult from coastal and inland Alaska. The fatter
group was called Nunatarmiut and those people are the ancestors of the
Uummarmiut who now live in the Mackenzia Delta, Interviews with
Inuvialuit elders have ravealad that a group of Nunatarmiut started to
emigrate from Infand Alaska to the Old Crow Flats. This may have begun
as early as the. 1870s and was probably caused by a drastic decline of the
carfbou population. While living near Old Crow, these people developed
friendships with the local Gwich'in. Interactions between Inuit and Indian
families must have been more than sporadic since some people learned
each others language. To our knowledge, such a cohabitation has not
been praviously recorded and demands more work, specifically from the
Gwich'in's perspactive.

The information gathered during the interviews also puts in question
the allegation by Stefansson (1919) that the term Nunatarmiut was used
for any inland group. Since the Siglit use the word Nunamiut more asa
generic term to identify any inlend people, one may wonder why they are



Concluslon

still using the term Nunatarmiut to refer to the group of people who
emigrated from inland Alaska. |t seems that this name pertalns to the
Nuatar River, the original area of the Nunatarmiut. More linguistic work
with the Inuvkalult is required to confism this hypothesis.

It would be too simplistic to group all the Inuvialuit who lived in the
northern Yukon as ane homogenous culture. The cultural differences
between the pecple who exploited the eoast and those who lived mainly
intand have been supported by anthropologists (e.g., Spencer 195%) but
questioned by others (eg, Burch 1976), Interviews done with Lily
Lipscombe, who was raised by very traditional grandparents belonging to
each of the two groups, confirmn that such a cultural dichotomy was
indeed present. The cultural differences between her parents were not
only linguistic but also semantic and behavioral. For example, the wboo
regarding food consumption before puberty differed depending on
whether it was learned from her father or from har mother,

Although subsistence resources fluctuated over the years along the
Yukon North Slope, the people were able to occupy theareaon a
relatively permanent basis, with oecasional exeursions infand to hupt
aaribou and get fish. Contrary to the common Intérpratation of sod
heuses as winter dwellings, Inuvialuit elders reported that sod houses
waere often used year round along the Yukon coast and ar Herschel
Island. Furthermore, an accumutation of food surpluses stored in ice
houses during the summear months akso allowed for a permianent occupa-
tion of the coast, Other people, mosty intand dwellers from Alaska who
later migratad into the northern Yukon, preferred to spend most of
thelr tme Inland but would visit the coast durlng summer months. One
may wonder if before the migration of the Nunatarmiut, other Inuvialuit
groups also spent part of the year infand in the Old Crow Flats. Since wa
were not able to darify this issue through our nterviews with the
inuvialuit, archaeological Investigations In the northern Yukon might be
the only way to Identffy the presence of such groups.

The descriptions we gatherad regarding subsistence activitles served
to lllustrate the intimate lnowledge the Inuvialuit have of their environ-
ment, Taking advantage of muddy warer to hunt seal and digging wells to
access drinkable water along the coast are only two examples. Gender
roles, particularly in the case of Inuvialuit women, seem to have been
more flaxible than what Is usually portrayed among Inuit cuftures. Thus,
many women were accomplished trappers and caribou and seal hunting
was not the exclusive domain of the man.

Finally, the place rames that were collacted during the course of this
project should demonstrate that the landscape was named by the
Inuvialuit long before the arrival of non-Inuviakuit explorers, geclogists
and archaeologists. Although no Inuvialuit occupy the Yukon North
Slope on a permanent basis anymore, it was obvious from the comments
of the Inuvialuit who returned there with us, that they had a great sense
of attachment to this land and that they, as they told us, *were back to
their country”.

It is hoped that other Inuvialuit oral history projects will be com-
pleted in the near future. An emphasis on autobiographies of single
individuals in the format of those recently published amang the lfuplat
(®.g. Blackman 1989 and Bodfish 1991) is recommended, as they would
foster a better understanding of life histories rather than a brief over-
view of one's experiences. The work Is urgent, since in contrast to the
lendscape and the archaeclogical sites, [nuvialult elders’ testimony will
not be avaibble too much longer.
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ABSTRACTS

1989 mingaaniin 1993 mun aglaan Inuvialuit Social Development Program Katimayait Itdjusiit
uqausikkun. Herschel Istandlu Yukon North Slope Inuviatuit Oral History Project sivunirait savaangini
tapkuak makpiraamukfugit Inuvialuit nunangit ganuq atuqpagaanigta ilisimayaanginniglu Yukon
nunangita kanangnam tungaaniittuaq. Auyami 1990, 1991 milu apiqsuutigait Inuvialuit innaalungit
inuuniaqtuat Yukon nunanganni kanangnam tungaaniittuaq. Ak¥arvik, Inuuvik, Tuktuuyagtuug
Nunaptingni. Apigsuutlyait savaamikkun ukiumi gauyami luuniin, anguniagpangmatalu, igluliumiqtigun,
niuvirnigtigun tuniugqaiviktigunlo invusingatigun. Inuvialuit ukpiriaqtuatlu angaatdjuvinganik
Anglicankut. Una makpiraaq quliaqtuq inuusinganik Inuvialuit quliartualivamik una savaanun.

Tavrananin 1989-min 1993 munaglan inilgann ifuuniagusiannik igligiinnigat tapgua Ifiuvialuit Social
Development Program-gut. Tamna hivunigiplugu Qikiqtafquk tamanalu targiuq Ifuvialuit iniglaan
ifuuniagusianoik aglektukraupluting Ifiuvialuit nunamiknik huli ilihimakgamiknoik tamani targiomi.
Tavra 1990-mifu 1991 milu upinganani utuqqanaat quliagtuagutiviura tamani targiumi tavranilu
Aktaqvikmin, Huvikmin, huli Tuttufaqtumin tamani Northwest Territories-mi. Ilitchugipluting
tarnakgunina qanuhiguautinitnik niginnaknaigutinitniklu ganuglu huliugniuraqgumagata, ganuqlu
taughigniagviqqaqtilani huhumagatalu ifiuniagmata ahin huli Jiuvialuit ilaurgaqmata anayuliqinigmi
Anglican Mission-mi. Mana agiaknagat igligiuaq quiliaqtuagutiviuta Hiuvialuit huli ilaupluting
igligtiiomaoun.

From 1989 to 1993 an cral history project was undertaken by the Inuvialuit Social Development Program.
The main objective of the Herschel Island and Yukon North Slope Inuvialuit Oral History Praject was to
document Inuvialujt land use and knowledge of the Yukon north slope. During the suramers of 1950 and
1991, interviews were conducted with [nuvialuit elders along the Yukon north slope and in Aklavik,
Inuvik and Tuktoyakruk in the Northwest Temritories. Information collected included topics such as
seasons of occupation, means of subsistence, habitation structures, trading activities, social life and
Inuvialuit involvement with the Anglican mission. This publication presents the major themes that
emerged from interviews with the Inuvialuit involved in the project.

De 1989 & 1993 le Inuviatuit Social Development Program dirigea une étude sur la tradition orale des
Inuvialuit. Le principal objectif du Herschel Island and Yukon North Slope Inuvialuit Oral History
Project était de documenter l'utilisation et 1a connaissance du nord du Yukon par les Inuvialuit. Durant

- les étés 1990 et 1991, on interviewa des ainés Inuvialult lors de visites dans le nord du Yukon ainsi qu'a
Aklavik, Inuvik et Tuktoyaktuk dans les Territoires du Nord-Quest. L'information recueillie concerne
entre autres, les saisons d'occupation du territoire, les moyens de subsistance, les structures d'habitation,
les activités de la traite, la vie sociale et ]a participation des Inuvialuit & la mission anglicane. Cette
publication présente les thémes majeurs qui resortirent des interviews avec les Inuvialuit participant au
projet.
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